SCRUTINY : REGENERATION
AND PUBLIC PROTECTION
MEETING
2.30 pm TUESDAY, 17TH APRIL, 2018
COUNCIL CHAMBER

Please note that today’s meeting will be recorded.
This recording will not be broadcast on the Authority’s internet as it will only be used for
training purposes by the Democratic Services Department.
The Public Seating areas will be in view of the Camera and, by entering the Chamber and using
the Public Seating Area, Members of the Public are consenting to being filmed and to the
possible use of those images and sound recordings as outlined above.

This Agenda has been prepared by the Democratic Services Department. Any
member of the public requiring information should contact the department on (01685)
725284 or email democratic@merthyr.gov.uk.
Any reference documents referred to but not published as part of this agenda can be
found on the Council’s website or intranet under Background Papers.

AGENDA
1.

Apologies for Absence

2.

Declarations of Interest (including whipping
declarations)

Members are reminded of their personal
responsibility to declare any personal and
prejudicial interest in respect of matters contained
in this agenda in accordance with the provisions of
the Local Government and Finance Act 1992
relating to Council Tax, the Local Government Act
2000, the Council’s Constitution and the Members
Code of Conduct
Note:
(a) Members are reminded that they must
identify the item number and subject matter
that their interest relates to and signify the
nature of the personal interest and
(b) Where Members withdraw from a Meeting
as a consequence of the disclosure of a
prejudicial interest they must notify the
Chair when they leave
Crime and Disorder Committee
The Committee will sit as the Crime and Disorder Committee for the following
item only: “Cwm Taf Community Safety Needs Assessment (Draft)”
3.

Cwm Taf Community Safety Needs Assessment
(Draft)
To consider report of the Deputy Chief Executive

4.

5 - 114

Working Life 1 - Making Skills Work for Merthyr
Tydfil: Developing the Workforce of the Future
To consider report of the Chief Officer Community 115 - 122
Regeneration

5.

Working Life 2 - Developing the Environment and
Infrastructure for Business to Flourish
To consider report of the Chief Officer Community 123 - 128
Regeneration

6.

Environmental Wellbeing 2 - Communities protect,
develop and promote our heritage and cultural
assets
To consider report of the Chief Officer Community 129 - 136
Regeneration

7.

Homelessness in the County Borough
To consider report of the Deputy Chief Executive

8.

137 - 146

Economic Growth Strategy and Partnership
To consider report of the Chief Officer Community 147 - 156
Regeneration

9.

Developing a Work Programme for 2018/19
To consider the attached report

10.

Scrutiny Referrals, Feedback and Follow Up
Actions

11.

Reflection and Evaluation of Meeting

157 - 176

To receive an update from the Chair
12.

Any Other Business as deemed urgent by the
Chair

COMPOSITION:

Councillors: J Amos (Chair)
B Carter (Vice-Chair)
Councillors: C J Barry, S P Brown, M Colbran,
E Galsworthy and G Lewis
Co-optee(s): H Hopkins, H Jackson and M Ellis
together with appropriate officers

If you would prefer a copy of this agenda in another language please contact
democratic@merthyr.gov.uk or telephone 01685 725284

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 3
Civic Centre, Castle Street,
Merthyr Tydfil CF47 8AN
Main Tel: 01685 725000

www.merthyr.gov.uk

SCRUTINY COMMITTEE REPORT
Date Written
Report Author
Service Area
Committee Date

5th February 2018
Steve Peters
Community Safety
20th February 2018

To: Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen

Cwm Taf Community Safety Needs Assessment
(Draft)
1.0

SUMMARY OF THE REPORT

1.1

To update the Crime and Disorder committee about the findings of the Draft Cwm
Taf Community Safety Needs Assessment undertaken at the end of 2017 by the
Community Safety Board on behalf of the Public Services Board, and provide an
opportunity for review and scrutiny of the Assessment and the Strategic Priorities
identified.

2.0

RECOMMENDATION(S)

2.1

The Crime and Disorder committee note the content of the report and the findings of
the Draft Cwm Taf Community Safety Needs Assessment 2017.

2.2

The Crime and Disorder- committee discusses and comments on the issues set out
in the report.

3.0

INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND

3.1

The Cwm Taf Community Safety Strategic Assessment has been undertaken to
review existing service provision and delivery within Cwm Taf, determine objectives
following analysis of current issues, trends, impacts on our communities and key
strategic influences including the advent of the Public Service Boards, Police and
Crime Reduction Plan and broad community engagement programmes.

Page 5

3.2

The Crime and Disorder Act 1998 (as amended) requires responsible authorities for
a local authority area to develop a strategy for the reduction of crime and disorder in
an area, including anti-social behaviour and other behaviour adversely affecting the
local environment. The responsible authorities are the local authority, the Police, Fire
and Rescue Service, Probation and Local Health Board. In Cwm Taf, these
authorities work together as part of the Cwm Taf Community Safety Board which
reports to the Public Services Board. The Community Safety Needs Assessment
2017 has been undertaken in partnership in order to inform the development of that
Strategy.

4.0

WHERE WE WERE

4.1

The Assessment reviewed trends in recorded crime data for the region across all
types of crime and looked at performance in relation to detection of crime and the
experience of victims and witnesses in the Criminal Justice System. It also looked at
the characteristics of the population and communities of Cwm Taf, such as
deprivation levels, ethnicity, age and other demographics to identify vulnerable
groups and areas where particular interventions may be required into the future

4.2

The opinion of residents was also collated from the main South Wales Police Survey
undertaken in 2017 (COMPASS Survey), National Survey Data, local Town Centre
Surveys and victim feedback. This enabled the Assessment to take account of the
perception of crime by our residents, what they think of the services provided by the
Police, Council and other agencies in relation to tackling crime and disorder and the
matters that are most important to them

4.3

Due regard was given to the data collected in the last year as part of the Well Being
Assessment and the Population Needs Assessment conducted to inform the Social
Service and Well Being plans going forward. In addition, detailed information from
specific reviews undertaken of Substance Misuse (by the Area Planning Board) have
informed this Assessment. The information relating to those Assessments and
referred to in this report is available at www.ourcwmtaf.wales.

4.4

In addition, the Police Reform and Social Responsibility Act 2011 established Police
and Crime Commissioners (PCC) who have a reciprocal duty to co-operate with
community safety partnerships and powers to directly commission work on
addressing community safety. The assessment has therefore also had due regard to
the South Wales Police and Crime Reduction Plan 2017-21 Priorities.

5.0

WHERE WE ARE NOW

5.1

A full copy of the Draft Cwm Taf Community Safety Needs Assessment 2017
(Version 10.1) is in Appendix 1 to this report.

5.2

The headline findings of the Assessment show:
1)

Rhondda Cynon Taf and Merthyr Tydfil have high concentrations of
deprived areas. Evidence shows that deprived areas are most likely to
report low levels of community safety.

2)

Overall levels of recorded crime in Cwm Taf have shown an increase
every year since 2012-13. Merthyr Tydfil had a 24% increase to

Page 6

2016/17. The Rhondda and Taf Sector areas have shown the highest
increases (28%). There is some evidence to show some of this
increase may be due to better reporting and recording of crimes.
3)

Fear of crime levels reported by residents has increased with 69.4% of
residents reporting they feel safe in their communities, down from
82.8% in 2014/15. Residents also report lower levels of confidence that
the Police and the Council are addressing matters (down by 12.5%
since 2014/15).

4)

Cwm Taf has one of the highest rates of drug misuse deaths and
alcohol related deaths in Wales. Merthyr Tydfil and Rhondda Cynon Taf
are also first and second highest for rates of alcohol use in the
population. Improving access to services is a key action for partners.

5)

Drug related crime, such as drug dealing and acquisitive crimes, and
the threat from Organised Crime Gangs operating in or around the area
is a particular concern to the Police and the communities we serve.

6)

Adult re-offending rates have shown a reduction from 2011 – 2015. (For
Merthyr Tydfil the rate is down from 33.1% to 30.8% of offenders who
reoffend). The focus on programmes to target first time and repeat
officers and particular types of offenders remains a priority.

7)

Youth Offending rates for first time entrants to the criminal justice
service have reduced by 29.4% in 2016/17 compared to 2015/16. The
focus on early engagement and intervention to prevent young people
offending or to divert them from custody is a priority that will continue to
have a positive impact into the future on re-offending rates.

8)

Crimes of Violence against women, Domestic Abuse and Sexual
Violence (VAWDASV) are underreported. Where crimes are reported, a
high proportion of cases have children present in the household, a key
concern in relation to long term impact on their wellbeing and life
chances.

9)

Support services for victims of VAWDASV are currently focused on
high risk victims, leaving significant unmet need for low and medium
risk victims.

10)

Crimes of violence against the person have increased by 145% in the
last 5 years. It is important to understand the relationship between
alcohol use and the night-time economy in this type of crime.

11)

Overall incidents of Anti-Social Behaviour (ASB) being reported have
reduced over the last 5 years.

12)

Harms to vulnerable groups at risk of homelessness, radicalisation,
victimisation (due to age, race, gender or sexuality) or poor mental
health are at a low level but are an important issue in Cwm Taf. Hate
Crime reports overall have shown an reducing trend over the last five
years but hate crime due to race or ethnicity remain the highest group.

Page 7

5.3

13)

Child Sexual Exploitation has been a focus in Cwm Taf in recent years
and there is a need to improve intelligence gathering and sharing to
tackle this issue.

14)

Environmental crime is a concern for residents. Cleaning up illegal fly
tipping costs the public sector over £2.1 million in Wales every year.
Criminal damage caused by illegal off road vehicle users is one of the
top areas identified by residents for action and reports have increased
by 7% in the last year.

15)

Road Traffic collision rates have remained fairly constant for the last
five years but young, inexperienced drivers are known to be the most at
risk of an RTC.

Following a review of the evidence, the Draft Cwm Taf Community Safety Strategic
Assessment 2017 proposes to focus on six priority areas namely:
A. Reduce the impact of alcohol and drug misuse on our communities.
B. Divert offenders and reducing re- offending
C. Tackle Violence against Women, Domestic Abuse and Sexual Violence
D. Promote Safe and Confident Communities
E. Protect vulnerable groups from harm and victimisation
F. Improve the environment by reducing environmental crime

5.4

In response to an assessment of evidence across all areas, a Cross Cutting Priority
to “Improve Communication and Engagement with our Communities” has been
identified and will be a common and recurring theme in the Community Safety
Priorities.

5.5

Each Chapter in the Assessment covers each Priority in more detail and identifies
the Key Recommendations for the Community Safety Board to develop into a
Community Safety Partnership Action Plan for 2018-2021. The detailed Action Plan
will be supported by a Performance Framework, owned and monitored by the
Partnership, to ensure robust monitoring of progress to make a difference made to
our communities and the people we serve.

6.0

WHERE WE WANT TO BE

6.1

The enactment of the Well Being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015, the critical
focus on the long term impact of Adverse Childhood Experiences (ACEs) and the
ambition of all services to deliver earlier intervention before patterns and behaviours
begin to develop this Assessment has sought to focus on developing and delivering
partnership operational responses to address the underlying challenges

7.0

WHAT WE NEED TO DO NEXT

7.1

Develop an Action Plan that identifies actions against the specific priorities.

Page 8

8.0

CONTRIBUTION TO WELLBEING OBJECTIVES

8.1

The Strategic Assessment and Action Plan will contribute to our Wellbeing Objective
"Developing safer communities".

ELLIS COOPER DEPUTY CHIEF
EXECUTIVE

COUNCILLOR GERAINT THOMAS
CABINET MEMBER FOR
REGENERATION AND PUBLIC
PROTECTION

BACKGROUND PAPERS
Title of Document(s)

Document(s) Date

Document Location

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s
Constitution?

Page 9

NO

Cwm Taf Community Safety Strategic Assessment
2017/ 18
Draft Version 10.1

1|Page

Page 10

Contents
1. Introduction
2. Community Safety in Cwm Taf
3. Cwm Taf Community Safety Priorities- Introduction
4. Priority 1: Reduce the impact of alcohol and drug misuse on our
communities.
5. Priority 2- Divert offenders and reducing re- offending
6. Priority 3- Tackle Violence against Women, Domestic Abuse and
Sexual Violence
7. Priority 4- Promote safe and confident communities
8. Priority 5- Protect vulnerable groups from harm and victimisation
9. Priority 6- Improve our environment by reducing environmental
crime
Appendices

2|Page

Page 11

1.

Introduction

1.1. The Community Safety Strategic Assessment
The Cwm Taf Community Safety Strategic Assessment has been undertaken to review
existing service provision and delivery within Cwm Taf, determine objectives following
analysis of current issues, trends, impacts on our communities and key strategic
influences including the advent of the Public Service Boards, Police and Crime Reduction
Plan and broad community engagement programmes. Previous reviews have focused on
reducing and tackling crime and disorder which have been successful in key areas but
following the enactment of the Well Being Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015, the
critical focus on Adverse Childhood Experiences (ACEs) and the ambition of all services to
deliver earlier intervention before patterns and behaviours begin to develop, this review
and assessment will seek to focus on developing and delivering partnership operational
responses to address the underlying challenges.
“Early intervention is at the heart of building healthy, happy and safe communities,
reducing demand on all our public services.”
Police and Crime reduction Plan 2016-2021

There has been a fundamental shift in local governance and priorities with the
establishment of the Cwm Taf PSB, a joint Public Services Board covering Merthyr Tydfil
and Rhondda Cynon Taf (RCT). The PSB has a duty under the Well-being of Future
Generations (Wales) Act to coordinate the planning, commissioning and delivery of public
services across organisational boundaries.
The PSB’s purpose is to ensure everyone works together to improve the well-being of our
communities, through effective partnership working. The PSB’s focus are the well-being
objectives. The work of the PSB must consider the well-being of the people of Cwm Taf
now and those who will live and work here in the future. This will be achieved by ensuring
that all the work of the PSB is carried out in line with the sustainable development principle
of the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act, which sets out five specific ways in
which the PSB must go about meeting its duty (Figure 1). By working in these ways, public
bodies can seek to meet the needs of the present without compromising the ability of
future generations to meet their own needs.

3|Page

Page 12

Figure 1: Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015: 5 Ways of Working

The Police Reform and Social Responsibility Act 2011 established Police and Crime
Commissioners (PCC) who have a reciprocal duty to co-operate with community safety
partnerships and powers to directly commission work on addressing community safety.
The assessment has therefore also had due regard to the South Wales Police and Crime
Reduction Plan 2017-21 Priorities, namely:


Reduce and Prevent Crime and Anti Social Behaviour to keep people safe in their
homes and communities



Improve the way we connect with, involve and inform our communities



Work to protect the most vulnerable in our communities



Make sure the criminal justice system works effectively and efficiently, meeting the
needs of victims and challenging offenders



Make our contribution to the strategic policing requirement and successfully police
major events



Spend your money wisely to protect policing in your communities

1.2. Responsibility for Community Safety in Cwm Taf
Community Safety in the Cwm Taf region is monitored and evaluated by Cwm Taf Public
Services Board (PSB). Membership of Cwm Taf PSB is based on statutory members:
4|Page

Page 13



the two local authorities – Merthyr Tydfil and Rhondda Cynon Taf;



Cwm Taf University Health Board;



South Wales Fire and Rescue; and



Natural Resources Wales

And invited members:


South Wales Police;



Welsh ministers; representatives of Welsh Government



South Wales Police and Crime Commissioner;



National Probation Service;



Community Rehabilitation Company; and



Voluntary Organisations – VAMT and Interlink

The work of Cwm Taf PSB will be directed by its Well-being Plan. In order to write this
Plan, the PSB carried out a Well-being Assessment and Population Assessment, the
findings of which have been used – along with other information sources – to inform this
strategic assessment.
Cwm Taf Population Assessment
The Social Services and Well-being (Wales) Act 2014 is about improving the well-being of
people who need care and support and carers who need support. Under this Act, the Cwm
Taf University Health Board, Rhondda Cynon Taf County Borough Council, Merthyr Tydfil
County Borough Council and their partners have jointly published their Population
Assessment here.
The Population Assessment provides public services with an overview of the care and
support needs of the people of Cwm Taf and the range and level of services required to
meet those needs. The Assessment will inform the Cwm Taf Local Area Plan. The
development of the Local Area Plan will take place during 2017-18.
Cwm Taf Well-being Assessment
As part of its duty under the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act, the Cwm Taf
PSB will develop a Well-being Plan (by May 2018). The Plan will contain a set of Wellbeing Objectives and the steps the PSB will take to meet them.
In order to understand what well-being currently looks like in Cwm Taf and what is
important to our communities, the PSB first carried out an assessment of well-being.
5|Page

Page 14

Following the Well Being Assessment undertaken, three Well-being Objectives have been
identified by the PSB as the focus of its work, and the Cwm Taf Well-being Plan to support
delivery of those objectives will outline the steps it will take to meet them.

The Cwm Taf Well-being Objectives
1. To promote safe, confident, resilient, and thriving communities improving the wellbeing of residents and visitors and building on our community assets.
2. To help people live long and healthy lives and overcome any challenges.
3. To grow a strong local economy with sustainable transport that attracts people to
live, work and play in Cwm Taf.

1.3

Consultation and Engagement in Cwm Taf

The inception of the PSB has created and encouraged increased engagement to support
and develop a range of locally prioritised objectives, including those relating to Community
Safety, and inform the strategic direction of each partner agency in Cwm Taf. The PSB
commissioned the information work stream which developed the new internal and external
web portal Our Cwm Taf. The find out more information on Cwm Taf PSB please visit
www.ourcwmtaf.wales
The ambition of this portal is to bring together the partnership work of the Cwm Taf PSB
and give partners and citizens opportunities to engage with and further understand the key
role of the board. To compliment this prominent digital step in Cwm Taf, the PSB support
two engagement forums that are closely aligned and underpin the function and delivery of
Our Cwm Taf, namely the Public Engagement Group (PEG) and the Public Engagement
Network (PEN)
The Public Engagement Group (PEG) is made up of the engagement and communications
leads from the PSB partner organisations. The PEG is responsible for advising and
supporting PSB work streams by working with project leads to involve partners in their
work.The Public Engagement Network (PEN) supports the PEG to share information from
the PSB with partners and collect information from those partners to feed back into the
work of the Public Services Board

6|Page

Page 15

1.4 Cwm Taf Community Safety Partnership Board
The PSB is the principal strategic leadership forum for the planning, commissioning and
delivery of public services across organisational boundaries to achieve better outcomes for
the people of Cwm Taf. In support of the PSB and the new Strategic Partnership Board,
there is a single Cwm Taf Community Safety Partnership Board. The Board will discharge
the statutory responsibilities set out in the Crime and Disorder Act 1998 as the Crime &
Disorder Reduction Partnership at a Cwm Taf regional level. The CSP also sits as the
Cwm Taf Area Planning Board (APB) responsible for the strategic planning and
commissioning of services for the prevention and treatment of substance misuse.
The Strategic Assessments already undertaken have provided a framework to inform
and support the identification of PSB Objectives within Cwm Taf and will directly
influence and shape the Community Safety focus in the coming years. The data and
content of the “Our Cwm Taf” website is woven throughout the document and will
support and inform future priorities.

The Cwm Taf Community Safety Partnership Board is the strategic leadership group for
the planning, commissioning and delivery of community safety related services and
activities, working across organisational boundaries to achieve better outcomes for the
people of Cwm Taf.
The remit of the Board is inclusive of all matters relating to community safety and crime
reduction in Cwm Taf with a particular focus on the following key thematic areas:
o

Crime & Disorder Reduction

o

Offender Management

o

Community Cohesion

o

Counter Terrorism

o

Substance Misuse

o

Domestic Abuse

Cwm Taf Community Safety objectives and priority areas have been determined by
considering the reviews and assessments recently undertaken within the Cwm Taf area
and the focus of the priorities within the South Wales Police Strategic Assessment
(Appendix 2) and Police and Crime Reduction Plan (Appendix 3). The assessment has
been compiled and produced through the collaboration of Cwm Taf partners together with
the South Wales Police and Crime Commissioner.

7|Page

Page 16

Cwm Taf have been particularly innovative in key areas of service delivery but recognise
there is more to be done to marry the demands and the collaborative effort of each BoardSafeguarding, Mental Health and Community Safety. This assessment presents a current
picture of Cwm Taf and recognises and identifies where further work needs to be done to
understand the broader “why” and “how” in addressing the challenges.

8|Page

Page 17

2.

Community Safety in Cwm Taf

2.1. Cwm Taf Population
The Cwm Taf area is comprised of two local authorities, Merthyr Tydfil and Rhondda
Cynon Taf (RCT) and the Cwm Taf University Health Board Area. Combined, this is a
population of nearly 300,000 people1 and the area is more densely populated than other
parts of Wales. It is also characterised as a diverse community, with areas of economic
prosperity but a high proportion of deprived areas. This is important in terms of Community
Safety as areas of high deprivation are known to demonstrate community safety risk
factors. The National Wales survey data provides an outline overview of the level of
deprivation within defined geographical communities, called Lower Super Output Areas
(LSOA’s) (Figure 2) and the indicators to the increased risks to communities’ safety
(Figure 3).
The average proportion of LSOAs per authority in the 10% most deprived LSOAs in Wales
is 10%. Rhondda Cynon Taf has 16.9% which is an above average number of LSOAs
in the 10% most deprived LSOAs in Wales.
The average proportion of LSOAs per authority in the 10% most deprived LSOAs in Wales
is 10%. Merthyr Tydfil has 22.2% which is an above average number of LSOAs in the
10% most deprived LSOAs in Wales.

9|Page

Page 18

Figure. 2. WIMD 2014 Overall deprived LSOAs, by local authority

Local authority

Number

of

LSOAs

in

local
authority

% LSOAs in

% LSOAs in

% LSOAs in

% LSOAs in

most-

most-

most-

most-

deprived 10%

deprived 20%

deprived 30%

deprived 50%

ranks 1-573

ranks 1-955

ranks
191

1-

ranks

1-

382

Isle of Anglesey

44

2.3

15.9

18.2

45.5

Gwynedd

73

4.1

4.1

5.5

34.2

Conwy

71

5.6

14.1

23.9

42.3

Denbighshire

58

13.8

15.5

20.7

46.6

Flintshire

92

2.2

12.0

19.6

34.8

Wrexham

85

5.9

12.9

27.1

43.5

Powys

79

1.3

3.8

11.4

20.3

Ceredigion

46

2.2

2.2

6.5

39.1

Pembrokeshire

71

5.6

8.5

15.5

36.6

Carmarthenshire

112

4.5

10.7

22.3

52.7

Swansea

148

12.2

25.0

28.4

48.6

Neath Port Talbot

91

13.2

29.7

40.7

67.0

Bridgend

88

10.2

22.7

42.0

56.8

Vale of Glamorgan

79

5.1

15.2

19.0

36.7

16.9

29.9

47.4

72.1

Rhondda

Cynon 154

Taf
Merthyr Tydfil

36

22.2

30.6

61.1

80.6

Caerphilly

110

12.7

28.2

39.1

67.3

Blaenau Gwent

47

23.4

46.8

66.0

85.1

Torfaen

60

5.0

25.0

40.0

56.7

Monmouthshire

56

0.0

0.0

7.1

21.4

Newport

95

14.7

30.5

38.9

56.8

Cardiff

214

17.8

27.6

36.4

46.3

Wales

1,909

10.0

20.0

30.0

50.0

Figure 3 below shows the spread of community safety domain ranks for each local
authority in Wales. The blue boxes contain half the total number of LSOAs in each local
10 | P a g e

Page 19

authority, centred on the median (middle) rank for each local authority and the lines show
the full range of ranks. Deprivation increases with decreasing rank (that is the LA areas
with boxes towards the bottom of the plot). This means that local authority areas with a
high proportion of communities in classed as more deprived areas, which includes
Rhondda Cynon Taf and Merthyr Tydfil, are more likely to score low when it comes to risk
factors relevant to community safety.

Figure 3 Box plot of WIMD 2014 Community Safety domain ranks, by local
authority

Community Safety domain rank 2014

2000

1800

1600

1400

1200

1000

800

600

400

200

11 | P a g e

Page 20

2.2. Crime in Cwm Taf
Total recorded crime
Following two initial years of similar levels of crime being recorded, the overall level of
crime has seen a steady increase over the 5 year period of 32% (5,030) (2012-17). (See
Figure: 4 below - Total crime)

Figure: 4 - Total crime, Cwm Taf

Overall Crime Cwm Taf (5yrs)
23100
21100
19100
17100
15100
13100
2012/13

2013/14

2014/15

2015/16

2016/17

All areas have seen steady increases from 2013/14; although Rhondda and Taff both saw
decreases between 2014/15 and 2015/16.. (See Figure: 5 All crime by sector)
Figure: 5 - All crime by sector

All crime by sector (5yrs)
7000
6000
5000
4000
3000
2000
2012/13

2013/14
Merthyr

2014/15
Rhondda

2015/16
Cynon

2016/17

Taff

Rhondda (25,246) and Taff (25,665) sectors recorded the greatest levels of crime over this
period - 28% each. Merthyr (21,997) had 24% and Cynon (18,162) 20%.
The below table Figure: 6 shows a breakdown of all crime categories over the 5 year
period and the increase/decrease between 2012/13 and 2016/17. The largest increases
have been seen in relation to Violent crime (145%), Sexual offences (135%) and other
12 | P a g e

Page 21

notifiable offences (87%) have seen the largest increases. Burglary of other premises (11%), Theft of vehicles (-35%), Theft from vehicles (-23%) have all seen large reductions.
Burglary dwelling/Residential burglary and other theft have remained stable.
Figure: 6 - All crime by category
All crime 5yrs

2012/13

2013/14

2014/15

2015/16

2016/17

Total

Dif

Perc

Violence against the person

3778

4430

6318

7331

9273

31130

5495

145%

Sexual offence

234

320

344

439

551

1888

317

135%

Robbery

47

44

50

60

56

257

9

19%

Burglary of dwelling

731

633

680

716

736

3496

5

1%

Burglary of other premises

989

1007

1146

1094

882

5118

-107

-11%

Theft of motor vehicle

474

407

388

369

310

1948

-164

-35%

Theft from motor vehicle

1221

1186

1210

1004

946

5567

-275

-23%

Other theft

3771

3616

4029

3693

3804

18913

33

1%

Fraud or forgery

315

29

15

9

28

396

-287

-91%

Criminal damage

3299

3185

3206

3337

3270

16297

-29

-1%

Drug trafficking

199

168

145

140

147

799

-52

-26%

Other drugs offence

758

822

686

663

613

3542

-145

-19%

Other notifiable offence

265

282

322

355

495

1719

230

87%

Total

16081

16129

18539

19210

21111

91070

5030

31%

Generally, crime has increased over the 5 year period, specifically in the categories where
focus has been placed on increased reporting and management (namely violent crime and
sexual offences). Home Office changes to how certain crimes are categorised are also
likely to influence statistics. In the last twelve months, the police in England and Wales
recorded a total of 4.8 million offences in the year ending December 2016, an annual rise
of 9%. However, the large volume increases driving this trend are thought to reflect
changes in recording processes and practices rather than crime, which will be a similar
position for Cwm Taf.

Figure 7: Cwm Taf Crime Performance (2016)
Cwm Taf Rolling 12 Months Performance

Satisfaction Rate

Burglary of dwelling

Vehicle Crime

Violence against the person

Overall

Ease

of

Actions

Whole

Follow Up

Treatment

87.8%

77.3%

97.3%

87.6%

of 151

of 181

of 181

of 182

of 210

95.8%

83.0%

76.5%

96.0%

86.1%

of 167

of 200

of 200

of 200

of 208

94.5%

81.4%

72.7%

89.1%

83.7%

of 109

of 183

of 183

of 183

of 209

96.3%

84.1%

75.5%

94.1%

85.8%

of 427

of 564

of 564

of 565

of 627

Contact

Taken

98.7%

Experience

13 | P a g e

Page 22

Cwm

Taf

Rolling

12

Performance
Racist Incident

Hate Crime (inc Race)

Hate crime - Disability

Hate crime - Religion

Hate crime - Sexual Orientation

Hate crime - Transgender

Burglary of dwelling

Vehicle Crime

Violence against the person

Hate Crime (inc Race)

White Victim Satisfaction

Burglary of dwelling

Vehicle Crime

Violence against the person

Hate Crime (inc Race)

BME Victim Satisfaction

Months

Ease

of

Actions

Follow Up

Treatment

Whole

Contact

Taken

93.8%

86.4%

81.8%

95.5%

89.4%

of 32

of 44

of 44

of 44

of 47

91.3%

88.7%

82.5%

96.8%

90.8%

of 46

of 62

of 63

of 63

of 65

100.0%

87.5%

77.8%

100.0%

87.5%

of 6

of 8

of 9

of 9

of 8

0.0%

100.0%

100.0%

100.0%

100.0%

of 1

of 1

of 1

of 1

of 1

85.7%

100.0%

88.9%

100.0%

100.0%

of 7

of 9

of 9

of 9

of 9

0 Surveyed

0 Surveyed

0 Surveyed

0 Surveyed

0 Surveyed

98.6%

88.4%

76.2%

97.0%

88.3%

of 138

of 164

of 164

of 165

of 188

95.7%

84.7%

76.3%

95.9%

85.6%

of 163

of 189

of 194

of 194

of 202

94.3%

89.9%

73.6%

89.7%

83.9%

of 105

of 159

of 174

of 174

of 199

91.3%

92.6%

85.7%

100.0%

93.1%

of 23

of 27

of 28

of 28

of 29

95.0%

88.9%

77.9%

95.6%

87.7%

of 429

of 539

of 560

of 561

of 618

100.0%

72.7%

81.8%

100.0%

76.9%

of 9

of 11

of 11

of 11

of 13

100.0%

100.0%

100.0%

100.0%

100.0%

of 1

of 1

of 1

of 1

of 1

100.0%

75.0%

100.0%

100.0%

0 Surveyed

Experience

of 4

of 4

of 4

of 5

90.9%

93.3%

78.8%

93.9%

88.2%

of 22

of 30

of 33

of 33

of 34

97.0%

91.5%

83.9%

98.5%

91.3%

of 32

of 46

of 49

of 49

of 53

2.2 Perception of Crime and Community Safety in Cwm Taf
A Survey for Cwm Taf was commissioned by South Wales Police in 2017 (COMPASS
Survey) to develop a broad understanding of the perception, views and expectations of
Cwm Taf communities. This is a vital resource in engaging and developing a clearer
understanding. The core headlines and recommendations following the review have been

14 | P a g e

Page 23

included to inform the priorities of this assessment and identify areas for further
intervention, service delivery and reassurance locally or across the Cwm Taf area.
In addition, a Town Centre Survey was carried out for Pontypridd and Aberdare in April/
May 2017, the findings of which have been reviewed and used to identify key headlines.
Having regard to the feedback from both surveys, the key finding is the concern from
communities that don’t feel safe continues despite efforts to address the issues. The
perception as made out with the analysis in Figure 8 indicates that reduced confidence
and increased fear are an issue to Cwm Taf residents.
Figure 8: Perception of feeling safe by LA area

People feeling safe (at home, walking in the local area, and travelling)
Feel safe
Don't feel safe

Local authority

% Lower CI Upper CI

% Lower CI Upper CI

Isle of Anglesey

80

76

84

20

16

24

Gwynedd

82

77

86

18

14

23

Conwy

80

75

84

20

16

25

Denbighshire

70

64

75

30

25

36

Flintshire

75

71

79

25

21

29

Wrexham

65

60

71

35

29

40

Powys

87

85

89

13

11

15

Ceredigion

91

89

94

9

6

11

Pembrokeshire

85

82

89

15

11

18

Carmarthenshire

79

75

83

21

17

25

Swansea

66

62

70

34

30

38

Neath Port Talbot

71

66

76

29

24

35

Bridgend

73

68

78

27

22

32

Vale of Glamorgan

76

70

81

24

19

30

Cardiff

73

69

77

27

23

31

Rhondda Cynon Taf

69

64

73

31

27

36

Merthyr Tydfil

63

57

69

37

31

43

Caerphilly

68

63

74

32

26

37

Blaenau Gwent

57

51

63

43

37

49

Torfaen

70

65

75

30

25

35

Monmouthshire

78

74

83

22

17

26

Newport

60

55

66

40

34

45

Sample size:

10,450

15 | P a g e

Page 24

In addition, the 2017 Compass survey highlighted a decrease in the proportion of people in
our communities that feel safe:


69.4% of those surveys feel safe in their community (down from 82.8% in 2014/15,
a drop of 16.2%)



In addition, the National Crime Survey (2016) reports 63% of Merthyr residents and
69% of RCT residents feel safe (at home, walking in the local area and travelling)
which ranks the LAs 16th and 20th respectively of the 22 LAs in Wales.



Perceptions that the police and Council are dealing with what matters has declined
by 12.6% (from 52.4% in 2014/15 to 45.8% in 2016/17). This compares to 60.6%
for South Wales Police in the 2016 National Crime Survey. Areas least likely to
perceive that matters are being dealt with are Merthyr Vale, Treharris and Merthyr
Town.



Perceptions that the police are dealing with what matters has declined by from
57.5% in 2014/15 to 56.3% in 2016/17). This compares to 61.8% for South Wales
Police in the 2016 National Crime Survey. The areas least likely to agree that the
police are dealing with matters are Plymouth, Vaynor and Cyfarthfa.



Perceptions that police are doing a good or excellent job has decreased by 10.5%
(from 61.9% to 55.4%). This compares to 60.7% for South Wales Police according
the the 2016 National Crime Survey. The areas least likely to agree are Plymouth,
Vaynor and Bedlinog.



24% of responders were dissatisfied with the visibility of PCSOs. Those satisfied
withthe visibility of PCSOs or who report knowing their PCSO reported higher
feelings of safety and perceptions that the police are doing a good job. Conversley,
those dissatisfied are most likely to be from a challenged neighbourhood with
higher levels of crime and anti social behaviour.



The majority of respondents agreed with the six priorities in the Crime Reduction
Plan.



Respondents did not feel informed about how local issues are being tackled, the
use of the non- emergency number, accessibility of police stations and use of
social media. People who are not informed are more likely to feel the police do a
poor job.



Around ¾ of the public would be interested in finding out about policing in their
area in a newsletter, although a pilot scheme evaluation nshowed improved
awareness of policing but did not affect overall feelings of safety.
16 | P a g e

Page 25

When considered against a back drop of low victim satisfaction, deprivation, the evolving
nature of criminality, our understanding of vulnerability together with our ability to
communicate outcomes effectively, the landscape is complex. It is important that the
Partnership understand the underlying causes of this concern to determine and initiate
actions to improve resident confidence and levels of reassurance.

17 | P a g e

Page 26

3.

Introduction to the Cwm Taf Community Safety Priorities

The Community Safety Partnership has reviewed the data to identify priority areas that
require appropriate actions to be developed, focused in particular on early intervention and
a greater preventative agenda.
“ Early intervention helps prevent problems before they escalate, stops people becoming
victims, diverts people away from crime and reduces demand on the police and partners.”
Police and Crime Reduction Plan 2016- 2021

Community Safety objectives and initiatives have previously focused on the outcome of a
crime or issue, however the purpose of this assessment is to not only identify the
challenge facing our community and understand the vulnerabilities but develop a greater
level of understanding of the underlying issues. Public Health Wales’ analysis of Adverse
Childhood Experiences (ACEs) has put a spot light on factors within families that are likely
to impact on the positive development of a child and the likelihood of that child becoming
more

agency dependent and continue a generational cycle of adverse experience,

whether that centres around criminality, vulnerability, mental health, substance
dependency or lifestyle (See Figure 9).
Following a review of the evidence, the Cwm Taf Community Safety Strategic Assessment
will focus on six priority areas:


Reduce the impact of alcohol and drug misuse on our communities.



Divert offenders and reducing re- offending



Tackle Violence against Women, Domestic Abuse and Sexual Violence



Promote Safe and Confident Communities



Protect vulnerable groups from harm and victimisation



Improve the environment by reducing environmental crime

In response to an assessment of evidence across all areas, a Cross Cutting Priority to
“Improve Communication and Engagement with our Communities” has been
identified and will be a common and recurring theme in the Community Safety Priorities.
The Following Chapters will cover each Priority and the Actions planned by the
Community Safety Partnership for 2018-2021. This assessment will be supported by a
detailed Action Plan and Performance Framework, owned and monitored by the
Partnership, to ensure robust monitoring of progress to make a difference made to our
communities and the people we serve.
18 | P a g e

Page 27

Figure 9: Adverse Childhood Experiences and Impact on Long Term Health and Well
being (Info graphic) (Source: “Breaking the Generational Cycle of Crime, Ford et al (2016)”)

19 | P a g e

Page 28

4.

Priority 1- Reduce the impact of alcohol and drug misuse on
our communities.

Cwm Taf PSB commissioned a review of substance misuse services and the current
challenges within Cwm Taf which was undertaken between December 2016 and April
2017 for the Cwm Taf Substance Misuse Area Planning Board (APB) by Health and Social
Research (HSR), an independent review team.

Engagement work was carried out from December 2016 to April 2017 and in line with the
Review Communication Plan. The work was overseen by a Review Steering Group made
up of members of the APB comprising representatives from Merthyr Tydfil County Borough
Council, Rhondda Cynon Taf County Borough Council, Cwm Taf University Health Board
and South Wales Police, which reported to the Cwm Taf APB. The review team referred to
the APB Providers Forum for advisory input.

4.1 Current evidence of need
“Cwm Taf has the highest rates of both drug misuse deaths and alcohol related deaths
in Wales. Data from the Welsh National Database for Substance Misuse evidences the
continued need for services across Cwm Taf, with approximately 3,000 referrals
received annually for the period April 2013 to March 2016. “
Issues highlighted in the Cwm Taf Wellbeing Assessment 2017 across well- being
themes include:
”Alcohol consumption and other substance misuse are associated with many
chronic health problems including mental ill health, as well as social problems such
as crime, assault and domestic violence.”
Data from InfoBaseCymru indicate that of the 22 local authorities in Wales, Merthyr Tydfil
and Rhondda Cynon Taf rank first and second respectively for the rate of alcohol use. In
relation to drug use, Merthyr Tydfil ranked fifth (above the Wales average) and Rhondda
Cynon Taf ranked 11th (slightly below the Wales average) (see Figure 10).

20 | P a g e

Page 29

Figure 10: Rate and ranking (from the highest incidence to the lowest) of alcohol and
drug use in the 22 Local Authorities in Wales based on individuals assessed per
100,000 of the population (Source InfoBaseCymru 2015/16
Alcohol misuse

Drug misuse

Rate

Rank

Rate

Rank

Wales

241

-

215

-

Merthyr Tydfil

362

1

255

5

Rhondda Cynon Taf

305

2

201

11

Caerphilly

237

10

269

4

Blaenau Gwent

296

3

276

3

Torfaen

233

11

218

9

Monmouthshire

164

21

155

18

Newport

260

7

380

1

The Vale of Glamorgan

170

20

111

22

Carmarthenshire

189

17

151

19

Swansea

215

12

196

12

Neath Port Talbot

172

19

210

10

Bridgend

153

22

137

20

Cardiff

202

15

159

17

Ceredigion

242

9

166

16

Pembrokeshire

211

13

121

21

Powys

187

18

193

14

Isle of Anglesey

210

14

226

7

Gwynedd

199

16

237

6

Conwy

259

8

170

15

Denbighshire

286

5

194

13

Flintshire

265

6

219

8

Wrexham

291

4

328

2

Alcohol accounts for 62% of referrals to substance use treatment services in Cwm
Taf, with other drugs making up the remaining 38% of referrals (see Figure 11).

Figure 11: Assessments undertaken in Cwm Taf 2015-16 by individual substance
and by number and rate per 100,000 population. Source: WNDSM (NWIS)
Substance

Number of referrals

Rate

Alcohol

1162

392

Cannabis

272

75

Heroin

181

61

Amphetamines

106

36

Cocaine

43

14

Methadone

35

12

Benzodiazepines

17

6

In 2012/13, Cwm Taf ranked the highest for the rates of males admitted to hospital
21 | P a g e

Page 30

due to alcohol-attributable conditions. Females in Cwm Taf rated just under the
Wales average (see Figures 12 and 13).
Figure 12: Alcohol specific hospital admissions for males. European age- standardised
rate per 100,000. Source: Public Health Wales Observatory

Figure 13: Alcohol specific hospital admissions for females. European agestandardised rate per 100,000. Source: Public Health Wales Observatory

22 | P a g e

Page 31

Cwm Taf has the the highest rates of alcohol related deaths in Wales. According to Public
Health Wales (2015), Cwm Taf had the highest incidence of alcohol related deaths in both
males and females (see Figure 14) and the second highest rate of hospital admissions in
Wales due to alcoholic liver disease. (see Figure 15).

Figure 14: Rates of alcohol attributable deaths in Wales 2013-15 by Health Board
(Source: Public Health Wales, 2016)
95% confidence interval

Wales = 37.6

41.0

Betsi
Cadwaladr
UHB

Powys tHB

Hywel Dda

19.1

*ICD-10 code K70 (principal diagnosis)
31.5

ABM UHB

50.7

Cardiff & Vale
UHB

Cwm Taf UHB

52.1

Aneurin UHB
Bevan UHB

27.0
31.2

Figure 15: Hospital admissions due to alcoholic liver disease.
(Source: Public Health Wales, 2016)

Page 32

23 | P a g e

Welsh Government data indicates that drug misuse deaths in Wales rose from 113 to 168
between 2014 - 15 and those attributable to heroin/morphine increased from 44 – 85 in the
same period, an increase of 93.2%. Cwm Taf is no exception and mirrors the Welsh level of
gravity regarding drug misuse deaths with the highest EASR* per 100,000 population for
drug misuse deaths for all Welsh UHB areas in 2013 – 2014 and the second highest in 2015.
The national average rate for drug misuse deaths in 2015 was 5.8 per 100,000 population
with the Cwm Taf rate standing at 9.3 per 100,000 population. 2016 has also seen a
relatively high number of drug misuse deaths in Cwm Taf although official figures are yet to
be released. The data over the last two years indicates that the number of deaths as a
result of substance misuse and addiction are high but not dissimilar year on year. The total
economic and social cost of Class A drug use in Wales has been estimated to be around
£780 million, and drug related crime accounts for 90 per cent of this.
(*European Age Standardised Rate)

4.2 Cwm Taf Drug Poisoning Review.
There is an existing framework to review and consider the findings of drug related deaths
with accountability and governance through the Area Planning Board. This process ensures
that the learning and trends within Cwm Taf are understood and where appropriate agencies
determine suitable interventions and changes in policy to respond to these matters together
with operational responses to particular areas of concern. Alongside this a multiagency
working group was established in late 2016 to develop a referral/review process to identify
individuals deemed to be at high-risk of a drug related death, with a view to provide timely
and co-ordinated support and intervention with a focus on reducing the likelihood of drug
misuse deaths in Cwm Taf.

4.3 Offending linked to Drug Use
4.3.1 Drug Related Offences

Drug offences in general are only recorded if an offender has been arrested and are a direct
result of positive Police activity. Figure: 16 below shows all drugs offences recorded in
Northern BCU. From a peak in 2013/14 there has been a reduction in offences through to
2016/17.
“Drug trafficking” offences have been at similar levels in sectors but “other offences drugs”
show higher levels of activity in Rhondda and Taff. (See Figure: 17 below :)

Page 33

24 | P a g e

Figure: 16 – Drug related offences 5yrs

Drugs offences Northern
(5yrs)
1100
1000
900
800
700
600
2012/2013

2013/2014

2014/2015

2015/2016

2016/2017

Figure: 17 - Drug offences by sector

Drugs offences by Sector Northern
(5yrs)
1500
1000
500
0
Merthyr

Rhondda
Drug trafficking

Cynon
Other drugs offences

Taff
TOTAL:

Research shows that cannabis is the most recorded drug type, with the highest recorded
activity in Rhondda and Taff. Rhondda and Taff also have the highest levels for cocaine and
Merthyr recorded the highest instances of heroin. See Figure: 18 (below)
Figure: 18: - Drug type by sector

Drug type by sector
(5yrs)
1000
800
600
400
200
0
Merthyr

Rhondda
Cannabis

Cocaine

Cynon
Heroin

Page 34

Taff
Amphetamine

25 | P a g e

Intelligence suggests Class ‘A’ drugs, including cocaine and heroin, are readily available
within the BCU and are being dealt at street level. The threat exists of the multi drug users
being involved in ‘near misses’ or even death as a result of their habit. Gabapentinoids,
prescription only anti-epileptics/analgesics, have been linked to overdose incidents involving
opiate users. Fentanyl, a prescription only analgesic, is an extremely strong opiate and
there are concerns as to the risk this drug poses to users.

Cocaine is readily available in the Rhondda and is generally the social drug of choice. Heroin
is generally used by established users who are probably at the greatest risk of ‘near misses’
or death as a result of lifestyle and deteriorating health.

The Cwm Taf Substance Misuse Service review has made a considerable number of
recommendations which will be taken forward by the PSB and will form the basis of
recommendations under this Priority.

4.3.2 The DYFODOL Programme
DYFODOL arrest Referral Workers are based in Merthyr Bridewell diverting people form
offending behaviour to intervention services in relation to substance misuse and a variety of
other trigger offences. In Cwm taf 2016-17 2002 people were arrested and 927 were referred
or signposted to Dyfodol services in relation to substance misuse interventions.141 of the
927 were subject to a required assessment under Tough Choices a scheme that went live in
quarter two.

4.4

Serious and Organised Crime

Cwm Taf serious and organised criminality is addressed and tackled via a multi agency
partnership board which focuses on identified Organised Crime Gangs (OCG’s) but also key
thematic areas of concern.
There are currently 5 OCGs managed within Northern BCU (August 2017). There are 56
members currently linked to the locally identified OCGs, which range in size from the
smallest group of 4 members to the largest group that has 20 associated members at
present. The locally managed OCGs are predominantly made up of local individuals who are
resident within the geographical locale of the BCU.
All five of the OCGs identified within Merthyr and Rhondda Cynon Taff relate to drugs supply
of varying levels. Of these, four are also linked to other areas of criminality, including
violence, money laundering and human trafficking.

Page 35

26 | P a g e

Criminal assessments by the BCU indicate that all five of the OCGs identified and being
managed are towards the lower end of the scale for criminality, intent and capability scores.
Two can be considered as relatively high for intent and capability, whilst one can be
considered as a mid-range level for criminality.
The BCU appreciates that this is not a completely true reflection of the current serious and
organised crime threat within the BCU. Despite there being many more nominal working
together to commit crime, they are not necessarily involved in serious and organised crime.
There are a number of other individuals where the intelligence picture is sparse, but could
suggest involvement in serious and organised crime. Work is ongoing to develop
understanding of these groups in order to assess the threat they pose and determine the
most effective means of disruption to prevent crime and promote better community safety.

There is no evidence to suggest any association between OCG groups within the BCU,
Force area or other Forces.

No street gangs or delinquent youth groups have been

identified as having the potential to progress from low level anti-social behaviour (ASB) and
crime to more serious organised crime; although, as mentioned below in the “County Lines”
section, vulnerable youths make up a fertile recruitment ground for established organised
crime and contribute a vital element of their business model. There are pockets of ASB in
certain areas of the BCU and some youths get involved in crime from a very early age; these
are managed at sector level and through ASB units. There has been intelligence of drug
dealers using youths to run for them / deliver drugs on their behalf and the youths who are
vulnerable / disengaged are likely to be the ones targeted and could be the first step on the
road to a criminal career.

4.4.1 County Lines

This is a national issue, posing a significant threat to all Police Forces and targets the most
vulnerable members of society. It involves gangs from large urban areas (such as London,
West Midlands or Merseyside), travelling to smaller locations such as South Wales to sell
heroin and crack cocaine. The gangs function with a high degree of affiliation and loyalty,
enforcing this through violence, fear and intimidation. This therefore is linked to crimes of
drug supply and modern slavery. These gangs often challenge existing local dealers or other
county lines enterprises for territory (potential turf wars), which can lead to an escalation of
violence.
Gang members or low level runners travel between the urban and county locations on a
regular basis transporting drugs and cash. The gangs use local properties as a base for their

Page 36

27 | P a g e

activity, generally belonging to vulnerable people. This is often acquired by force or coercion
and is referred to as ‘cuckooing’.
The gangs exploit children into delivering drugs from the urban area to the county area using
intimidation, violence, debt bondage and or grooming. The children used are often regular
missing persons. Adult drug users, vulnerable females and those with learning difficulties /
mental health are also exploited for the use of their properties or to assist with dealing within
the county market.
County Lines gangs are significantly impacting on Western, Eastern and to a lesser extent
Central BCU within the Force, with lines also running in Gwent and Dyfed Powys. County
Lines methodology has recently emerged within the Merthyr area, originating from
Merseyside based OCGs however this was quickly identified and disrupted. It is likely to be
only a matter of time before increased County Lines incursions are active within the BCU.
The high level of criminality associated with such groups and their focus on vulnerable
individuals within the community means that they are a significant threat. Such gangs are
likely to be attracted to the heroin and crack cocaine market within Merthyr in particular. The
Serious and Organised Crime Partnership Board (SOCPB) has developed a control strategy
to focus on prevention/disruption and enforcement linked to a strong partnership coordinated
programme.

4.4.2 Emerging Trends in Drug Supply

There has been an increased level of intelligence in relation to Synthetic Cannabinoid
Receptor Agonists (SCRAs), commonly known as “SPICE” being available within the BCU.
SPICE is a synthetic replacement for cannabis and one of the effects of smoking it is to
become violently paranoid and users have been known to attack people around them;
another affect is to turn the user into a zombie like state – This has often been described by
the media. As this substance is synthetic, the chemical combinations found can vary and the
effects on the user can also vary. The main reasons why people smoke SPICE is that it is
cheap and strong. In Manchester the situation has been described as an epidemic ravaging
the inner city centre where rough sleepers have replaced heroin, crack and even alcohol
with SPICE as the drug of choice.

Intelligence suggests it is also widely used in prisons.

SPICE is stronger than cannabis and may have adverse harm effects including mental
health issues. Intelligence suggests it is widely available in the BCU community, with the
Gurnos Estate in Merthyr a reported “hot-spot”.
There has been an increased level of intelligence in relation to valium being available within
the BCU. Also there have been local reports (although outside of the BCU) of Fentanyl use.

Page 37

28 | P a g e

Fentanyl is a powerful synthetic opioid analgesic, similar to morphine, but 50-100 times more
potent. There has been one death to date in Gwent in 2017. There have been a number of
drug deaths within the local BCU recently and as the toxicology takes time and there is not
routine screening for Fentanyl we are as yet unable to say whether this has impacted on the
BCU.

4.5 What the Public are telling us (COMPASS Survey 2017):


More people feel drug use or dealing drugs is a very or fairly big problem (34.1%, up
from 32.2% - an increase of 5.9%). (The 2016 National Crime Survey for England
and Wales figure for South Wales Police was 32.5%)



Most people feel crime and antisocial behaviour has remained the same in the last
12 months.
o

Recorded crime is declining for violence and consistent for vehicle however
both burglary and violence have seen an increase in Jan – March 2017.

Priority One Recommendations
The Substance Misuse commissioned review focused on multiple recommendations which
are supported and endorsed by the PSB and key headline recommendations are:
a) Take a more integrated approach to developing substance use
services.
I.

Consider those at greatest risk, in line with demographic changes as
identified by population needs analysis, and services’ effectiveness

II.

Have the flexibility to address changing trends in substance use

III.

Address some key gaps in services such as for prevention and
recovery

IV.

Introduce joint commissioning and shared scrutiny of substance use
services to develop one coherent service for the region

V.

Make positive multidisciplinary working an integral part of service
design

VI.

Encourage working closely with health, social and community
services in a locality/ neighbourhood/ cluster

VII.

Aim for the best possible outcomes for service users

VIII.

Build on current good practice and provide an integrated early
identification and intervention service for adults as well as children and

Page 38

29 | P a g e

young people
IX.

Work with partners to identify how the needs of vulnerable and high risk
groups people can be addressed as early as possible

X.

Promote the use of brief online assessment tools for alcohol and
drugs consumption on the Our Cwm Taf website

b) Work in partnership with the Mental Health service to implement a delivery
plan to ensure individuals with a co-occurring mental health and substance
use problems receive effective treatment
c) Involve service users and carers and develop a Service User Involvement Plan on
the basis of their priorities and mapped against the different levels of participation.
d) Work with service users and the needle exchange service to ascertain a
way forward to ameliorate ‘needle litter’
e) Take a more community oriented approach to service provision including working
with partners who can assist to support a recovery pathway, e.g., CVCs
f) Engage local politicians to raise awareness of substance use issues

g) Work with key partners to improved intelligence gathering in relation to known and
emerging Organised Crime Gangs, their member’s lifestyles, financial status and
enforcement opportunities.

Page 39

30 | P a g e

5.

Priority 2- Divert offenders and reduce re- offending

5.1 Adult Re-offending
A proven re offence is defined as “any offence committed in a one year follow-up period that
leads to a court conviction, caution, reprimand or warning in the one year follow-up or within
a further six month waiting period to allow the offence to be proven in court”. The table
(Figure 19) below indicates the proven reoffending rates of adult offenders in Merthyr Tydfil
and Rhondda Cynon Taff during the period 2011-2015. The data shows that there has been
an overall decrease in reoffending rates and in the volume of re offences committed by adult
re-offenders across both areas since 2011.
Figure 19: Proven Re-offending Rates (adult) Merthyr Tydfil and RCT 2011-15
2011
Proportion of offenders who reoffend
(%)
Average number of reoffences per
reoffender

2012

2013

2014

2015

33.1

27.7

26.6

30.7

30.8

2.63

3.05

2.78

2.61

2.97

Number of reoffences

616

643

518

576

596

Number of reoffenders

234

211

186

221

201

Number of offenders in cohort
Average number of previous offences
per offender
Proportion of offenders who reoffend
(%)
Average number of reoffences per
reoffender

706

761

700

721

653

16.21

15.44

14.49

15.51

16.20

30.4

28.0

28.0

28.9

27.2

2.84

2.81

2.76

2.92

2.71

Cynon

Number of reoffences

2,399

2,292

2,097

2,324

1,899

Taf

Number of reoffenders

844

815

760

795

701

Number of offenders in cohort
Average number of previous offences
per offender

2,777

2,908

2,710

2,752

2,573

13.88

13.18

13.73

14.81

14.80

Merthyr
Tydfil

Rhondda

Source: MoJ Proven Reoffending Statistics (July 2014-June 2015)
(Note: Generally, offenders with a large number of previous offences have a higher rate of proven reoffending
than those with fewer previous offences. Changes in reoffending rates across different areas and time periods
may be impacted by differences in the risk profile of the cohort as well as in the interventions received. It is
therefore important not to make direct comparisons between the reoffending rates across different geographical
areas).

To continue to reduce reoffending it is important to address the drivers/factors that contribute
to offending behaviour and adapt interventions and practices to meet needs relating to

Page 40

31 | P a g e

existing and emerging crime types. Offenders in prison and under the supervision of
probation providers have risk factors and criminogenic traits that increase an individual’s
likelihood of committing another crime. These often relate to education/training/employability
prospects, health (physical and mental), accommodation, drug/alcohol misuse, and
maintaining healthy relationships with others. It is important that there is a collective focus on
addressing these needs in order to reduce risk of reoffending/harm and reduce the number
of future victims.
Figure 20: Outcomes of Criminal Investigations

Positive

Other

Outcomes

2016-17

2015-16

2014-15

01: Charged/summonsed

4237

4384

3287

02: Caution - youths

43

63

26

03: Caution - adults

377

635

400

04: Taken into consideration

147

112

157

05: Offender died

11

14

10

06: PND

233

365

276

07: Cannabis/khat warning

92

126

104

08: Community resolution

1056

267

129

09: Not in public interest [CPS]

15

27

76

10: Not in public interest [Police]

25

55

134

11: Prosecution prevented [SUA]

75

64

56

12: Prosecution prevented [S ill]

60

58

33

13: Prosecution prevented [VW dead/ill]

3

3

2

14: Evidential difficulties [S not identified]

401

334

204

15: Evidential difficulties [VS]

3357

2580

1023

16: Evidential difficulties [VDNS]

3039

2225

1625

17: Prosecution time limit expired

7

19

14

18: Investigation complete [NSI]

7627

7555

5808

20: Further action by other agency [V Aware]

14

15

0

21: Investigation not in public interest [Police]

68

0

0

20887

18901

13364

Grand Total

5.2 Integrated Offender Management
The Integrated Offender Management (IOM) process is designed to identify high volume
acquisitive offending. Selection onto the IOM is through a Multi-Agency Selection Panel and
the Police use a ‘scoring matrix’ within that process. Typically, high-volume acquisitive
offending goes hand-in-hand with substance misuse making the majority of the Cohort
addicts, although this does not detract from the fact that they may also be involved in other
offence types.

Page 41

32 | P a g e

Figure 21: Details of IOM Cohort per month (2014-17)
Date

Number on Cohort

Of which Females

Merthyr/RCT

May 2017

73

10 (14%)

35 /38

April 2017

63

8 (13%)

25 / 38

March 2017

63

8 (13%)

25 / 38

February 2017

122

15 (12%)

50 / 72

January 2017

122

15 (12%)

50 / 72

December 2016

125

17 (14%)

52 / 73

November 2016

122

17 (14%)

50 / 72

October 2016

116

16 (14%)

44 / 72

September 2016

111

15(14%)

41 / 70

August 2016

108

15 (14%)

40 / 68

July 2016

105

13 (12%)

38 / 67

June 2016

109

12 (11%)

39 / 70

May 2016

109

11 (10%)

39 / 70

April 2016

111

11 (10%)

40 / 71

March 2016

113

9 (8%)

42 / 71

February 2016

110

8 (7%)

41 / 69

January 2016

110

8 (7%)

41 / 69

December 2015

113

9 (8%)

40 / 73

November 2015

119

9 (8%)

40 / 79

October 2015

119

10 (8%)

38 / 81

September 2015

121

10 (9%)

36 / 85

August 2015

123

11 (9%)

36 / 87

July 2015

122

11 (9%)

36 / 86

June 2015

122

10 (8%)

35 / 87

May 2015

123

11 (9%)

35 / 88

April 2015

119

10 (8%)

34 / 85

March 2015

110

8 (7%)

31 / 79

February 2015

108

8 (7%)

31 / 77

January 2015

106

8 (8%)

30 / 76

December 2014

133

14 (11%)

33 / 100

The large decrease from 133 to 106 between December 2014 and January 2015 was due to
a Cohort review which was in accordance with the IOM Manual of Guidance. A further
refresh took place again between February and March 2017 and is again signified by a large
decrease in numbers. What does this tell us?

Figure 22 below gives a snapshot of re-offending for 2017, based on offence type, is as
follows and is typical of any period ;-

Page 42

33 | P a g e

Primary Offence

Arrests/Offences

Arrests/Offences

Jan- Mar 17

Apr- 27 Jun 17

29

39

8

18

Burglary

7

8

Assaults

10

5

Possession

3

6

Recall to Prison

4

6

Criminal Damage

5

5

Going Equipped

1

1

Public Order

6

0

Harassment

1

0

Warrant

0

0

Robbery

0

1

Handling / Receiving

0

1

PWITS

0

1

Arson

0

0

Threats to Kill

2

0

Offensive Weapon

0

1

Coercive Control

0

1

Vehicle Interference

1

0

Kidnap / False imprisonment

2

0

Indecent Exposure

1

0

Bomb Hoax

1

0

Malicious Communications

2

0

Driving Offences

0

0

TOTAL

83

93

Theft
Breach

of

Court

Orders

(mainly

th

CBO’s)

5.3 Cwm Taf Partnership initiatives to divert adult offenders
A key aspect of partnership working to reduce offending and reoffending centres on Early
Intervention Project. A number of programmes have been delivered within Cwm Taf which
are beginning to see early successes.
5.3.1 DIVERT
Reducing offending and reoffending amongst the 18 – 25 year age groups is a key priority
for the South Wales Police and Crime Commissioner. There is a strong evidence base that
nationally, 18-25 year olds are responsible for a disproportionate amount of overall crime.
The census of 2011 states that 11% of the Cwm Taf population were aged between 18-25

Page 43

34 | P a g e

however, the Cwm Taf (Rhondda Cynon Taf and Merthyr) data analysis of 2014 showed: (All
data below is for period 1st January 2014 to 31st December 2014)


A total of 18,096 crimes were recorded by South Wales Police across Cwm Taf
(Northern Division) with a total of 5,789 (32%) classified as being detected (as at
April 2015)



There were 3,870 unique offenders associated with these crimes, 1,135 of these
offenders were aged between 18-25. This equates to 29% of all offences 2014
were committed by the 18-25 age group



Violence against the person accounted for 48% of offences in this age group.
Theft (14%), Criminal damage (11%) and drug related offences (9%) were also
prominent



72% of all 18-25 offenders were involved in just one offence in this time period
and 81% of offenders were male



Of the First Time Entrants, there were a total of 313 aged 18-25 with a total of
176 First Time Entrants aged 18-21. 64% of First Time Entrants were Male (1825)



51 % of offences were Violence against the person (18-25)

In 2014, following funding from the PCC, the RCT Community Safety Team, developed and
coordinated a new project to reduce offending and prevent reoffending in the 18-25 year old
cohort within Cwm Taf. The pilot diversionary scheme in the Cwm Taf area initially
concentrated on reducing the number of 18-21 year old first time entrants into the CJS with a
view to expanding the criteria to the 18 – 25 year old cohort if warranted.
Key partners in the development and running of the project include South Wales Police, the
Wales Community Rehabilitation Company, the National Probation Service and the Cwm Taf
Youth Offending Service.
The original aims of the project were to :


Reducing offending and preventing re-offending in the 18-25 age group



Reduce offending and prevent re-offending in Cwm Taf



Engage with service providers and partner agencies to effectively tackle offender’s
prevailing issues

Page 44

35 | P a g e



Reduce the number of First Time Entrants into the Criminal Justice System in this
age group



Free up resources for partner agencies to allow intensive case management of reoffenders



Adopt an early intervention, problem solving approach for First Time Entrants (FTEs)

Progress to date
The pilot DIVERT 18-25 project was launched in April 2016 with two DIVERT 18-25
Coordinator’s in post and began to divert 18-21 year old first time entrants away from the
Criminal Justice System, but soon expanded the eligibility criteria to 18-25 year olds.
The DIVERT 18-25 project offers eligible young adults (Aged 18-25, Resident of RCT or
Merthyr, First Offence/Previous Caution, Low Level Offence (GMS 3 or below), Admission of
Guilt, No previous referral to DIVERT 18-25) a voluntary referral to the scheme at the point
of custody. As part of the project, each young adult undertakes a screening assessment to
ensure that they are suitable for diversion, they are offered onward referrals to appropriate
support services and attend a compulsory workshop aimed to educate the young adults
about the consequences of crime and a criminal record, addressing consequences of crime,
consequential thinking, victim empathy, emotion management and drug and alcohol
awareness. For those young adults who were under the influence of alcohol and had an
element of violence within their offence, they also attend an alcohol and aggression
workshop. Successful completion of the project leads to the individual receiving an ‘Out of
Court Disposal’ for their crime, rather than a criminal record.
Since the project was launched in March 2017, 153 young adults have been accepted onto
the project at the point of assessment. 7 young adults have disengaged resulting in a 95%
engagement rate. Analysis shows that for those participants who have completed the
workshop and received a diversionary ‘Out of Court Disposal’, there has been a 96% non
reoffending rate (measured at 12 months following completion of the intervention).


104 individuals have been eligible for a 6 month check. 4 have re-offended resulting
in a 96% non re-offending rate



56 individuals have been eligible for a 12 month check. 2 have re-offended resulting
in a 96% non re-offending rate.

In January 2017, the project was expanded to include an additional scheme called
SUPPORT 18-25, which offers a needs assessment and onward referral to appropriate
support services for ALL 18-25 year old offenders processed through Merthyr Bridewell who

Page 45

36 | P a g e

feel that they need some support with an element of their life e.g. mental health, drug and
alcohol, housing, benefits, employment, education etc. In providing this service, the DIVERT
18-25 team aim to enable these individuals to access appropriate support services and
thereby reduce the number of criminogenic risk factors in their lives and in turn their
likelihood of offending. To date 36 young adults have accessed SUPPORT 18-25 and
received support.
Since 1st September 2017 the DIVERT 18-25 Project Coordinator’s have been visiting young
adults whilst they have been in police custody. 24 of the 36 young adults have received
support since 1st September 2017 and there has been a 100% engagement rate.

5.3.2 Wales Integrated Serious and Dangerous Offender Management (WISDOM) Project.
WISDOM is an all Wales IOM Cymru Project jointly led by the National Police Chiefs Council
(NPCC) in Wales and Her Majesty’s Prison and Probation Service (HMPPS) in Wales. Cwm
Taf (Northern BCU) is the first operational pilot site in Wales.
The overall purpose of WISDOM is to better protect the public, achieved by enhancing public
protection arrangements to optimise collaboration in the identification, assessment and day
to day management of offenders who pose (multi-agency defined) high risk, threat and harm.
The types of offenders who will fall within the WISDOM definition of “high risk- threat and
harm” include:


High Risk Sexual and violent offenders



High Risk domestic abuse perpetrators



Serious and organised crime nominals



High risk foreign nationals



Other high risk priority groups

These cohorts / individuals will be `in scope’ of WISDOM irrespective of their criminal justice
status (including un-convicted nominals and non-statutory cases.)
WISDOM will manage this prioritised cohort of offenders who are identified as high risk,
threat or harm to the public and/or known victims and will be innovative in providing:


Co-located offender management units with staff from HMPPS in Wales (including
National Probation Service, Prisons, Forensic Psychology services) Wales
Community Rehabilitation Company, and Substance Misuse providers among others;



Core involvement of forensic psychology and personality disorder (health) services
including case formulations (enhanced risk management plans), direct offender

Page 46

37 | P a g e

interventions, building Police and partnership capability through advice, clinical
supervision and training;


Bespoke packages of interventions for high risk offenders;



Bespoke packages of monitoring / deterrence mechanisms including technologies
such as GPS tagging, electronic alcohol monitoring, crime mapping analysis and
polygraph testing;



Daily, dynamic intelligence exchange and joined up risk formulation / delivery of risk
management plans, aligned with existing statutory arrangements (e.g. multi Agency
Risk Assessment Conference and Multi Agency Safeguarding Hubs)

Early mobilisation of the Cwm Taf pilot commenced in April 2016 where an initial cohort of
31 were selected. This initial cohort was selected based upon the professional judgement of
the Project team and has recently been refreshed through the implementation of the MAPPA
Screening and selection panel process The cohort number remains the same but some of
the participants have been revised as the selection and operational processes have
embedded.
The team work with both custody and community cases with forty three percent of the
cohort currently in custody.. The current composition of the cohort is as follows: 54%
Domestic Abuse, 30% Serious Violence and 16% Sexual Offenders.
5.3.3 Women’s Pathfinder

In 2013, the National Offender Management Service (NOMS) in Wales funded the
establishment of the IOM Cymru Women’s Pathfinder Project The aim of the Pathfinder is to
‘design and deliver a women-specific, whole system, integrated approach to managing
women who come into contact with the Criminal Justice System (CJS) in Wales’. The main
objective of the Diversionary Scheme is the diversion of women out of the CJS and into
community interventions which would help them to address their problems. Women receive
‘Community Resolution’ once the initial assessment has been completed.
The Cwm Taf Diversionary scheme was launched in February 2016 and workes with many
partners to deliver the service, including Safer Merthyr Tydfil, Oasis Centre, TEDS, Drug Aid,
Gofal, Merthyr Valleys Homes, RCT Homes, Citizens Advice Bureau, Housing Options
Merthyr Tydfil, MAASH and Social Services.
To date the programme has received 299 referrals, with 289 successfully accepted onto the
scheme. Women who failed to attend/engage with the assessment were referred back to the

Page 47

38 | P a g e

arresting officer. Women accessing the scheme were aged between 18 years and 56 years.
The most frequently represented age group were aged between 25 - 35 years (37%) and 1824 years (27%). This age group represented 37% of all women accessing the scheme. The
two most common offence categories were Violence and Public Order.
Since its launch in February 2016, the Diversionary scheme has had a high engagement
from the women; over two thirds of the women assessed had identifiable needs at
assessment. Approximately fifth of assessments have identified high number of needs which
required urgent safeguarding; the team attending social services meetings and requesting
welfare

checks.

The

most

frequently

recorded

needs

during

assessment

are

accommodation, finance, benefit and debt and attitudes, thinking and behaviour. Over a
quarter of the women assessed had disclosed that they have experienced current or
previous domestic abuse and or sexual violence. Over 50% of women diverted were
unemployed including home maker, long term sick and full time carer. A small number of
women have since gained employment through support from the Safer Wales Diversionary
Scheme team and key partner agencies.
To date (2017) over 90% of women have engaged with the scheme, gaining access to
support that, in many cases, had not previously been accessed and many have made
progress in addressing their criminogenic needs. 200 women have exited the scheme, with
184 women have successfully completed the scheme; 16 women have failed to positively
engage with the scheme.
‘Good job I had the opportunity to access Pathfinder, by having someone to talk to and not
judge me, really helped me move on from a difficult time in my life. It should be more widely
known to others as it helped me access the support I needed when I needed it’ - Anna

5.3.4 DRIVE

The DRIVE initiative is a perpetrator management pilot designed to improve the safety of
female victims of domestic and sexual violence. It was initiated through three police force
areas, South Wales, West Sussex and Essex. With a specific focus on the research and
evaluation, outcomes of the referred cases are monitored and aligned to coordinated action
around perpetrators to provide the best possible chance of changing behaviour. Success
has been seen in parts of South Wales already through working with GPs and our partner
agencies, including local authorities, our local health boards, Public Health Wales the Fire
Service and third sector organisations. A key aim is to encourage prevention, identify victims
sooner and intervene practically through a victim centred approach. Where individuals

Page 48

39 | P a g e

choose not to engage, robust multi agency responses have been developed, including child
protection and criminal justice where appropriate. All DRIVE interventions have the primary
aim of reducing risk and increasing victim safety, through:
Support: to address the needs of the perpetrator with the aim of removing barriers to the
change process and reduce risk.
Disruption: to put barriers and obstacles in place to prevent abuse from taking place.
Behaviour Change: focused and specific interventions which aim to explicitly address the
perpetrators attitudes and behaviour in relation to domestic abuse.
198 cases were referred to DRIVE across the three Police regions, with the highest level of
direct contact and engagement with perpetrators taking place in Cwm Taf, South Wales. The
ongoing support for those engaging saw 6 perpetrators being supported through the
Domestic Violence perpetrators programme as part of their case exit strategy. Tackling
employment and housing issues all formed part of a suite of interventions to stabilise the
lives of the perpetrators and change behaviour. The programme continues for a further two
years with the anticipated cohort of perpetrators increasing to 600 by the end of year 2.
Other new initiatives that will build on the progress made on this project include the ‘Ask Me’
scheme through which up to 30 ‘community ambassadors’ will be trained to identify the signs
of abuse and to provide safe spaces within communities where women can report it.

5.4 Youth Offending Service
Figure 23 below shows the data for Cwm Taff Youth Offending Service and include both
RCT and Merthyr areas combined. The information has not been retained individually and
the data has only been recorded since April 2015.

Apr 15 – Jun

YRD

Caution

YCC

Court

Total

M/F

31

6

3

3

43

36 / 7

45

11

2

3

61

49 / 12

33

3

3

0

39

34 / 5

21

7

1

3

32

27 / 5

43

9

0

3

55

40 / 15

15
Jul 15 –
Sep 15
Oct 15 – Dec
15
Jan 16 – Mar
16
Apr 16 – Jun
16

Page 49

40 | P a g e

Jul 16 –

43

10

1

0

54

39 / 15

41

4

1

2

48

29 / 12

54

8

2

1

65

52 / 13

33

5

1

1

40

27 / 13

Sep 16
Oct 16 – Dec
16
Jan 17 – Mar
17
Mar 17 – Jun
17

Gender
Out of the above figures 97 offences were committed by female.
340 offences were committed by male.

22%
78%

Cwm Taf Youth Offending service focuses on three distinct areas in terms of performance
and in line with performance indicators established and reported to the Youth Justice Board.
These areas are First Time Entrants, Use of Custody and Re-offending.
5.4.1. First Time Entrants (FTE)

The Youth Offending Service, in conjunction with partner agencies, continues to have a
positive impact upon the reduction of first time entrants into the criminal justice system. Early
intervention and prevention remains a priority for the service in order to maintain and attempt
to further reduce the already significant reduction made over the years.
The following information (Figure 24) has been taken from the YOS database for the last
four years and has been compiled from July-June as it represents the most up-to-date
information.
Number of FTE’s

Rate per 100,000

Jul 2015 – Jun 2016

88

334

Jul 2014 – Jun 2015

60

224

Jul 2013 – Jun 2014

81

300

Jul 2012 – Jun 2013

94

344

The most contemporarily available annual information shows a reduction of 29.4% FTEs for
the period April 2016 – March 2017 in comparison to the number of FTEs for the same
period in the year before (April 2015 – March 2016). This relates to 226 young people per
100,000 in comparison to 323 for the previous year. (This represents better performance
than Wales with an average of 267 per 100,000.)

Page 50

41 | P a g e

5.4.2 Use of Custody

There were a total of 7 custodial episodes in 2016/17 which compared to a figure of 8 in the
previous year. Over the years, numbers of young people within the secure estate has
reduced significantly and the small numbers within this cohort means that a small increase
can represent a disproportionate % increase and subsequent decline in performance and
vice versa. The YOS investment in early intervention has contributed to a reduction in
custodial episodes in the longer term. The YOS also offers credible alternatives to custody
for young people who present at risk before the Courts.

5.4.3

YOS Re-Offending Rates

Re-offending rates are only recorded following a Statutory Disposal. Therefore a youth can
come through the bureau a number of times but unless they receive a Youth Caution or
above they will not be included in the figures. This will give a largely distorted view of the
good work that YOS are doing as a large proportion of youths coming through the bureau
process do not re-offend but this data is not captured and not taken into consideration when
calculating the re-offending figure.

The below data has been retrieved from the YOS database.

Re offending figures are calculated 2 years after the sentence to allow any interventions or
programmes to be successfully completed. So therefore if the sentence took place in 2013
the re offending figures will not be counted until 2015.

The re-offending rate for 2014 (calculated in 2016) was 47.2%.
The re-offending rate for 2013 (calculated in 2015) was 48%
The re-offending rate for 2012 (calculated in 2014) was 36.3%

Re-offending data and performance is not contemporary due to the need to track a cohort of
young people over a defined period of time (2 years). The most recent data (Oct 2014 – Sept
2015) shows that out of a cohort of 131, 66 young people went on to re-offend ((50%) and
committed a total of 204 offences. In comparison for the previous year out of a cohort of 144
young people, 68 went on to re-offend and committed 235 offences. Even though the
numbers of young people re-offending and the numbers of re-offences has reduced in the

Page 51

42 | P a g e

comparative years, the numbers of young people re-offending has not fallen by the same
proportion as the numbers in the cohort.

As above, the continued decrease in FTEs will continue to have a longer term knock on
effect and impact upon re-offending rates and in many ways these two measures have a
direct inter-relationship.

The YOS has recently invested in and commenced with the Enhanced Case Management
model and it is anticipated that this will have a longer term impact on re-offending. The YOS
management board has also recently merged with the Integrated Offender Management
board.

The YOS will continue to focus upon early intervention and prevention in order to reduce the
numbers of young people entering the Criminal justice system. This in turn aims to have an
impact upon use of custody and re-offending. Part of this early intervention approach uses
Youth Engagement Projects to deal with issues in the Community though Street Disposals.

5.4.4 Street Disposal Data.

The following data has been gathered by the analyst in relation to street disposals for
persons under the age of 18 within Cwm Taf. The following shows the gender split of these
individuals. (If someone has been linked 10 times they are counted 10 times). YOS collate
the data and arrange for the Prevention Team to visit the young person with a view to
preventing further offending.

Rates of Community Resolution (Figure 25)

Quarter

Female

Male

Total

Jan - Mar 16

10

12

22

Apr - Jun 16

24

44

68

Jul - Sep 16

21

54

75

Oct - Dec 16

17

81

98

Apr - Jun 17

15

50

65

Jan - Mar 17

40

63

103

Total

127

304

431

Page 52

43 | P a g e

Gender
Out of the above figures 97 offences were committed by female.
340 offences were committed by male.

29%
71%

The vast majority of early intervention and preventative activity within the YOS is externally
grant funded via Welsh Government and the Office of the Police and Crime Commissioner.
In the event of this funding being reduced or ceasing, there is a risk that the non statutory
preventative interventions would cease or be significantly reduced and adversely impact
upon re-offending rates.

Priority Two Recommendations
a) Review the WISDOM programme to better understand the complex needs of clients and
strengthen the programme to ensure, in partnership with Health Services, the
interventions delivered are appropriate and effective.
b) Consider the outcomes of the PCC evaluation of the DIVERT Programme and any
recommendations relating to Cwm Taf.
c) To continue to deliver the Youth Offending Service Delivery Plan and monitor outcomes
to ensure offending and re-offending rates continue to reduce.
d) Continue to work in partnership through the Youth Engagement Projects to facilitate early
intervention and prevention of youth offending.

Page 53

44 | P a g e

6.

Priority 3- Tackle Violence Against Women, Domestic Abuse
and Sexual Violence
Evidence of Need in Cwm Taf

6.1

The Violence against Women, Domestic Abuse and Sexual Violence (Wales) Act 2015 (‘The
Act’) places a strategic, and statutory, focus on the above issues, including the requirement
to have a National Strategy. The Cwm Taf Population Assessment [ADD LINK] has informed
the Cwm Taf strategic response to the pursuit of the prevention of violence and abuse, the
protection of victims and the support of all those affected.

Headlines


There are a high volume of incidents of violence reported to SW Police, despite this
volume we are aware that many incidents go unreported, therefore we are dealing
with a small proportion of actual abuse.



The number of people accessing support services are a small proportion of those
affected by abuse.



There is limited support available to low and medium risk victims, this equates to
significant unmet need.



Approximately half of high risk cases referred to local IDVA teams do not engage
with the support services.



Support services across Cwm Taf are not consistent in the way they are provided, or
the type of intervention provided.



Children were present in a high proportion of the household receiving support.



A high number of the individuals provided with housing related support were living in
either the social or private rented sectors.



A high proportion of victims provided with emergency accommodation within refuges
are from outside Cwm Taf.



Where the provider declined to provide emergency accommodation, the main
reasons were due to chaotic substance misuse or mental health.



There is very little direct support provided to children to combat the impact of
domestic abuse or sexual violence within their home environment.



The majority of cases brought to the specialist domestic violence courts result in a
positive outcome.



A relatively high number of cases per 10,000 population are referred to MARAC in
Cwm Taf.

Page 54

45 | P a g e



BME, LGBT and disabled victims are not being identified through the MARAC
process.



The only provider of services to victims of sexual violence within Cwm Taf is New
Pathways.



The majority of Violence against Women expenditure by service providers is on
support provision.



Currently there are limited opportunities for service users to be involved in the design
and delivery of services.

Across Cwm Taf progress has been made in adopting alternative and innovative models of
provision that address more directly early intervention and prevention. These models include
the Safe Project, IRIS project, the DRIVE perpetrators programme and the Spectrum
education programme.

6.2 National Training Framework and Ask and Act
The National Training Framework (NTF) on violence against women, domestic abuse and
sexual violence was published on 17 March 2016 and came into force on 1 April 2016. The
NTF Statutory Guidance outlines a series of different requirements for training across the
public service and specialist third sector depending on job role.

The NTF is aimed at all Public Service Professionals in Wales, particularly those involved in
learning and development, those working in the field of Violence against Women, Domestic
Abuse and Sexual Violence (VAWDASV) and Public Service Leaders.
A significant element of the NTF is the development of “Ask and Act”, a process of targeted
enquiry across the Public Service for domestic abuse, gender-based violence including
violence against women and sexual violence. Implementation of “Ask and Act” will provide
pro-active engagement with those who are vulnerable and hidden, at the earliest opportunity,
rather than reactively engaging with those who are in crisis or at imminent risk of serious
harm.
The early adoption project of “Ask and Act” came to an end in March and a second phase of
implementation will be rolled out in Cwm Taf, Welsh Ambulance Service Trust and the three
Fire and Rescue Authorities during 2017-18.

Page 55

46 | P a g e

6.3 Perpetrators
A key objective of the new National Strategy is an increased focus on holding perpetrators to
account and providing opportunities to change their behaviour based around victim safety.

Currently almost all interventions aimed at VAWDASV perpetrators are male perpetrators of
intimate partner violence who have female partners. These are not suitable for all
VAWDASV perpetrator and offence types. Furthermore, there is limited provision available
across Wales and many projects are in their infancy in terms of evidence and availability.
Services are not routinely compliant with relevant accreditation processes and there is no
consistent approach to meeting minimum standards of practice.

Work with perpetrators remains a new and emerging area of practice where the evidence
base is still developing. Whilst some significant research has been published, it is clear that
gaps remain and further research to establish ‘what works’ is necessary. This will include
consideration to developing prevention and early intervention services for perpetrators.

6.4 Survivor Engagement Framework
The National Strategy on Violence against Women, Domestic Abuse and Sexual Violence
2016 - 2021 contains a Welsh Government commitment to develop a sustainable national
survivor engagement framework to ensure that the needs and experiences of survivors of
these issues are understood and inform the continued development and delivery of
legislation, policy and strategy related to Violence against Women, Domestic Abuse and
Sexual Violence.

6.5 Service Performance
Unfortunately in respect of VAWDASV there are no robust datasets available nationally,
therefore the Cwm Taf needs analysis has to be based only on what is available locally.
Additionally there is no common performance framework that all services contribute to.

6.5.1 South Wales Police
The data presented in Fig 28 has been provided by South Wales Police. The data covers the
period April 2016 to August 2016 and identifies the amount of incidences that were reported

Page 56

47 | P a g e

in relation to each category of offence. From the data it can be determined that there were
1799 reported incidents of violence against women in Cwm Taf during this 5 month time
frame.
Figure 26 – SW Police (period April 2016 to August 2016)
Category

Total

1

All domestic abuse with injury

419

2

All domestic abuse without injury

663

3

All violence against women

1799

4

Serious sexual offences

184

5

Female Genital Mutilation

0

6

Honour Based Violence

1

7

Forced Marriage

0

6.5.2 Oasis Centre – IDVA Service
The Oasis Centre is the home of the RCT Independent Domestic Violence Advocate
Service. until recently the service was only available to those identified as high risk through
the SafeLives risk assessment process. This fact explains why only 1008 individuals out of
the 4081 Police Protection Notices (PPN’s) received were eligible for the provision. Some
additional capacity within the team now means support can be provided to some individuals
with standard to medium risk needs. The development of pathway with Women’s Aid RCT
has enabled those victims identified as standard or medium risk to receive early contact and
support.
From the figures it can be ascertain that roughly 50% of those eligible for the service
engaged with the service.
Figure 27 – Oasis Centre (period April 2015 to March 2016)
Police Protection Notice

4081

High Risk

1008

Referrals

197

Non consent numbers

601

Non contactable

20

Refusals

442

Engaged

546

Page 57

48 | P a g e

6.5.3

Teulu Multi Agency Centre – IDVA & Support Workers

Whilst the Teulu Multi Agency Centre is the home of the Merthyr IDVA service, it differs from
the Oasis Centre in so far that it offers a service to everyone irrespective of the level of risk.
Attempts are made to contact everyone who is referred or the centre receives a PPN for. A
key concern for Safer Merthyr Tydfil who run the service is the impact that domestic abuse
has on children. The 208 individuals who engaged with the service had between them 557
children.
Figure 28 – Teulu MAC (period April 2015 to March 2016)
Police Protection Notice

1526

Referrals

170

Non consent numbers

116

Non contactable

453

Refusals

919

Engaged

208

Children present

557

6.5.4

Supporting People – Merthyr Tydfil

The Supporting People Programme across Cwm Taf commissions a number of support and
accommodation based services for those who are or who have experienced domestic abuse.
These service help improve mental health, resilience and well being by providing vulnerable
people with better access to services and helps people achieve genuine independence,
choice and control over their lives by providing support to help people live more
independently. The figures below represent the numbers who presented to Merthyr Tydfil
supporting peoples team with a lead need of domestic abuse.
Figure 29 – Supporting People – Merthyr Tydfil (period April 2015 to March 2016)
Domestic Abuse

Female

Male

Total

Housing Association

19

19

Hostel

3

3

Not Known

1

1

NFA

1

1

Private Rent

9

1

10

With Family & Friends

1

1

2

With relatives

1

Total

92

1
2

Page 58

94

49 | P a g e

6.5.5 Supporting People – Rhondda Cynon Taf
Supporting People funded services in RCT offer a range of services including emotional and
therapeutic based projects and housing related support for individuals who are or who have
experienced domestic abuse.
Figure 30 - Supporting People – Rhondda Cynon Taf (period April 2015 to March 2016)
Domestic Abuse

Female

Male

Total

Housing Association

32

2

34

Owner Occupiers

8

0

8

Hostel

9

0

9

Not Known

6

0

6

Private Rent

22

2

24

With Family & Friends

8

0

8

Care leavers

2

0

2

Total

87

4

91

From Table IV and V it is clear that the largest group of individuals requiring housing related
supported are within the rented accommodation sector, with a social or private landlord.
6.5.6 Women’s Aid RCT
Women’s Aid provides a number of different domestic abuse services within RCT including
the safe programme and tenancy support, however the information below relates only to
their refuge provision. The tables below demonstrate that the majority of individuals
accommodated in RCT refuges are not from RCT and individuals are declined a place in
refuge primarily due to chaotic mental health or substance misuse.
Figure 31 – Women’s Aid RCT (period April 2015 to March 2016)
Numbers Referred / Accommodated from RCT and Areas Other Than RCT

RCT

84

59

36% of all were referrals from RCT we
accommodated 70%

Other Authorities – Wales

129

80

55% of all referrals were from other LA’s
in Wales we accommodated 62%

Authorities - England

20

16

8% of all referrals were from LA’s in
England we accommodated 80%

Total

233

155

Page 59

50 | P a g e

Figure 32 – Women’s Aid RCT (period April 2015 to March 2016)
Numbers Referred Accommodated / Unable to Accommodate - Presenting with Additional Support
Needs
Mental

Health

Drug & Alcohol Support

Support
Accommodated

97

(62%)

72 (46%)

Unable to accommodate

Unable to Accommodate

7

(19%)

11 (30%)

15% of the total referrals
during 2015 -2016, of
those declined 50% were
due to the high level of
either mental health or
drug and alcohol support
needs.

The data below has also been provided by Women’s Aid and again indicates that the women
that are known to services generally have children, and that these children also require
support.
Figure 33 – Women’s Aid RCT- Children & Young People (period April 2015 to March 2016)
Number of child protection referrals

23

Number of CYP supported in refuge

128

Number of CYP supported in Community

27

6.5.7 Children’s Services – Rhondda Cynon Taf
The data provided by RCT Children’s services appears to be indicating that only a small
proportion of the children known to domestic abuse services are escalated to the statutory
sector.
Figure 34 – Domestic Violence Contacts, Referrals & Assessments (period April 2015 to
March 2016)
Female

Male

Not

Unknown

Total

recorded
Domestic Violence Contacts

611

655

5

1

1272

Domestic Violence Referrals

31

24

-

-

55

23

28

-

-

51

Assessments

linked

to

Domestic Violence Contacts

Page 60

51 | P a g e

6.5.8 Community Rehabilitation Company (CRC)
The Community Rehabilitation Company works with low and medium level offenders
therefore the table below confirms that in respect of violence against women the
organisation works primarily with perpetrators and these are predominantly males.
Figure 35 – CRC Low & Medium Risk Offenders (period April 2015 to March 2016)
Victims

Perpetrators

Female

Male

Female

Male

22

2

23

289

6.5.9 Specialist Domestic Violence Courts
Within VAWDASV service provision it is acknowledged that many victims do not want to
pursue a conviction in the court for many and varied reasons. However what the data shows
that if a conviction is pursued then there is an 86% success rate.
Figure 36 – Court Outcomes- April 2015 to March 2016.
Total Outcomes

Successful Outcomes

Merthyr

305

263

Rhondda Cynon Taf

650

554

955

817

Domestic Violence cases represent a significant proportion of the cases taken to Court in
Cwm Taf, and Merthyr Court Circuit report one of the highest proportions of “guilty” pleas at
first hearing, avoiding the need for a full trial and witness attendance. However, of those
which result in a “not guilty” plea and are listed for trial, using June 2017 as a reference
month, 61% of the trails listed for a full hearing did not proceed as a result of the prosecution
not proceeding with the case or the defendant changing their plea to “guilty” in advance of
the trial. In the same month, only 36% of trials proceeded as scheduled.
The impact of this level of failure rate on witnesses and the associated costs to the public
purse are significant. Improvements in performance in the preparation and decision making
associated with the Criminal Justice System for Domestic Violence cases will improve the
Court experience for witnesses and the outcomes for victims.
6.5.10 Multi Agency Risk Assessment Conference (MARAC)
MARAC data is collected and collated by the Safe Lives organisation and compares Cwm
Taf data to a national average and a similar police force area. Fig 39 appears to

Page 61

52 | P a g e

demonstrate that the BME, LGBT and disability groups within Cwm Taf are not as engaged
in the MARAC process as perhaps they should be.
Figure 37 – MARAC Data (period April 2015 to March 2016)
Indicator

National

Most

Similar

Merthyr

RCT

Force Group
Cases discussed

81,764

18,509

180

527

Cases per 10,000 population

33

43

73

54

Children in household

103,404

24,072

248

618

Repeat cases

25%

31%

14%

14%

BME

15%

10%

4%

1%

LGBT

1%

1%

0%

0.4%

Disability

3.9%

3.6%

0.6%

0%

6.5.11 New Pathways
New Pathways is the sole provider of rape crisis and sexual abuse support services in Cwm
Taf. During the April 2015 to March 2016 period the total number of clients accessing this
service was 517
Figure 38 - New Pathways (period April 2015- March 2016)
SARC clients 'In Service'

Adults

Children

Female

Male

Total

Female

Male

Total

Totals

155

35

190

103

23

126

Referred by Police

113

24

137

82

15

97

Self Referral

21

7

28

2

1

3

Other referral source

21

4

25

19

7

26

Police Involvement

114

25

139

83

13

96

CSA

11

2

13

18

3

21

Grooming

n/a

n/a

n/a

3

2

5

Rape

98

14

112

48

5

53

Sexual Assault

34

13

47

22

8

30

Other

14

5

19

12

4

16

Not recorded

0

0

0

0

0

0

Referral reason

Table XIV - counselling clients
'In Service'

Totals

Adults

Children

Female

Male

Total

Female

Male

Total

165

36

201

53

23

76

Page 62

53 | P a g e

Referred by Police

2

0

2

5

1

6

Self Referral

51

13

64

2

1

3

Other referral source

112

23

135

46

21

67

Historic sexual (adults only)

165

36

201

CSA

n/a

n/a

n/a

28

6

34

Grooming

n/a

n/a

n/a

1

0

1

Rape

n/a

n/a

n/a

9

2

11

Sexual Assault

n/a

n/a

n/a

5

3

8

Non-sexual

n/a

n/a

n/a

3

8

11

Other

n/a

n/a

n/a

7

4

11

Referral reason

Priority Three Recommendations
The agreed aims of the Cwm Taf VAWSVDA Strategy are:
•

Aim 1: Increase awareness of violence against women, domestic abuse and sexual
violence across the Cwm Taf Population

•

Aim 2: Enhance education provision in relation to healthy relationships and gender
equality

•

Aim 3: Hold perpetrators to account for their actions and support them to change
their behaviour

•

Aim 4: Enable professionals to provide effective, timely and appropriate responses to
victims and survivors

•

Aim 5: Increase the number of specialist services that are of high quality across the
Cwm Taf region

•

Aim 6: Strengthen collaborative working across the sector to understand and meet
the needs of our communities, increasing the sustainability and capacity of the
sector.

Further recommendations arising from the Needs Assessment are:
a) Improve the preparation of and decision making process associated with Criminal
Prosecutions of Domestic Violence cases to improve the timely achievement of
outcomes for victims, Court efficiency and a reduction in costs.
b) Improve information sharing between partners about victims of Domestic Abuse and
Sexual Violence in defined household types to improve understanding of their
complex needs and their confidence in the Criminal Justice System.

Page 63

54 | P a g e

Priority 4- Promote Safe and Confident Communities
7.1 Managing the Night Time Economy.
The night time economy concerns the economic activity occurring between the hours of 6pm
to 6am. This encompasses a range of activities from restaurants and establishments serving
food, the on and off trade sale of alcohol, music venues and clubs with dancing and
entertainment, cinemas and other leisure activities. The night time economies are a valuable
asset to Cwm Taf. They create jobs, revenue and provide opportunities for people to
socialise. However, evidence at international, national and regional levels has demonstrated
that the growth of the night time economy has been associated with increasing levels of antisocial behaviour, criminal activity and substance misuse. The night time economy can be a
complex policy area to tackle, involving a broad range of agencies and stakeholders who
need to work collectively to ensure a safe and enjoyable night time economy experience.
This includes developing and maintaining an environment which is attractive and sustainable
for all ages and developing targeted, intelligence led prevention strategies in order to move
away from a culture of substance misuse and harm.
The night time economy historically has generally been focused in and around the Town
areas of Pontypridd, Aberdare and Merthyr and is generally spread in the Rhondda between
Pentre, Porth and Tonypandy. It is known that a key concern associated with the night time
economy is the associated misuse of substances, in particular alcohol, and incidence of
violent crime. Violence against the person since 2012/13 has seen an increase of 5,495
offences (145%), over the last 5 years for each sector.

Figure 39 - Violence 5 years

Violence against the person 5yrs
Northern BCU
10000
8000
6000
4000
2000
2012/13

2013/14

2014/15

2015/16

2016/17

The sector breakdown of Violence Against the Person offences show that the Rhondda
(9,579) 31% and Taff (8,242) 26% had highest levels, whilst Cynon (6,691) 22% and Merthyr

Page 64

55 | P a g e

(6,618) 21% had the least. Within the overarching Violence Against the Person category is
Violence with injury which includes the more serious offences. Data is only available from
2013/14 to 2016/17 (4yrs) which showed over 10,366 offences (of which 36% were domestic
related).

It is of note that the focus in recent years has been placed on victims and increased
reporting which is likely to have influenced the increases over the period reviewed.

Figure 40: Public Health Wales Cwm Taf Violent Crime Overview

The ‘Managing the Night Time Economy in Wales’ Framework (July 2016) has been
developed by Welsh Government in partnership with Public Health Wales and key
stakeholders. The development of the Framework considered the social determinants of
health and well-being, consideration of any vulnerable groups who would be affected by the
Night Time Economy Framework, as well as the general population as a whole. It also
considered the impacts of the night time economy on those key stakeholders who would be
affected by, have an interest in, or are required to manage the night time economy. Using
ambitions laid out in the Well-Being of Future Generations (Wales) Act (2015), the
framework has shifted from a reactive focus, to a proactive and preventive approach to
support prosperous and safe night time economies in Wales. The Cwm Taf Partnership,

Page 65

56 | P a g e

through the Area Planning Board, is working to implement the Framework through a local
action plan. Specifically, the Objectives of the Framework are:

Objective 1.-To support the development of a systematic approach to increase
understanding of the night time economy based on intelligence and accurate information.

Objective 2- To promote sustainable environments and support prevention strategies to
create healthy, safe and diverse night time economies in Wales.

Objective 3- To support effective multi-agency management of the night time economy and
enforcement at the local level.

7.1.1

The Community Alcohol Partnership

An example of successful partnership working to address cross-cutting issues is the
implementation of the Community Alcohol Partnership (CAP) in Porth in November 2016 as
part of a Welsh Government initiative to support areas in Wales in tackling the problems
caused by underage drinking and associated anti-social behaviour. The CAP aims to tackle
underage drinking and the resulting harm to local communities.

A combination of

enforcement, education, engagement of the community and local businesses, and provision
of appropriate positive activity for young people is the hallmark of the CAP model.
Porth was the third CAP to be launched in Wales and was chosen after an analysis of
alcohol related incidents in Rhondda Cynon Taf was conducted. The findings of the analysis
indicated that Porth had the largest number of alcohol related anti social behaviour incidents
in RCT.
The resultant action plan for Porth includes:


Training and advice for licensees



Test purchasing exercises



Training and advice for parents



Promoting of new and existing diversionary activities



Multi agency patrols / operations



Alcohol education sessions in schools

During 2017, focus has continued on the alcohol related youth annoyance in the area, and
due to the multi agency operations carried out and our engagement with the Licensed

Page 66

57 | P a g e

Premises indications are that Anti Social Behaviour has reduced by 24% in the Porth area, in
comparison with 2016.

7.2 Anti-social behaviour (ASB)
Anti Social Behaviour is a broad term used to describe the day to day incidents of crime,
nuisance and disorder that have a negative impact on people’s lives- from litter to vandalism,
to public drunkenness or aggressive dogs, to noisy or abusive neighbours. The focus of the
available legislation and the Community Safety Partnership is victims, many of whom are the
most vulnerable in our communities and can be significantly affected by ASB, particularly
when it is targeted and persistent.
Generally, ASB is influenced by events including Christmas holidays (New Year’s Eve),
school holiday periods, Halloween, bonfire night and sporting events. Trends appear to
repeat yearly, reflecting certain types of ASB which include Grass fires in March to May, offroad motorcycles and scramblers during the summer months, Halloween and bonfire night in
teh Autumn and the Christmas holiday periods. Repeat victims/callers tend to reflect some
‘hotspot’ locations and monitoring of trends is important to identify appropriate interventions,
either through lcoalised activity or targeted campaigns.

ASB in Northern BCU has seen a substantial reduction year on year over the last 5 years
since 2012/13 but with some variance by sector (See Figure 41).

Figure 41: - ASB Northern 5yrs

ASB - NORTHERN BCU (5yrs)
11,000
10,500
10,000
9,500
9,000
8,500
8,000
7,500
2012/13

2013/14

2014/15

2015/16

2016/17

Over the 5 year period, the Rhondda (2,441) 30% and Taff (2,238) 27% have recorded the
highest levels of ASB. Cynon (1,824) 22% and Merthyr (1,672) 21% recorded the least.
Rhondda and Taff both saw increases between 2013/14 and 2014/15 and Rhondda, Taff
and Cynon last year (2015/16-2016/17).

Page 67

58 | P a g e

Figure 42 - ASB by sector

ASB by Sector (5yrs)
2,900
2,400
1,900
1,400
2012/13

2013/14
Merthyr

2014/15
Rhondda

2015/16
Cynon

2016/17

Taff

We continue to work with partners to tackle anti-social behaviour through targeted
interventions and promoting community safety.
Initiatives undertaken include, visits to various communities within Cwm Taf to engage
residents on community safety issues such as the clean-up operation that was held in
Treherbert where partners including Trivallis, Police, Fire Service, Anti-Social Behaviour
Unit, local business and street cleansing services removed waste and graffiti from a block of
flats, gave advice and guidance to vulnerable residents within the vicinity. As a result of our
work in Aberdare to address youth annoyance associated with the skate park, the
partnership won the Police and Crime Commissioners Partnership award for its partnership
approach to addressing anti-social behaviour.
The Partnership adopts a staged approach to early intervention to address ASB which
ranges from a letter of concern, to an application to the courts for a Civil Injunction.
1st Stage – Formal recording – letter to perpetrator
2nd Stage – Formal recording – letter and home visit to perpetrator by council and South
Wales Police anti social behaviour officers
3rd Stage – Formal recording – letter to perpetrator – case conference and acceptable
behaviour contract. At this stage a formal warning about the behaviour is given and also the
partners are able to explore if any underlying causes are contributing to behaviour. The
person responsible is offered support to help them stop the behaviour complained of. The
case is listed for a multi-agency anti-social behaviour management group meetings where
efforts are made to find solutions to the problems being caused. Solutions could include
signing an Acceptable Behaviour Contract or victim mediation work. Every effort is made to
prevent further incidents of anti-social behaviour.

Page 68

59 | P a g e

4th Stage – Formal recording – Civil Injunction In those cases where incidents of anti-social
behaviour continue and the efforts by the problem solving group are unsuccessful
consideration is given to court action. This could mean an application for a Criminal
Behaviour Order or proceedings in a civil court for evictions or other action against problem
tenants.
During the 2016-17 Financial Year, 1612 incidents of ASB was referred to the RCT ASB
Team and the interventions undertaken were as follows (Figure 43).
ABC

Injunction CBO

CPN/Fixed Visit

Stage

Stage

1

2

QTR 1

163

15

1

1

1

1

14

QTR 2

140

20

0

0

1

0

5

QTR 3

136

15

0

0

0

0

6

QTR 4

171

16

0

0

0

0

4

Penalty

7.2.1 ASB Victims
Rhondda Cynon Taf adopts a victim led approach when dealing with Anti Social Behaviour
cases. A designated Victim Officer is in post to provide support and advice to those
experiencing Anti Social Behaviour. This officer co-ordinates a multi agency response to
solving the problems faced by victims as well as ensuring that any underlying issues are
addressed.
During 2016-17, 86% of our most high risk vulnerable victims said that they felt safer
following the intervention and support received from our dedicated victims officer within the
anti social behaviour team. This compares to 82% in 2015-16. .
The team also focus on providing support and problem solving responses to vulnerable and
repeat victims of anti social behaviour. Individual action plans will be created to support
those victims being managed by the unit.
The team aims to stop the problems being suffered by victims and ensures partner agencies
involved are working together to achieve this aim. We work alongside Victim Focus who can
provide long term emotional support for victims of anti-social behaviour.


To support victims of ASB, the Partnership focus is on: Continue to review the antisocial behaviour process to ensure that it is more victims focused.

Page 69

60 | P a g e



Identify vulnerable repeat victims of anti social behaviour quickly in order to provide
support and take appropriate action against the perpetrators.



Ensure adequate support is in place to help victims to deal with the long term effects
of anti-social behaviour, improving their wellbeing.



Promote the work of the Community Safety partnership in the community to reduce
the fear of anti social behaviour in Cwm Taf.

7.2.2 Public Space Protection Orders

PSPO’s give local authorities the necessary powers to introduce restrictions on activities and
behaviours deemed to be anti-social and occurring in public spaces.
Powers to create PSPOs (Public Space Protection Orders) came into force in October 2014
as part of the Anti Social Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014 which introduced several
new tools and powers for use by councils and their partners to address anti social behaviour
in their local area. The new orders replace Designated Public Place Order, Gating Orders
and Dog Control Orders. Existing DPPOs, Gating Orders and Dog Control Orders continue
in force until 19th October 2017 or until they are discharged by the council, whichever is
earliest. Orders still in force on 20th October 2017 will automatically become PSPOs. Both
Merthyr Tydfil and RCT Council has DPPOs in place when the legislation was changed.
In March 2017, Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council implemented a Borough wide PSPO
to tackle alcohol related anti social behaviour. This Borough wide Order replaced 3 area
specific DPPOs which were already in existence and revoked in favour of restrictions within
all public spaces in the Merthyr Tydfil County Borough. The decision to seek a Borough wide
Order was made to avoid issues with displacement and to promote consistency throughout
the Borough for Police Officer’s and the Public.

Page 70

61 | P a g e

RCT CBC is currently undertaking a review of its DPPO from 2012 which is a County wide
Order controlling drinking in public places. The review is looking at current evidence of public
drink related anti social behaviour to establish whether the problem of alcohol related ASB is
persistent, unreasonable and having a detrimental effect upon residents and visitors to the
County Borough. Following the review, a report will be prepared for the Community Safety
Board with recommendations for future controls that have come out of the review. A final
cabinet paper will be submitted in December outlining options for endorsing the PSPO and
to commence a period of public consultation on any changes identified for any new PSPO.

7.3

Acquisitive crimes

7.3.1 Burglary and Theft

After a reduction between 2012/13 and 2013/14, burglary dwelling has seen a yearly
increase, returning to 2012/13 levels in 2016/17 (Figure 44).

Figure 44 - Burglary of dwellings, Northern BCU

Burglary dwelling Northern BCU
(5yrs)
750
700
650
600
550
2012/13

2013/14

2014/15

2015/16

2016/17

The trends of each sector varies, but the Rhondda (738) 30% and Merthyr (663) 27%
recorded the highest levels of burglaries, followed by Taff (560) 23% and Cynon (492) 20%.

Rhondda saw an increase in offences between 2013/14 and 2015/16, but a decrease last
year, making it the second highest locality for 2016/17 after recording the highest levels for
three years.

Page 71

62 | P a g e

Taff burglaries appear to follow an inconsistent pattern, with an increase last year (2016/17)
from a previous low level. Taff recorded the highest level of burglaries in 2012/13 and the
lowest in both 2013/14 and 2015/16.

Merthyr recorded a slight decrease last year after an increase in 2015/16. Cynon has
generally remained stable over the reporting period.

Figure 45 - Burglary by area over 5 years

Burglary dwelling Northern BCU
by sector (5yrs)
250
200
150
100
2012/13

2013/14
Cynon

2014/15
Merthyr

2015/16
Rhondda

2016/17

Taff

Burglary monthly trends are affected by a number of factors including Cross border and
prolific offenders, organised crime groups operating in the area and seasonal trends such as
holiday periods or warm weather leading to more windows left open. A burglary category
Home Office class change took place in April 2017 where a new class was created ‘Residential burglary’. This includes garages and sheds in or connected to a dwelling
property (which was previously recorded under Burglary Other). This new categorisation will
see future levels of recording a step above that previously recorded with the original
classification and will therefore affect the data reported.
7.3.2 Vehicle crime

Vehicle crime has seen a decrease in both categories over the 5 year period. Theft from
motor vehicles was down by 23% and Theft of motor vehicles down by 35%. (2012/13
compared to 2016/17).
Figure 46 – Theft of / theft from motor vehicles over 5 years

Page 72

63 | P a g e

All crime 5yrs

2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 Total

Dif

Perc

Theft of motor vehi cl e

474

407

388

369

310

1948 -164 -35%

Theft from motor vehi cl e

1221

1186

1210

1004

946

5567 -275 -23%

Tota l

1695

1593

1598

1373

1256

7515 -439 -26%

7.3.3

Business crime

Across Cwm Taf, there is a network of almost 300 public space surveillance cameras
installed to monitor our town centres, communities and public buildings. A key part of their
role is the "live" monitoring of the cameras, using their skills and the latest technology to
keep an eye on activity and protect the public. This can be from helping to find a lost child in
a town centre to alerting patrolling police staff of suspicious activity or individuals. It has long
been recognised that the CCTV unit has been crucial in ensuring our town centres and
public spaces remain safe and enjoyable places to visit, leading to hundreds of arrests and
being involved in thousands of incidents each year.

CCTV is also the essential link in the RCT town centre-wide Radio Net scheme, in which
member businesses, shops and partner agencies communicate with each other via a shared
radio system operating across the town centre. Radio Net provides reassurance to staff and
customers by allowing communities to be in instant communication with each other, for a
proactive approach to reducing and managing crime. Participation in the scheme is good in
Aberdare but promotion and use of the Scheme in Pontypridd could be improved to ensure
better coverage in the Town Centre.

The British Retail Crime (BRC) survey 2016 has identified a number of strategic areas of
focus which presents the most risk to businesses and have been prioritised below (tier in
terms of risk) they include:
1.

Violent abuse against staff [tier 1]

2.

Organised Crime [tier 2]

3.

Fraud [tier 2]

4.

Cyber Crime [tier 2]

5.

Terrorism [tier 3]

6.

Customer Theft [tier 3]

7.

Insider Threats [tier 3]

8.

Robbery [tier 3]

9.

Burglary [tier 4]

10.

Criminal Damage [tier 4]

Page 73

64 | P a g e

The report suggests that customer theft is the most common type of crime accounting for
75% of crime by incidents. Notable increases include cybercrime (Hacking) rising from 14%
in 2015 to 50% in 2016.
Based on the 2016 BRC survey, the BCU should focus on the above tiers in terms of its
strategy towards business crime. (BRC report - https://brc.org.uk/media/116322/10081-brcretail-crime-survey-2016_v6.pdf ).

Other thefts (which includes shoplifting) has remained stable in the BCU over the last 5
years. As a shplifting offence is usually only reported if an offender is detained or arrested,
this suggests practices remain similar.

Shoplifting trends over the last 5 years show peaks in May/June, October and February, with
the 2 weeks before Christmas presenting a particular risk.

Figure 47 – Shoplifting by month in Northern BCU

Shoplifting Northern BCU
(5yrs)
700
600
500
400
300
200
100
0
Apr

May
2016/17

Jun

Jul

Aug

2015/16

Sep
2014/15

Oct

Nov
2013/14

Dec

Jan
2012/13

Feb

Mar

Total

Shoplifting has seen a -8.5% (130) reduction between 2015/16 (1,538) and 2016/17 (1408).
Taff was the only sector to see an increase (of 13% (50)). The highest proportion of offences
generally take place at supermarkets, (Tesco, Asda etc) within the BCU, with the threat of
organised crime groups targeting the larger retail outlets historically at Talbot Green. (Taff).

7.4

What the Public are telling us (COMPASS SURVEY 2017) :


Most people feel crime and antisocial behaviour has remained the same in the last
12 months.

Page 74

65 | P a g e



69.4% of those surveyed feel safe in their community (down from 82.8% in 2014/15 –
a drop of 16.2%). The National Survey for Wales reports that 63% of Merthyr
residents and 69% of RCT residents feel safe (at home, walking in the local area and
travelling), which ranks the LAs 16th and 20th respectively of the 22 Welsh LAs.



Additional research shows that repeat victims of ASB have a significant impact on
demands for services, and the services of our partners.
o

Perception of ASB is that it’s remained the same however reported levels
have seen an increase Jan – March 2017



Victim satisfaction figures are lower for ASB victims than crime victims



Fewer people feel drunk and rowdy behaviour is a very or fairly big problem (18.9%,
down from 20.2% - a decline of 6.4%). (The 2016 National Crime Survey for England
and Wales figure for South Wales Police was 16.3% ).



Results indicate an under-reporting of hate crime and ASB due to feelings of little
chance of offender being caught or that the police would not be interested.



Visibility of PCSOs: those satisfied with PCSO visibility / where people know their
PCSO report higher feelings of safety and perceptions that the police are doing a
good job. Conversely, those dissatisfied are most likely to be form a challenged
neighbourhood with higher levels of crime and ASB.
o

24% of responders said they were dissatisfied with visibility of PCSOs.

7.4.1 Town Centre Perception Survey
Safer Town Centres is one of many priorities for Rhondda Cynon Taf Community Safety
Partnership. Over the years the local authority and partners have run proactive operations,
designed to disrupt anti social behaviour, detect licensing offences, deter environmental
criminal activity, enforce parking restrictions and address perceived problems within the
Town Centres of Pontypridd and Aberdare. A crime perception survey is carried out annually
in Aberdare and Pontypridd Town Centre to assess the impact we are having in our towns.


In 2017, both Pontypridd and Aberdare have reported an increase in the public
witnessing crime and disorder within the town centres based on previous years.



Of those surveyed, 46% stated that they had witnessed some form of crime and
disorder within the town centres over the last 12 months.



The 2016/2017 survey saw an increase of 51% responses compared to 2015/16
(322 responses were received for 2016/17 in comparison to 219 for 2015/16).



Overall 75% of those surveyed said they felt safe or very safe in the town centres.

Page 75

66 | P a g e

Priority Four Recommendations
a) Deliver the actions identified to support Delivery against the Managing the Night time
Economy Framework
b) Through an effective Partnership to tackle Anti Social Behaviour to:
I.

Continue to work with partners to tackle anti-social behaviour through
targeted interventions and promoting community safety, through effective
monitoring of incidents of ASB / hotspot ASB areas

II.

Work with intervention and prevention services to engage and support
young people.

III.

Establish robust reporting mechanisms to improve data quality and
collection for analysis and improve future planning with key services, for
example closure orders with housing, PSPO for alcohol in the town
centres.

IV.

Through the Quality Of Life Partnership Forum, coordinate multi-agency
activities to effectively manage repeat perpetrators of anti social behaviour
and target hot spot location areas.

V.

Implement initiatives to address the prevalence of alcohol use within anti
social behaviour, for example using a Community Alcohol Partnership
approach.

c) Review the findings of Research undertaken in 2017-18 to understand the link
between the Nightime Economy, Violence against the person and first time entrants
to the Criminal Justice System
d) Target positive community messages around reduction in ASB and crime in specific
wards identified (signpost to www.ourcwmtaf.wales).
e) Use of Mosaic data to understand the socio-economic groups (modest traditions,
municipal challenge and transient renters) most likely to experience ASB and
potentially resolve, including focusing patrols and resources, targeting areas where
people are worried about being a victim, engaging with people in these areas about
the local issues and targeting publicity campaigns according to preferred
communication channels.
f) Develop targeted confidence building campaigns for areas of Cwm Taf where ASB
under-reporting is known.

Page 76

67 | P a g e

g) Undertake a review into the requirements of PACT to ensure it remains relevant and
valued by communities, and act on learning points identified.
h) Review the finings of the DPPO Review in RCT and action the recommendations
arising for a Public Consultation in 2018 and the decisions taken by Elected
Members in relation to ongoing controls for alcohol use in public spaces.
i)

Monitor and evaluate the outcomes achieved by the Merthyr Tydfil Town Centre
PSPO.

j)

Engage with Business Sector in Town Centres to promote partnership working and
effective communication models, including promotion of use of Store-net to tackle
knowmn offenders operating in towns.

k) To Develop a Partnership Strategy to reduce Business Crime across Cwm Taf.
l)

Recommendation about tackling Acquisitive Crimes- to develop

Page 77

68 | P a g e

7.

Priority

5-

Protect

Vulnerable

groups

from

harm

and

victimisation
8.1

Prevention of Homelessness

The Housing (Wales) Act 2014 introduced a new duty for all local authorities in Wales to
provide help to any homeless person to help them secure a home. Positive action to prevent
homelessness cannot be taken once the authority is satisfied that someone is, or has
become, homeless (for example, the authority has notified the person of a decision and
owes a duty under Section 73). Following notification that an applicant is homeless the local
authority will be under a duty to take reasonable steps to help to secure accommodation. For
positive action to be recorded as successful, the authority must be satisfied that the
intervention is likely to result in homelessness being relieved for at least 6 months and the
accommodation is suitable.

Figure 48 below shows the percentage of successful prevention outcomes (Section 66),
successful relief outcomes (Section 73) and positive discharges (Section 75) during 201516.
This shows that Gwynedd had both the highest percentage of successful prevention
outcomes (Section 66) and of successful homelessness relief outcomes (Section 73) during
2015-16 at 85 per cent and 64 per cent respectively. The lowest percentage of successful
prevention outcomes was recorded in Merthyr Tydfil at 44% with RCT at 48.7%. The lowest
percentage of successful homelessness relief outcomes was in Denbighshire at 29 per cent
with Merthyr Tydfil and RCT performance ranked at 15th and 16th respectively out of 22 LAs
in Wales.
During 2015-16, for those households assessed as eligible unintentionally homeless and in
priority need (Section 75) the homelessness was positively discharged in 100 per cent of
cases across 4 authorities, the Isle of Anglesey, Flintshire, Wrexham and Blaenau Gwent. In
10 of the 22 local authorities (including RCT) the percentage of positive discharge outcomes
was above the Wales average of 80 per cent whilst the lowest percentage was reported by
Neath Port Talbot at 55 per cent. Merthyr Tydfil performance was 62.5%.

Page 78

69 | P a g e

Figure 48: Percentage of cases where positive action succeeded in preventing (Section 66)
or

relieving (Section 73 and Section 75)

homelessness,

2015-16 (a) (b) (c)

(d)
Local authority

Homelessness
successfully prevented
(Section 66)

Homelessness
successfully relieved
(Section 73)

Isle of Anglesey
Gw ynedd

60.1
84.6

61.1
64.0

100.0
94.1

Conw y

70.0

39.7

70.6

Denbighshire

55.1

29.0

80.0

Flintshire

75.9

53.6

100.0

Wrexham

59.4

52.6

100.0

Pow ys

71.0

48.6

75.8

Ceredigion

69.3

49.4

76.8

Pembrokeshire

68.8

59.1

87.5

Carmarthenshire

53.1

43.3

85.5

Sw ansea

75.4

58.2

68.8

Neath Port Talbot

52.2

45.7

54.5

Bridgend

64.2

40.3

62.5

Vale of Glamorgan

53.9

39.5

72.9

Cardiff

70.6

35.1

88.4

Rhondda Cynon Taf 48.7

40.7

93.4

Merthyr Tydfil

44.4

41.1

62.5

Caerphilly

78.2

62.4

78.2

Blaenau Gw ent

58.6

63.2

100.0

Torfaen

64.2

32.7

68.1

Monmouthshire

73.8

41.1

68.4

New port

62.5

47.9

69.1

Source:
data collection
Wales Statutory Homelessness
64.5
45.1from local authorities

Positively discharged
(Section 75)

79.7

.

Page 79

70 | P a g e

Figure 49: Map of Homelessness Rates in Wales 205-16 by LA Area

8.2 Mental Health and Policing
Within the Cwm Taf area, mental health impacts on a number of areas within policing. In
2016 /17 a 10% reduction was seen in those detained under section 136. Within the
corresponding period there was a rise in voluntary admissions.
Mental health at times it is not a single issue, the challenge for going forward is to deal with
the other presenting circumstances in a more holistic partnership approach. The impact of
use of drugs, alcohol and other substances provides challenges in dealing with not only the
person but also the associated anti-social behaviour, community, health and social impact.
The challenging behaviour of offenders is a particular issue, as is th support required by
families of people with poor mental health. There is ongoing work being done to place a
community psychiatric nurse resource in the Police Public Service Centre. We will need to
continue to work on the challenges of the Concordat in relation to alternative places of

Page 80

71 | P a g e

safety, transportation of patients and triage together with more effective collaborative
intervention for the cross cutting issues detailed above.

8.3 Protection from Radicalisation
The Counter-Terrorism & Security Act 2015 places a duty on LAs and partners to provide
support for people vulnerable to being drawn into terrorism.
CONTEST is the UK’s strategy for Counter Terrorism (July 2011) which covers 4 main
themes:
•

Pursue: to stop terror attacks

•

Prevent: to stop people being radicalised

•

Protect: to strengthen our protection against attack

•

Prepare: to mitigate the impact of attacks

There is a requirement for a local authority to chair a regional Contest Board.
The Counter Terrorism Local Profile (CTLP) for Northern BCU has recently been completed
as part of a national programme commissioned in the Spring of 2009. The programme was
initially designed to focus on and support the PREVENT and PURSUE strands of the
Government’s Counter Terrorism strategy, but has since developed to also include elements
of the PROTECT and PREPARE strands.

The CTLP aims to identify threats, risk and

vulnerabilities from Counter Terrorism and Domestic Extremism within a pre-defined area.
The CTLP Review for the period 1st March 2016 to 31st January 2017 was presented to the
Cwmtaf CONTEST Board and includes a strategic threat and risk assessment for Northern
BCU area for this period. Also included are emerging issues which are identified as having
the potential to impact on the area in the short to medium term.
Key messages from the Profile include that the threat from International Terrorism and
Violent Extremism in Northern BCU remains LOW but the move from organised cells being
directed centrally, to individuals acting alone using increasingly low sophisticated methods of
attack whilst purporting to act on behalf of a specific terrorist group means that there is a
possibility that any location is vulnerable to this type of attack, including Northern BCU.
Community Safety Teams of the Local Authorities (LA) are involved with the PREVENT
theme.

Page 81

72 | P a g e

The Counter-Terrorism & Security Act 2015 places a duty on LAs and partners to provide
support for people vulnerable to being drawn into terrorism. A Cwm Taf Channel Panel
chaired by RCT local authority discusses local cases referred in by the Police.
Cwm Taf's Channel Panel priority is to keep the public safe, by working together with key
partner agencies, and all our communities, to tackle all forms of extremism, violent and nonviolent, regardless of race, culture, religion or political preference by safeguarding individuals
who may be vulnerable to recruitment by violent extremists or to radicalisation.

8.5 Prevention of Hate Crime
There has been a downward trend in hate incidents reported throughout the Cwm Taf area
although 2016-2017 has seen a slight rise in hate crime reports (Figure 50).

Northern BCU Hate Crime
591
539

524
401

428

388
330

311

320

2015-2016

2016-2017

188

2012-2013

2013-2014

2014-2015
Hate Reports

Hate Crime

The period 2016-2017 saw 16 repeat victims (3 or more incidents within 12 months). There
is a similar trend with each year around repeat victims. Regarding the period 2015-2016, a
number of action plans and safeguarding measures were put in place resulting in a decline
of hate related occurrence, in one case a reduction of 100%. This would account for a
percentage of the decline in calls but not all.
As can be seen, there has been significant rise in hate crime reporting since 2012 although
the hate related reports are at 2012 levels, a 27% decrease since 2014. This may be
attributable to increased awareness of hate crime and improved confidence in reporting
incidents to the Police.
The occurrences over the last 5 years have been broken down by type and results shown
below (Figure 51).

Page 82

73 | P a g e

Hate Reports by Category
400

376

350

332

314

300
250

Disablity
Race
Religion
Sexual Orientation
Transgender

263

257

200
150
100
50
0

69
67
10
4
2012-2013

112
78

122
109

16
11

25
10

2013-2014

2014-2015

143
92

87
82

34
1
2015-2016

14
3
2016-2017

As shown, race remains the highest strand within hate crime reports although reporting
across all categories has shown a decline since 2014.
We live in a diverse community in the UK. The non-white British population has grown from
6.6m in 2001 to 9.1m in 2009 - or nearly one in six. The white British population has stayed
the same since 2001 - because even though there has been an increase in births, there has
also been a similar number of people migrating. The non-white British population has grown
by 4.1% a year, or a total of 2.5m over the whole period, or 37.4%.
The mixed-race population has neared a million for the first time - from 672,000 in 2001 to
986,600 in 2009, an increase of nearly 50%. A third are mixed Afro-Caribbean and white,
followed by Asian/white.
Cwm Taf has a smaller but increasing BME community with increasing diversity in all areas
specifically around areas of employment/ industry and academic institutions (Fig 52).

%
Place

White,

% Mixed

British
ENGLAND

AND

% Asian

% Black

or Asian

or Black

British

British

% Chinese

83.35

1.8

5.87

2.81

0.82

ENGLAND

82.79

1.85

6.11

2.94

0.85

WALES

92.98

0.99

1.76

0.62

0.4

Isle of Anglesey

94.77

0.58

0.87

0.29

0.29

Gwynedd

93.01

0.76

1.35

0.42

0.25

Conwy

93.81

0.72

1.26

0.54

0.27

WALES

Page 83

74 | P a g e

Denbighshire

94.21

0.83

1.76

0.52

0.21

Flintshire

96

0.67

0.67

0.2

0.2

Wrexham

94.89

0.75

0.9

0.3

0.23

Powys

94.46

0.68

1.06

0.68

0.23

Ceredigion

91.23

0.92

1.83

0.52

0.26

Pembrokeshire

93.44

0.77

1.36

0.85

0.26

Carmarthenshire

94.3

0.66

1

0.5

0.39

Swansea

91.7

0.99

1.86

0.65

0.61

Neath Port Talbot

95.2

0.73

0.95

0.36

0.22

Bridgend

94.63

0.82

1.19

0.37

0.3

92.46

1.36

1.85

0.64

0.64

84.24

2.11

5.56

1.67

0.95

94.88

0.73

0.98

0.3

0.3

Merthyr Tydfil

95.33

0.54

0.9

0.18

0.9

Caerphilly

95.89

0.75

0.93

0.35

0.23

Blaenau Gwent

96.5

0.58

0.73

0.44

0.15

Torfaen

96.14

0.66

0.77

0.33

0.22

Monmouthshire

94.2

0.91

1.14

0.57

0.23

Newport

90.67

1.5

3.13

0.93

0.36

The

Vale

of

Glamorgan
Cardiff
Rhondda,

Cynon,

Taff

There has been a considerable amount of investment in focusing on supporting minority
communities as partners and this activity is reflected in the Community Cohesion Group,
Quality of Life Board and voluntary sector via groups such as MAGNET.
Post Brexit and since the more recent terrorist attacks at Manchester and London there is
national evidence of increased tensions but this hasn’t materialised in any overt increase in
hate crime within the Cwm Taf area.
Due to a number of migrants moving into areas of Cwm Taf, there are indications that there
are a number of ‘first time victims’ who are reluctant to report matters to police. This
combined with factors such as BREXIT and migrant families lacking support from peers
could be a factor influencing under reporting of hate crimes across the BCU.
Whilst there are going to be a number of reasons for this decline, a number of both reactive
and proactive measures have been utilised within Northern BCU, particular with the Syrian
refugees where agencies collaborated in order to house Syrians away from high crime
areas.

Page 84

75 | P a g e

The number of repeat victims is relatively high, as is the number of repeat offenders. South
Wales Police has a positive action policy with regards Hate Crime and if an offender is
identified, action is taken to reduce the likelihood of re-offending.
8.5.1 Syrian Resettlement Programme

In 2015, the Prime Minister announced a significant extension of the Vulnerable Persons
Relocation Scheme for Syrian refugees (SVPRS) - Now called Syrian Resettlement
Programme. This extension is based on an additional 7 point criteria which includes; women
and girls at risk, survivors of torture, medical and disability issues, sexual orientation or
gender identity and Refugees who have links to the UK. The Government intends to resettle
up to 20,000 refugees from Syria's neighbouring countries over the next five years, arguing
that it is better to take the most vulnerable people directly from the region than encouraging
Syrian refugees to make dangerous journeys to Europe.
Rhondda Cynon Taf and Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Councils participate in the
Programmeand work with the Home Office to match refugees that are most suitable to the
locality, based on their needs adn the level of resources available in areas such as housing,
health, education services and social care.
By September 2017, Cwm Taf has received 7 families in total, 6 families are from the Syrian
Resettlement Programme and 1 family is from the Vulnerable Children Resettlement
Scheme; there are a total of 24 children. All the families since they arrived here in the UK
have said that they feel safe and secure. They are happy, likelike the location where they
are living and the schools that the children attend, in particular the Arabic School Support
Assistants as they feel this has helped their children’s integration and education needs.
Provision of English Language Lessons (ESOL) is a crucial element to the SRP as the
families’ main aim is to integrate and gain employment. In RCT, the formal ESOL classes
delivered by Coleg y Cymoedd have been supported by by four qualified volunteer
practitioners each delivering approximately two hours of ESOL classes per week.

8.6 Victims of Scams, Rogue Traders and Distraction burglaries
Distraction burglary occurs infrequently, but trends do occur Force wide and regionally.
These offences generally involve the elderly being targeted with offenders generally
purporting to be someone they are not, or providing a reason to gain access to the
properties. Examples have included, being from the water board, other service providers,
charity collections, door to door sales or asking to change a note (cash).

Page 85

76 | P a g e

Age UK found that 53% of persons aged 65 or over had been victims of scams; from working
with the vulnerable, Trading Standards are aware that many are not aware that they have
been a scam victim, or refuse to believe it, often through pride or embarrassment. This is
regarded as a form of financial abuse and is the second most common form of abuse in the
UK (Adult Social Care Statistics, 2016). The Care Act 2014 includes financial abuse as a
form of abuse and neglect, and places a duty on a local authority to take action where a
person is at risk.
Once a person has responded to a scam, their details are placed onto mailing lists which are
then sold; the vulnerable becomes subject to repeat victimisation. Both Rhondda Cynon Taf
and Merthyr Tydfil Trading Standards work in the field of adult safeguarding, which includes
working with the National Trading Standards Scams Team (NTSS) to visit persons identified
as victims; in some cases being able to return un-cashed cheques or cash which has been
sent in the post to the scammers. Rhondda Cynon Taf was identified in 2014 by the NTSS
as having the second highest number of repeat victims on scam ‘suckers lists’ in Wales.
In 2017, Rhondda Cynon Taf commenced on a programme of installing telephone blocking
devices in the homes of the most vulnerable, these devices work in a positive manner, in
that only known numbers will ring through to the consumer. All calls, including those that are
blocked, are monitored in order to gain intelligence and assist in related criminal
investigations. Joint visits are carried out, or information is shared across organisations
such as Alzheimers UK, Age Cymru and Social Services. Addressing scams in the home
has proven benefits in associated areas, such as a reduction in trips and falls, a positive
impact on loneliness and the ability to live independently for longer.
South Wales Police and the Trading Standards Authorities within the force area have
recently signed a Memorandum of Understanding on the enforcement of doorstep crime,
rogue trading incidents and the banking protocol. This identifies the nature of cross-agency
work that impacts on the successful resolution to these matters. Steele et al (2001) stated
that there is an identified overlap between the crimes of rogue trading and distraction
burglary, and offenders are known to switch between the methods of offending depending
on the victim, their credulity and the circumstance and situation.
There are three ‘no cold calling zones’ (NCCZ) in Rhondda Cynon Taf.

When their

implementation was evaluated:
•

85.2% of homes in the area were displaying a NCCZ door sticker

•

87.5% stated there had been a decrease in cold callers

•

77.5% felt the sticker display aided the reduction in cold callers

Page 86

77 | P a g e

•

92.8% felt more confident in sending doorstep sellers away

•

84.1% felt that they and their homes were safer

Trading Standards had previously responded to calls of doorstep selling and rogue trading
with a rapid response; with the adoption of the Memorandum of Association, all such calls to
Trading Standards or South Wales Police will lead to a joint response, where this is possible,
and a greater exchange of information, in an attempt to severely reduce the instances of
rogue trading in South Wales.

8.7

Human Trafficking and Modern Slavery

There has been a number of intelligence logs submitted in relation to human trafficking and
modern slavery within the BCU in the last 12 months; indicating that foreign nationals are
being brought into the area to work in car washes, cannabis factories, nail bars and brothels.
Very little intelligence is available in respect of Prostitution within the BCU, albeit off-street
prostitution; facilitated through brothels/massage parlours does exist and recent intelligence
has been received of a property in Merthyr being used with a number of females working
there. In terms of on-street prostitution, female sex workers from the BCU tend to travel to
the Cardiff area to commit prostitution offences. Currently, however no OCGs within the BCU
have been identified as being involved in this area of criminality.
Previous operations have focused on car washes across the force however, there is very
little recent intelligence to car washes within Northern BCU.

8.8 Child Sexual Exploitation

CSE has become a focus for the BCU over the last few years, with the link between young
individuals going missing from care homes and the potential for CSE firmly established.
There have been no identified links between suspects / offenders to justify creating an OCG,
however there have been links between the vulnerable young people. To date, no OCG’s in
this area have been identified.
The BCU recognises the threat that exists in relation to children residing in Children’s Care
Homes and Foster Care who often go missing and who due to their vulnerability and
lifestyle are at the greatest risk of CSE. Analysis was recently requested to identify the care

Page 87

78 | P a g e

homes that present the greatest threat, risk and harm and identify why these homes are
causing such issues.

CSE is a very complicated area of business, which by its very nature goes largely
unreported (as often, those targeted do not feel that they are victims) and is difficult to
identify. Continued monitoring of incidents and intelligence should identify when and if
associations between individuals exist. There is work ongoing to recognize the trigger for
intervention and identify areas of risk.

Following a review of missing persons (MISPER) return interviews and engagement with
partner agencies such as Barnardo’s, it was identified that regular missing persons
vulnerable due to their age and in some instances circumstance, were at a higher risk of
CSE and other exploitation than their peers. In response to this information and the
analytical work completed, SERAF (Sexual Exploitation Risk Assessment Framework)
assessments were conducted with children who frequently went missing, were believed to
be taking controlled drugs and or engaging in sexual activity. From that SERAF assessment,
officers from the Proactive PPU (Public Protection Unit) constructed a divisional list of
children who were deemed to be high risk of such exploitation. In conjunction with
Barnardo’s and child services, officers conduct engagement with the children in order to
safeguard them, provide suitable support with housing and education and also to determine
if any offences have been committed. The intention of this engagement in addition to the
safeguarding and support is to break demand on the police and partner agencies by
preventing the individuals from going missing and engaging in risk taking behaviour.
As a result of the enquiries conducted with these individuals,

suspected perpetrators of

CSE get identified and are actively policed and disrupted. This work is ongoing and dynamic
as the risk levels change for persons already identified and from continued and wider
engagement with children within the community.

Page 88

79 | P a g e

Priority Five Recommendations
a) Work effectively through an integrated place based approach to building resilient
families (i.e. Community Zones) to target resources and interventions aimed at
mitigating the impact of adverse experiences on families in Cwm Taf.
b) Improve performance in relation to Homelessness Prevention through early
intervention.
c) Actively contribute to the Counter Terrorism Agenda by supporting CONTEST and
Channel Boards, delivering training inc WRAP and PREVENT to enable others to
share information/ intelligence
d) Support delivery of the Syrian Refugee Programme in Cwm Taf through effective
partnership planning and settlement of vulnerable families.
e) Work as a partnership to strengthen provision on mental health services in Cwm Taf
for people in the criminal justice system e.g. a community psychiatric nurse resource
being located in the Police Public Service Centre
f)

Encourage and facilitate volunteering opportunities for community members to
actively work on specific projects and interventions in their locality.

g) Work as a partnership to ensure intelligence in relation to Child Sexual Exploitation,
Human Trafficking and Modern Slavery is shared to enable early identification and
action to tackle Organised Crime Groups.
h) Through the Memorandum of Understanding, work in partnership as multi agencies
to identify and tackle rogue traders and protect the most vulnerable in our
communities from scams which result in financial harm.

Page 89

80 | P a g e

8.

Priority 6- Improve our Environment by reducing environmental
crime

9.1 Criminal Damage to the Environment
Cwm Taf is blessed with an outstanding natural environment. It makes people feel proud,
positive and happy about where they live. However, crime and anti-social behaviour is a
constant challenge and significant barrier to people using and enjoying their local
environment.

Crime and anti-social behaviour within the woodland estate results in significant annual
costs. This includes issues such as: illegal off-roading, fly-tipping, theft (including timber),
activities with the intent of causing deliberate harm (eg. nail traps, barbed wire etc), and
damage to gates, fencing and car parks. Timber theft impacts income to legitimate
harvesters and brings with it the risk of chainsaws being used inappropriately.

Fig 53: Criminal Damage in Cwm Taf 2012-26

Criminal Damage
100%
98%

102

106

11

8

114
172

96%

230
18
11

94%

15
92%

3132

3090

2872

3058
3112

90%
88%
2012

2013

Criminal Damage

2014
Arson (Endagering life)

2015

2016

Arson Not Endagering Life

Reported occurrences of Criminal Damage to the Environment have remained fairly constant
in recent years although there was an increase in 2015 (note: this increase could be
attributable to criming at source).

Page 90

81 | P a g e

Arson (endangering life) has also remained constant but the trend of arson (not endangering
life) has shown has increase from 102 in 2012 to 230 in 2016 – an increase of 55%

9.2 Fly-tipping
Fly-tipping is the illegal dumping of rubbish and can vary in scale from bin bags, fridges and
mattresses to large quantities of waste dumped from trucks. It can be found anywhere along roadsides, in lay-bys or on private land. It costs the Welsh tax payer more than £2.1
million every year to clear up.

Local authorities are responsible for dealing with most types of small scale fly-tipping on
publicly owned land including roads and lay-bys. NRW is responsible for dealing with flytipping on the Welsh Government Woodland Estate (as de facto land owner), and
investigating larger scale incidents of fly-tipping. Generally, these involve more than a
lorry/tipper load of waste, and/or incidents involving hazardous waste and organised gangs
of fly-tippers, which have a greater potential to harm human health and damage the
environment.

In 2015/16, there were 5,705 Fly tipping incidents in Cwm Taf. RCT are now using Fly
Tipping Action Wales’ Fly Mapper system to identify fly-tipping hotspots and help tackle the
problem. Subsequently, surveillance operations at hotspot locations have led to a number of
recent successful prosecutions.

Fly-tipping Action Wales is a partnership initiative, sponsored by the Welsh Government and
coordinated by NRW to tackle fly-tipping. It’s made up of 50 partners including the 22 local
authorities in Wales, the national police and fire services, the National Farmers’ Union and
many more.

9.3 Illegal Off-Road Vehicle Use
Illegal off-roading is a growing problem in the South Wales Valleys. It’s an offence to drive
motorbikes, quad bikes and 4x4’s on land outside of public highways without the owner’s
permission. This includes private forests and publicly owned land.

Illegal off-roading poses a serious risk to walkers, horse riders, cyclists and other people
who enjoy using their local countryside. It can also have far reaching consequences for the
environment, damaging tree roots and disturbing sensitive habitats for our wildlife.

Page 91

82 | P a g e

‘Off-road’ motorcycles, ‘scramblers’, ‘quads’ were identified as causing a general nuisance
across the Cwm Taf. Analysis was conducted of data over a two year period (Apr 14 – Feb
16) to determine demand and the local community impact.
Monthly comparisons show higher reporting levels during the summer (May – Sept) peaking
between May and July. November to March generally has the lowest activity. See Fig 54
below:

Fig 54 Monthly comparison trends

Yearly Trends - Off Road Motor Cycles Northern BCU
140
120
100
80
60
40
20
0
Apr

May

Jun

Jul

Aug

Sep

Oct

A2014/15

Nov

Dec

Jan

Feb

Mar

A2015/16

(March 2016 is a projected total)

Fig 55: Sector Monthly trends

Off Road Motor Cycle Incidents by Month and Sector
April 14 to Feb 16
150
100
50

Merthyr

Rhondda

Page 92

Cynon

Feb-16

Jan-16

Dec-15

Nov-15

Oct-15

Sep-15

Aug-15

Jul-15

Jun-15

May-15

Apr-15

Mar-15

Feb-15

Jan-15

Dec-14

Nov-14

Oct-14

Sep-14

Aug-14

Jul-14

Jun-14

May-14

Apr-14

0

Taff

83 | P a g e

Key Findings. KEY FINDINGS


There were 810 occurrences over the period April to March 2014/15 compared to
866 2015/16. This equates to an increase of 7% (56).2 The Rhondda sector remained
stable but small increases were seen in Merthyr 5% (11), Cynon 15% (23) and Taff
10% (19).



There were 1,604 occurrences over the 23 month period April 2014 to February 2016
that involved off-road motor cycles or quads in Northern BCU. 30% (480) of reported
incidents took place in Merthyr, 27% (436) Rhondda, 23% (367) Taff and 20% (321)
Cynon. Merthyr South 308, Pontypridd 265, Rhondda Fawr 225, and Cynon South
193 had most incidents. (See hotspot maps in appendices (Figs : 8 to 12)



Trends within sectors based on the last 12 month data (Mar15 – Feb16) show the
highest levels of activity during the following months - Merthyr – April/June. Rhondda
– June/July, Cynon June/Sept and Taff – May/Aug.



There were 6 beats with 50 or more reported incidents over the 2 year period, these
beats accounted for 27% (430) occurrences; 0401 Pentrebach (125), 0303 Cyfartha
(80), 0101 Gurnos (65), 1811 Nantgarw/Taffs Well (56), 1905 Penrhiwceiber (52) and
1501 Treherbert (52). These beats were also the top 6 beats over the last 12 month
period (Mar 15 – Feb 16).



ASB 55% (887) and Road traffic incidents including RTC 28% (449) make up 83% of
all occurrence types.



The main locations along the Taff trail were identified as Troedyrhiw/Trefechan
Merthyr and Upper Boat Pontypridd. Incidents refer to off-road motor cycles, quads
speeding at the locations. Riding on roads and footpaths nearby was also an issue.
65% (34) incidents took place over the weekend period Fri -Sun with peak times
between 12:30-19:00hrs. (Last report 8/2/16)



52% (826) reports of off road motor cycles took place between April and July,
incidents tapered off around August/September to low levels between October and
January. February/March saw a steady rise towards the peak months.



Most incidents involved off-road motor cycles or quads riding close to residential
properties on roads, footpaths, common land or using known locations such as the
Taff trail to the annoyance of residents or other users.



6 repeat victims/callers accounted for 134 reports over the reporting period; the top 6
can be seen in Fig: 6.



There were 158 offenders; 19 of which were involved in 2 or more incidents, the top 6
can be seen in fig: 7.

2

This includes a March 2016 projected total of 72

Page 93

84 | P a g e



‘Quads’ were referred to in 417 occurrences over the 23 month period, representing
26% of all reports. The majority of vehicles were referred to as ‘Off-road’ motor
cycles, bikes, or scramblers.

9.4 Grass Fires
Wildfires deliberately caused by arson affect the South Wales Valleys every year, and Cwm
Taf is one of the worst affected areas. They have multiple social, environmental and
economic impacts. The Welsh Government Woodland Estate, managed by NRW, is
regularly affected.
The problem of grass fires has been a feature for many years in the South Wales valley
areas. The warmer, drier weather in the springtime, combined with a build-up of dry
vegetation left from the previous growing season provides a fire hazard that is easily ignited,
sometimes accidentally but usually deliberately. This problem generally abates once the
newer green vegetation comes through and acts as a natural retardant, but the problem can
reappear in the summer months and later in the autumn if the weather is dry. The issue of
deliberate grass fires is so prevalent within the South Wales area that the statistics for
deliberately set fires are comparable to those in London, and no other part of the UK faces
the same problem on this scale. The cost to the Welsh economy as a whole is estimated at
£132M pa, with a significant cost to our partners, especially Fire and Rescue services for
whom there is a cost of £3,200 each time a fire tender is mobilised.
In Spring 2015 a period of dry weather lead to a spate of grass fires across the force area,
and particularly in Northern BCU. This particular spate of grass fires, whilst not statistically
significant from a Fire and Rescue point of view, nevertheless caught the public attention in
a way not seen before, possibly due to greater use of social media. The political attention
was significant and subsequently lead to a commitment on the part of the Welsh
Government, police and fire service chief officers, and other partners, to put in place a robust
contingency plan for 2016 and beyond. 2016 brought together the agencies to develop a
Force Wide strategy. In Northern BCU, the operation reflecting the strategy was called
Operation Purple Earth.

A number of initiatives were put in place for 2016, including the

weekly Dawns Glaw tasking meeting to predict and respond to issues relating to grass fires.
The table below (Fig 56), shows how the occurrences have been distributed across the
Force. Northern BCU has recorded by far the greatest number of grass fires, however has
recorded the greatest reduction on the same period last year. All BCUs have recorded a
reduction on last year.

Page 94

85 | P a g e

BCU

2015

2016

Total

Change

Central

162

77

239

-85 (-52%)

Eastern

70

54

124

-16 (-23%)

Northern

531

229

760

-302 (-57%)

Western

66

38

104

-28 (-42%)

Total

829

398

1,227

-431 (-52%)

The tables (Fig 57 a and b) below shows how the level of reporting of grass fire related
occurrences changes over the periods.
Fig 57 a: Force wide

Fig 57 b: Northern BCU

Month

2015

2016

Total

Month

2015

2016

Total

Apr

596

158

754

Apr

400

94

494

May

94

111

205

May

65

70

135

Jun

80

65

145

Jun

42

41

83

Jul

42

35

77

Jul

19

13

32

Aug

17

29

46

Aug

5

11

16

Total

829

398

1,227

Total

531

229

760

During 2016, the most prevalent times for grass fires to occur were during the afternoon
between 17:00 and 23:00 (greatest peak at 19:00). The top day was Thursday (18% of the
weekly total), followed by Wednesday and Sunday (17% and 16% respectively). There was
a general even spread between the rest of the week (between 12 and 14%).
Grass Fire Comparisons for 2015-2017 Merthyr and RCT Unitary Authorities
Fig 58: Grass Fire Data for 1st April - 31st August
Unitary

2015

2016

2017 (To Date)

Totals

Merthyr Tydfil

96

54

61

211

RCT

432

147

225

804

Totals

528

201

286

1819

Authority

Page 95

86 | P a g e

Fig 59: Grass Fire Data for April - June 2016 -17
Unitary

April 16

April 17

May 1 6

May 17

June 16

June17

Merthyr

12

38

29

28

12

8

RCT

70

153

38

66

22

6

Totals

82

171

67

94

34

14

Authorities

The evidence is that there is a downward trend in deliberate grass fires, with data for the first
half of the peak season for fires being over 45% less than 2015
In 2015 the priority was on the identification and charging of offenders following the spate of
public concern and attention. In 2016, the emphasis was on awareness raising and referral
of persons of concern to diversion and intervention schemes, largely those run by the Fire
Service, of which there are a variety of useful schemes available.
Clearly, despite this statistical overview, there still intelligence gaps in our force’s
understanding of the problem
In addition, we do not have a good picture of whether wildfire setting activity involves a
relatively few number of individuals setting a lot of fires. Also, there does not seem to be
much clarity on the profile of those involved as the age demographic of known previous
perpetrators ranges from people as young as 10/11 up to people in their 60s.

Fig 60 Comparison of Grass Fires by Unitary Authority (April to August2015 & 2016)
Comparison of Grass Fires 1st April to 31st August by Unitary Authority
Difference vs
last year

% Variation

Difference vs
last year

% Variation

71

-86

50

-77

74

-85

-53%

52

-75

239

100

-59%

247

104

-143

Cardiff

72

-58%

-33%

79

55

-24

Merthyr Tydfil

-30%

-42

-44%

96

54

-42

-44%

15

0

0%

26

22

-4

-15%

106

61

-45

-42%

113

64

-49

-43%

Rhondda Cynon Taf

432

147

-285

-66%

440

152

-288

-65%

The Vale of Glamorgan

33

28

-5

-15%

36

29

-7

-19%

Torfaen

69

38

-31

-45%

82

42

-40

-49%

1346

612

-734

-55%

1405

648

-757

-54%

UNITARY

Deliberate Grass Fires
2015

2016

Blaenau Gwent

157

Bridgend

127

Caerphilly

Total Grass Fires
2015

2016

-55%

159

-61%

127

-139

-58%

48

-24

96

54

Monmouthshire

15

Newport

Grand Total

Page 96

87 | P a g e

9.5 Road Safety
Police Data in relation to Road Traffic Collisions (RTC) (codes TR4 RTC-Damage and TR9
RTC - Death/Injury) has been used to obtain the road casualty data over the 5 year period
reviewed.
Fig 61: RTC Casualties

RTC casualties
(5yrs)
600
500
400
300
200
100
0
2012-2013

2013-2014
TR4 RTC-Damage Only

2014-2015

2015-2016

TR9 RTC - Death/Injury

2016-2017
Total

Generally RTC collisions (after a fall between 2012/13 and 2013/14) has remained stable in
both category types.
Over the reporting period, Taff has consistently recorded the highest number of collisions
(2,972) 33%, Rhondda (2,302) 25%, Cynon (1,983) 22% and Merthyr (1,793) 20%.
Fig 62: RTC collisions by year and sector

RTC by Year and Sector
(5yrs)
800
600
400
200
0
2012-2013

2013-2014
Cynon

2014-2015
Merthyr

2015-2016
Rhondda

2016-2017

Taff

Road Safety Partners including South Wales Police , South Wales Fire and Rescue, the
Local Authority Road Safety teams, officers from RPU Specials, local PCSO’s and NPT,

Page 97

88 | P a g e

coordinated a number of road safety exercises within the Cwm Taf area, dealing with
issues around the “fatal 5”, namely speeding, alcohol consumption, drug use, use of mobile
phones and not wearing a seatbelt.
There is a problem in this area with young driver’s especially in motor vehicles, committing
offences as well as anti-social behaviour in cars. The main problems are the lack of seat
belt wearing by all vehicle occupants, speeding, misuse of mobile phones, as well as drink
and drug driving. They are also focusing on areas such as passenger behaviour, as the
attitude of friends in cars can have an effect on how a young driver behaves in a car. The
below initiatives are utilised on a regular basis, and are proving very successful in education
as well as enforcement.
9.5.1

Operation Options

A multi-agency scheme with Road Safety Partners where we look at motorists who do not
wear their seat belts or are found misusing a mobile phones whilst driving.

Seat belt

offenders are then given the opportunity to undertake a short 15 minute presentation on the
dangers of not wearing a belt. This is undertaken by the Fire Service. Those who do not
wish to avail themselves of this are issued with a TOR for the offence. All drivers seen
misusing a phone are given a TOR.
These deliveries are conducted at various locations and times to accommodate all across
Cwm Taf.
On average over a 3 hour period, they address between 30-60 offenders. The highest was
69 in Tonypandy, which was only a week after dealing with 62 at the same location. They
also detect a number of other offences which result in vehicle seizures, and have made a
number of arrests for drug driving. This exercise has proved very successful and we always
receive a positive feedback from people who attend the presentations.
9.5.2

Mature Driver Courses

These are carried out via SWP in partnership with Cwm Taf road safety team. Drivers over
the age of 60 attend an awareness day, where a presentation is delivered on the “Fatal 5”,
and also a discussion about hazard perception etc.

The local authority then provide

Advanced Driver Institute (ADI) driving instructors who take out the attendees either in their
own cars, or in a driving school cars, for up to an hour. The driver is then allowed to brush
up on areas where they feel they now lack confidence, such as Motorway driving,
roundabouts, parking in confined spaces. This scheme has been running for a number of
years and has proved very successful. They normally carry out between 6-10 courses a
year, with an average attendance of 10 people.

Page 98

89 | P a g e

9.5.3

Megadrive

Road Safety Partners undertake awareness days for students between the ages of 16-25, at
various schools and colleges. Again the main theme is the “Fatal 5”. Each year they speak
to an average of 30 students at each session, to encourage them to be better drivers, as well
as safer and more responsible when out on the roads.
They also encourage all young drivers to participate in the Welsh Governments Pass Plus
Cymru scheme. The programme is grant funded by Welsh Government and for a small
additional fee, each attendee gets up to 9 hours extra driving instruction, after passing their
driving test.

9.6 What the public are telling us C(OMPASS Survey 2017):


Main issues being reported as a very or fairly big problem are parking, speeding and
off-road bikes. (COMPASS Survey)
o

Parking (scored slightly higher than rubbish and litter, and significantly higher
than noisy neighbours/loud parties)

o

Speeding (scored higher than people using or dealing drugs, malicious
communication and people being drunk/rowdy)

o

Off-road bikes (scored slightly higher than nuisance callers, vandalism, and
higher than groups of youths – younger and older, and pubs/clubs/fast food
premises)

Priority Six Recommendations

a) Using intelligence analysis from the Crime reduction tactical advisor (CRTA), develop
an effective strategy as a Partnership to tackle the issue of illegal off road use, to
include:
o

Improve intelligence sharing across agencies to identify areas and individuals
for targeted action.

o

In conjunction with Local Authority, restriction of access points to the Taff trail
and other areas where identified.

o

Media campaign to raise awareness of the off-road riders to the dangers they
pose to the public, themselves and other road users and to make users aware
of the consequences of breaking the law. (e.g. seizure of bike etc.)

Page 99

90 | P a g e

o

Delivery of suitable diversionary activities in partnership with communities e.g.
setting up a legal off-road motor cycle club.

o

Conduct enforcement exercises across the BCU to target offenders and use
appropriate legal powers to disrupt and prevent the illegal activities.

o

Media campaign to highlight any success.

b) To include: The Road Safety Priorities for Cwm Taf

c) Continuation of Grass Fire campaigns to improve education and awareness of the
issue and reduce incidents.
d) Continue to work in partnership to deliver effective enforcement against illegal waste
offenders, to include prosecution, cost recovery of waste removal and media
campaigns to identify offenders and raise awareness of environmental crimes and
their consequences.

Page 100

91 | P a g e

Appendices:

Appendix 1 Community Zones
Appendix 2 South Wales Police Strategic Assessment (to be added)
Appendix 3 South Wales Police and Crime Reduction Plan 2017-2021 (to be added)
Appendix 4 Substance misuse review. (To be added)
Appendix 5 Compass survey 2017 (to be added)

Page 101

92 | P a g e

Appendix 1
CWM TAF PUBLIC SERVICES BOARD
A CWM TAF COMMUNITY ZONE APPROACH TO BUILDING RESILIENT COMMUNITIES
1.

Vision

“An integrated place-based approach to building resilient communities that prevents and
mitigates the effects of adverse childhood experiences (ACEs) and breaks the
intergenerational cycle of adversity which challenges so many families across Cwm Taf”.

2.

How we will achieve our vision

To achieve this vision, we will organise ourselves as partner organisations more effectively
through a single recognised approach known as “Community Zones”.
This single recognised approach will be piloted within the Gurnos and Upper Rhondda
Fach areas and will consist of the following key components:


Taking a whole community approach to better understand the role of the following
factors in precipitating and modifying ACEs:



o

The context in which families live

o

Parent and family factors

o

Household adversities

A new prevention, early identification and intervention framework that enables
individuals and families to access non-stigmatised support as early as possible to
prevent problems from escalating. Identification of those requiring early intervention
support will take place:
o

Pre-emptively through the application of Vulnerability and Resilience Profiling to
identify families that have low levels of resilience and in need of support.

o

Pro-actively by self identification at the point of access into specialist pathways
of support e.g. anchor organisations, substance misuse services, housing,
domestic abuse.



A single point of contact (SPOC) for those requiring information, advice, support and
intervention.



A robust community engagement and involvement approach. This will include:
o

Proactively engaging with individuals and families identified through Vulnerability
and Resilience profiling, using a strengths-based approach.

Page 102

93 | P a g e

o

A co-production approach to listening to, and working with the community to
develop community support and assist in the design and delivery of services.

o

Low level community based activities that facilitate community involvement
and progression (early help).

o

Collaborative community action research and engagement through the
Listening Project and SenseMaker.



A suite of interventions to create an ACE-informed Cwm Taf – from low level
community based activities through to more specialist/intensive interventions delivered
through shared priorities and pooled resources across partners.



A sustainable step down support pathway that embeds behaviour change.



A single shared outcome framework that creates a robust infrastructure for supporting
the delivery of an outcome-focused approach and evidencing change. The outcomes will
focus on:
o

Reducing the incidence of Adverse Childhood Experiences

o

Families and communities are confident, nurturing, resilient and safe

o

Achieving good educational outcomes: (closing the inequality gap)

o

Realising sufficient income and obtaining work that pays

o

Achieving a thriving and healthy future (Wellbeing, active lifestyles)

Figure 1 below encapsulates this system wide Community Zone model:
3.

Introduction

The purpose of this document is to outline Cwm Taf’s Public Services Boards proposed
approach to the development, implementation and evaluation of two ‘Community Zone’ pilots
within the Gurnos and Upper Rhondda Fach areas.
The approach/model draws on the experience and learning of a range of partners who have
been working for the last 24 months to move towards a more integrated and sustainable
approach to building resilient communities.

Page 103

94 | P a g e

Figure 1: Cwm Taf Community Zone model

Gurnos and Ferndale
Community
Profiling

Continuous Engagement

Evidence based
interventions
ACE Hub

P
S
B

Jointly Identify
Needs

C
o
m
m
u
n
i
t
i
e
s

Jointly Identify
Existing Resources

P
a
r
t
n
e
r
s

Agreed Outcomes
to be met

Co-Produced Service
Models
Assessment

Prevention

Early
Intervention

Care and
support

Assets aligned including workforce, estate and finance

4.

Background

On 11th October 2016, the Cabinet Secretary for Children and Communities shared his
ambition for resilient communities and invited organisations to express an interest in
developing Children’s Zones in Wales. A Children’s Zone is a place-based approach,
bringing together different organisations to improve outcomes for children and young people.
The aim is that through a shared strategic vision, long-term sustainable reductions are
achieved in the inequalities experienced by children in disadvantaged communities when
compared to those in more socially advantaged areas.
In response to this challenge from Welsh Government, the Cwm Taf Public Services Board
(PSB) held a workshop on 25th November 2016 attended by representatives from the public
and voluntary sector in Cwm Taf to explore place based partnership approaches and how
they might be developed in Cwm Taf. The consensus was that an expression of interest be

Page 104

95 | P a g e

submitted to Welsh Government from the PSB, bringing all partners together in a
coordinated regional approach.
It was also agreed that whilst any proposed approach would have tackling Adverse
Childhood Experiences (ACEs) at its heart, the building of resilience to achieve sustainable
change would require a whole-family approach. This whole-family approach would seek to
tackle ACEs through building the resilience of the child at the same time as challenging and
changing behaviours of parents or future parents. It was also felt that a resilient community
required the engagement and investment of the whole community and as such any placebased approach should be as inclusive as possible. It was therefore proposed that the
approach would be to develop and pilot “Community Zones” in two recognisable
communities in Cwm Taf.
5.

Current situation

Currently there is a wide range of interventions and services delivered by both public and
third sector services across these two areas; however much of this provision could be more
effectively co-ordinated or organised. The lack of a single recognised approach across Cwm
Taf lends itself to, at best, a duplication of effort and resources and, at worst, no provision at
all for individuals and families in need. At present the main drivers for the delivery of support
are legislative frameworks, grant funding criteria, existing commissioning arrangements and
the current skill base of providers as opposed to the needs of families and communities
across the region.
In order to effectively remove these barriers, the Public Services Board seeks to
fundamentally change the way in which it approaches this agenda by taking a broader view
of how all structures of public services and partners can be reconfigured and re-aligned.
Individuals, families and communities should not miss out on much-needed help and support
because of our differing thresholds, eligibility criteria, procedural mechanisms and priorities
which are directed by prescriptive funding streams.
A single approach would enable us to maximise current resources and also ensure that
there is a mechanism in place to oversee the consistent use of evidence-based approach.
Furthermore, it is envisaged that the creation of “Community Zones” will support a number of
the key challenges for our population that have emerged through Cwm Taf’s Well-being of
Future Generation (Wales) Act need assessments. These can be grouped under the main
headings of Frailty, Obesity, Inequality and Loss of Well-being. All organisations will
relate to these system challenges, but the focus is on ACEs.

Page 105

96 | P a g e

Figure 2: Key challenges

Obesity

Frailty

Adverse
Childhood
Experiences
(ACEs)

Inequality

Loss of
Wellbeing
We know that each of these challenges create major difficulties for our population and create
the demand for a range of services, and this will not disappear overnight. However as laid
down in the Well-being of Future Generations Act, there needs to be focus on addressing
prevention and long term needs as well as developing more integrated and collaborative
services in partnership with our population to tackle the current issues.
There are numerous ways that this could be approached but a key area that we know has
strong links to each of these challenges and is extremely relevant to our communities is the
issue of Adverse Childhood Experiences (ACEs). Those experiencing ACEs are more likely
to experience family difficulties, be involved in violence and other antisocial behaviour and
have poor educational attainment. However, adverse outcomes are not inevitable, but the
risk increases with increasing exposure to ACEs. Conversely, preventing ACEs can improve
outcomes greatly, that is why tackling and preventing ACEs has been put at the centre of our
Community Zone approach.
6.

Cwm Taf’s Proposed Community Zone Model

Our goal is to prevent and minimise the effect of Adverse Childhood Experiences (ACEs) on
individuals and families by organising ourselves as partner organisations more effectively
through a single recognised approach called “Community Zones”.

Page 106

97 | P a g e

In order to achieve this, it is proposed that our Community Zone model consists of the
following key elements that will form the basis of a pathway of support for individual, families
and communities:
A whole community approach
Taking a whole community approach will seek to better understand and address the
following, depending on the needs, strengths and challenges of each community:
•

A focus on place: Understanding how all resources and assets in our community zones
can be used to support wider determinants of health and well-being

•

Context in which families live: Understanding social isolation, increasing community
co-ordination, mitigating the impact of poverty and increasing resilience.

•

Parent & Family factors: Improving parental capacity, strengthening relationships and
helping to prevent cycles of behaviour that encourage adverse outcomes across
subsequent generations.

•

Household adversities: Develop “an ACE-Informed Cwm Taf” - across our workforce,
schools, communities, support services and public to understand the impact of ACEs.

The following diagram (Figure 3) is an illustration of the determinants and intergenerational
cycle of adverse childhood experiences within the context of a child’s environment,
highlighting the challenges we aim to address.
Figure 3: Logic model for interventions around ACEs

Page 107

98 | P a g e

A prevention, early identification and intervention framework
The prevention, early identification and intervention framework creates a robust
infrastructure upon which collective effort can be measured. Partners of all sizes and sectors
will be challenged to fit into this approach which will be supported by a number of tools that
will direct, support and regulate collaborative working. These tools will include formal
contracts, clear referral pathways, shared paperwork, and effective impact measurement
arrangements via a Shared Outcomes Framework.
The development of an early intervention framework will enable all partners to identify the
contribution they make to this agenda, irrespective of how they are funded or where they are
situated. The reconfiguration and realignment of services needs to be based on their key
functions to create an effective and meaningful graduated response for communities to
enable individuals and families to access support as early as possible to prevent problems
from escalating. The framework is diagrammatically depicted in Figure 4, which shows the
referral routes to access support, the assessment and brokerage mechanism and the
continuum of support.

Figure 4: Prevention, early identification and intervention framework

Page 108

99 | P a g e

The pooling of budgets and resources will seek to facilitate this framework, with
commissioning arrangements clearly focused on the commissioning of outcomes as part of
the whole community picture rather than the commissioning of services or provision within
the confines of individual funding streams. It is envisaged that this will serve to facilitate a
common understanding between a range of public, private and voluntary sector partners of
where their contribution sits in the wider context and the creation of a shared approach to
delivering outcomes.
Within this framework, the identification of individuals and families requiring early
intervention services will take place:
o

Pre-emptively through the application of Vulnerability and Resilience Profiling to
identify families that have low levels of resilience and in need of support.

o

Pro-actively by self identification at the point of access into specialist pathways
of support e.g. anchor organisations (Hubs), substance misuse services, housing,
domestic abuse.

Through the use of the Vulnerability and Resilience Profiling process, pre-emptive
identification will be data led to ensure we are in a position to swiftly identify families in need
of support, yet are not known to services as a family, before they reach crisis point.
A single point of contact (SPOC)
At the centre of the Community Zone and early identification framework (Figure 4) will be a
single point of contact for those requiring information, advice, support and intervention via
the two identification routes outlined above. The SPOC will provide the central mechanism
for co-ordinating interventions, assessing need/resilience, identifying the most relevant
support pathway and brokering support for individuals and families to build their resilience.
It is envisaged that this central mechanism will remove the need to refer individuals and
families between non statutory services delivering early intervention and prevention and the
associated delays of organisational differences including prescriptive referral criteria and
differing thresholds of intervention, and procedural delays such as case allocation.
The reconfiguration of Team around the Family, combined with pooled partner resources,
will create a dedicated team/hub to co-ordinate the single point of entry.
Community engagement and involvement
Effective community engagement and involvement will be critical to the success of this
approach. This is based on how members of the community connect with each other, are

Page 109

100 | P a g e

engaged in local services, how services are commissioned and how outcomes are
measured. A strength-based approach will be implemented to equip people with the skills
and confidence to live successful, independent and fulfilling lives without the support of
statutory services.
Specifically, community engagement and involvement will include:


Using co-productive approaches (see Figure 5) to build individual and community
assets, knowledge and capacity to address what matters in relation to preventing ACEs.
We will help develop individual and community resilience by supporting the community to
share and provide information, advice and guidance (IAG). This includes promoting and
providing access to relevant and up to date IAG through activities, programmes, venues,
services and on line sources within the community to the whole population, including
within schools, and when to refer to single points of contact to other public services when
appropriate to do so.



Proactively engaging with individual and families identified through the early
identification process and single point of contact. This might be through one-to-one
mentoring and brokering support for someone as they visit an existing local specialist
intervention for the first time; providing information and signposting, supporting them to
'step-up' or 'step-down' from a service as they move towards reaching their goal or
assisting them to reconnect with their community, family and develop their selfconfidence through a range of low level community based activity.



Low level community-based engagement activities/events which support the
involvement of individuals, families and professionals to come together on an equal
footing to contribute their time, skills, knowledge and resources to the area. These
activities are also designed to support the involvement of service users in their
community and play a part in the wider intervention pathway to improvement i.e. preengagement, feeder or step up/step down activities.



Co-production approach to listening to and working with the community to carry
out a comprehensive profiling and service review to develop, design and deliver
improved community services.



Collaborative community action research to support the community work with all
partners to collect the experience of local people using the Listening Project underpinned
by SenseMaker software. Interlink has been pioneering the use of this technology with
communities in Cwm Taf over the last 18 months, specifically with older people, people
experiencing mental ill health and in a placed based project in Porth. It is also currently
being used by the Future Generations Commissioner.

Page 110

101 | P a g e

The underpinning value of this community engagement and involvement approach will be
one of putting the citizen at the centre to create resilience not dependency; with clear
community pathways that supports and develops people to move from initial involvement
and engagement to community governance within a cooperative structure that encourages
collaboration and cooperation between citizens, community organisations and the public and
private sectors. The following diagram describes this approach:

Figure 5: Putting the citizen at the centre (O’Hara-Jakeway, 2017, Humanising Services and
Building Communities,).

A suite of interventions to create an ACE- informed Cwm Taf
The suite of ACE interventions will be developed based on our local knowledge, evidence
base, and initial engagement with those who live and work in our target communities. These
interventions will form part of an effective and meaningful graduated response for people in
need of support, as outlined in Figure 3 - from low level community based activity through to
more specialist/intensive intervention.
By focusing on building the resilience of individuals, families and communities to deal
with the challenges they face, interventions will be more meaningful, directive and effective.
Pooled budgets and resources will support the development of bespoke services to meet

Page 111

102 | P a g e

need rather than forcing families needs into pre-designed ‘programmes’ that suit grant
criteria or service thresholds. A shift to commissioning outcomes as opposed to
commissioning provision will also serve to create and promote a culture of shared
responsibility for, and a shared approach to, the delivery of outcomes. This co-ordination
should provide intensity to the work we do which in turn would secure sustainable change.
A sustainable step down support pathway
To embed behavioural change and sustain positive outcomes our model will include clear
step down support pathways from interventions/services. As individuals and families move
towards reaching their goal they will be assisted to reconnect with their community, family
and develop their self-confidence through a range of low level community based activity.
This low level community based activity will include peer support, group work activity,
training, coaching and mentoring.
A single shared outcome framework
A single shared outcomes framework will creates a robust infrastructure to support the
delivery of an outcome focused approach upon which collective effort can be measured
across all partners. The outcomes focus on:
o

Reducing the incidence of Adverse Childhood Experiences

o

Families and communities are confident, nurturing, resilient and safe

o

Achieving good educational outcomes: (closing the inequality gap)

o

Realising sufficient income and obtaining work that pays

o

Achieving a thriving and healthy future (well-being, active lifestyles)

o

Evidencing change by developing and delivering regular local survey of ACEs to
provide neighbourhood data on baselines and prospective outcomes

Please see Appendix A for the shared outcomes framework which provides more detail in
relation to priorities, population indicators and performance measures for each of these
outcomes.
This will also be supported by the development and delivery a regular local survey of ACEs
to provide neighbourhood data on baselines and prospective outcomes. This will allow us to
collect qualitative and quantitative information and to measure changes in perceptions at an
individual and community level. It will help us measure and evaluate the impact of the
approach on the community in their own words.

Page 112

103 | P a g e

By concentrating effort via a place based model with two of our areas of greatest need, it
facilitates partnership working on a small enough scale to effectively trial and evaluate this
new and innovative ways of working
7.

What support could we need to take this approach forward?

It is important that we do not try and anticipate what this model will look like prior to
completion of the review and first engagement phase but initial discussions suggest the
following support would be beneficial:


Research & Evaluation – professional support to develop the outcome and evaluation
framework exist within the partnership. However, funding to support the development
and delivery of prospective evidence gathering (e.g. through periodic local surveys) and
research would support capacity issues



Community Presence – the Community Zone will need to have a physical presence
within the community. Physical asset(s) will need to be identified and may require
investment to make it fit for purpose.



Community Engagement & Involvement – this is likely to require ‘Community
Coordinators’ based in both Zones.



Coordination & Administrative Support – to manage and support the development
and implementation of the proposed approach as well as data gathering and analysis for
evaluation and research purposes.



Long-term commitment – an acceptance that the aim is to build capacity and influence
population indicators, inequalities and determinants of health & well-being that take a
long time to change. A long term commitment is required from all partners.



Resources – all organisations to commit resources (core and grant) to a shared
approach. However, more flexibility in the way in which funding can be deployed to best
effect would be of considerable help. This could be achieved by aligning resources to
support people by:
o

Providing the help they need when they need it

o

Providing early interventions to prevent problems in the first place

o

Addressing issues well before they reach crisis point, when they place a
considerable burden and cost across on a range of public services.



Resources are required to support community activities / facilities that provide nonstigmatised accessible universal services, and to support the contribution made by
volunteers and community organisations. With change comes challenges and
accountability, particularly in the work involved in harnessing the benefits of a more
flexible funding stream, and to make the best possible use of public funding to deliver

Page 113

104 | P a g e

agreed outcomes. We recognise this and as a Public Services Board, we are committed
to devoting the time and effort to ensure is a success.

This proposed approach will be used as a proof of concept. If outcomes are successful the
Public Services Board will explore how this model can be applied to other communities
across Cwm Taf to meet their specific needs and challenges.

Page 114

105 | P a g e

Agenda Item 4
Civic Centre, Castle Street,
Merthyr Tydfil CF47 8AN
Main Tel: 01685 725000

www.merthyr.gov.uk

SCRUTINY COMMITTEE REPORT
Date Written

3rd April 2018

Accountable for Delivery Alyn Owen
Chris Long
Deb Ryan-Newton
Committee Date

17th April 2018

To: Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen

Working Life 1 – Making skills work for Merthyr Tydfil:
developing the workforce of the future
1.0

SUMMARY OF THE REPORT

1.1.

We have set Wellbeing Objectives for Merthyr Tydfil CBC, and how we intend to
achieve these objectives is set out in our plan Focus on the Future: Wellbeing in our
Community.

1.2.

This scrutiny report will demonstrate how the activities/services we deliver will support
the Council to make skills work for the people of Merthyr Tydfil, whilst developing the
workforce to meet employers changing needs.

1.3.

To demonstrate how, this report will focus on specific wellbeing projects the Council is
undertaking to deliver this wellbeing objective, whilst also contributing to the national
wellbeing goals.

1.4.

The two wellbeing projects on which we are offering updates on are:
 Measuring subjective wellbeing; and
 Pathways to Employment for Children Looked After and Care Leavers.

Page 115

2.0

RECOMMENDATION(S)

2.1.

The content of this report be discussed and noted.

3.0

INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND

3.1.

The Council is committed to delivering excellent Employability services. It will do this by
delivering its key strategies and through joint working with a range of partners. The key
strategies that focus on delivering excellent services in Education are:



3.2.

Economic Growth Strategy (unpublished)
Adult Community Learning Strategy1

Legislative Context
The Wellbeing of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 specifies that public bodies
must work to improve the economic, social, environmental and cultural wellbeing of
Wales by maximising their contribution to the Wellbeing Goals. We must do this in
accordance with the sustainable development principle (the 5 ways of working).

3.3.

On 22 March 2017, Elected Members approved the Council’s Statement of Wellbeing.
The document outlined the Council’s wellbeing objectives and listed what the Council
proposed to do to support an improvement in community wellbeing across the County
Borough. The Statement also explained why it considers meeting these objectives will
maximise our contribution to the achievement of the seven national wellbeing goals.

3.4.

Work was then undertaken involving Elected Members, senior officers and other
Council staff. Following a review of the findings of this work which was reviewed
alongside the views of communities across Merthyr Tydfil collected through community
engagement; the Council produced its local Wellbeing Plan for Merthyr Tydfil. Focus on
the Future: wellbeing in our community outlines how the Council would work towards
achieving its wellbeing objectives.

4.0

WHERE WE WERE

4.1.

An overview of the state of wellbeing in Cwm Taf was prepared in an assessment of
wellbeing2, which provides background information on wellbeing in Merthyr Tydfil and
Rhondda Cynon Taf. In addition, a population assessment3 was prepared to provide an
overview of care and support needs of the people of Cwm Taf and the range of services
required to meet those needs. The findings from the wellbeing and population
assessment contributed to the development of the statement of wellbeing for Merthyr
Tydfil.

1 NB – this strategy is currently under review
2 Information on the assessment
3

of wellbeing is published on the Cwm Taf Portal.
Information on the population assessment is published on the Cwm Taf Portal.

Page 116

4.2.

Focus on the Future: wellbeing in our community was approved by Elected Members at
the Full Council meeting on 26 July 2017.

4.3.

This report focuses on the following wellbeing objective:
Making Skills Work for Merthyr Tydfil: Developing the Workforce of the Future
Highly skilled and qualified people are supported by a local economy that makes full and productive use
of these skills; where our employers demand, value and make best use of their workforce’s skills.

4.4.

Our response to this objective reflects the work we do within our communities to
improve the skill level of the workforce. The key challenge in Merthyr Tydfil is to help
people develop their resources (skills, knowledge etc.) and tackle the barriers they
experience so they can become the workforce of the future.

4.5.

At the end of Year 1 of the Plan, the Council has focused on the following components
in order to achieve our wellbeing objective:




People having employment opportunities
People having the basic skills to access learning and training programmes
People having the skills and qualifications that are suitable for employers’ changing
needs

5.0

WHERE WE ARE NOW

5.1.

During year 1 of Focus on the Future, there were two wellbeing projects identified to
help deliver wellbeing improvements that would support the delivery of the objective
Making skills work for Merthyr Tydfil: developing the workforce of the future. This
report provides an evaluation of those four wellbeing projects:
Project name

Project lead

Measuring
the
subjective
wellbeing of
participants

Deb RyanNewton

Length of
project
1yr

STATUS

Evidence to support the
Status

Next steps

GREEN



The capturing of
subjective wellbeing
data will remain a key
focus for the
Employability Service
and is no firmly
embedded into day to
day operations. This
will be ongoing and will
now be seen a
business as usual.





Page 117

Employability Advisors’
better understand
participants enabling more
targeted support
Data being captured and
recorded to show impact of
service area interventions
Mins of team meetings that
show sharing of results in
terms of impact

Project name

Project lead

Pathways to
Employment:
Children
Looked After
and Care
Leavers

Deb RyanNewton

Length of
project
1yr

STATUS

Evidence to support the
Status

Next steps

GREE
N



We are now going to
link in on a more
regular basis with the
CLA team to ensure
that this project
remains a key focus
that contributes to our
corporate parenting
role.



Number of referrals being
received
Number of people
signposted to employability
focussed provision

A more robust
structure for case
conferencing potential
clients will take place
on a monthly basis
This will remain a key
focus for the
employability service
to support Social
Services and
Barnardos’ and is now
firmly embedded into
the day to day
functions of the
Employability Service
area.

5.2.

Status

Delivery Confidence Definition

Blue

Completed

Green

Successful delivery appears likely with no major outstanding issues to threaten
delivery

Yellow

Successful delivery appears probable but issues exists requiring management
attention

Amber

Successful delivery is in doubt with major risks or issues in a number of key areas

Red

Successful delivery appears to be unachievable

These projects outcomes were collectively judged to be GREEN: successful delivery
appears likely with no major outstanding issues to threaten delivery.

Page 118

2017/18
Achieved

Key Performance Indicators
Total number of children looked after by the Local Authority
Total number of young people eligible for the project
Total number of young people supported by the project

5.3.

Following the presentation of a ‘Lessons Learned’ report looking back on the first year
of delivery against the Plan, the findings identified three broad themes to deliver the
necessary improvements:




5.4.

1504
50 (at the end of
Quarter 3)4
18

Streamline the scrutiny process
Data quality
Clearer reporting and information sharing

In response to these findings, Focus on the Future has been refocused to improve
integration in order to deliver better outcomes and improve accountability. The
refocused plan has a reduced number of objectives, down from nine to four, which sit
under the 4 wellbeing themes.
Theme
Best Start

Working Life
Environmental
Wellbeing
Living Well

Wellbeing Objective
Children and young people have the best start to life and are equipped
with the skills they need to be successful learners and confident
individuals.
People feel supported to develop their skills to meet the needs of
businesses, with a developing, safe infrastructure making Merthyr Tydfil
an attractive destination
Communities protect, enhance and promote our environment and
countryside
People are empowered to live independently within their communities,
where they are safe and enjoy good physical and mental health.

Working Life 1 will now form part of the refocussed Working Life objective as we move
forward.
5.5.

4

To positively prepare for this change, a Working Life workshop was held on 9th March
2018 to review the requirements of the change and collaboratively plan a response for
the refocussed Objective. Contributors to the Environmental Wellbeing 2 objective
attended this workshop to ensure they were part of the planning for the required
change. As part of this workshop:

Figure reported at Corporate Parenting Team (March 2018) refers to data at 31 December 2017.

Page 119



The wording of the refocused objective was confirmed as “People feel supported
to develop the skills required to meet the needs of businesses, with a
developing, safe infrastructure making Merthyr Tydfil an attractive
destination”.



Following group consideration of the key response components required to meet
the objective; five components were identified. These are:
-



Making skills work for Merthyr Tydfil: developing the workforce of the future;
Developing the environment and infrastructure for business to flourish;
Communities protect, enhance and promote our heritage and cultural assets;
Developing safer communities, and
Supporting and accommodating those most disadvantaged in the housing market.

Attendees discussed how they could measure the impact of their services on the
objective. A list of suggested performance indicators and KPIs was built and is
currently being finalised to enable contributors to explicitly evidence how they are
progressing the components, the overarching objective whilst also positively
contributing to the national wellbeing goals.

6.0

WHAT WE NEED TO DO NEXT

6.1.

As a collaborative working group, all officers contributing to the Working Life theme
within the Plan will need to meet to review the status regarding the performance
indicators and KPIs to ensure the data collected is verifiable and available to be
included in future update reports to Scrutiny Committees. From 2018-2019 onwards, the
reporting of wellbeing projects will be made to the Governance Scrutiny Committee.

6.2.

This collaborative working group will also consider where wellbeing projects would be
required to strengthen the response to the Working Life objective. This will take place in
April to ensure all contributing to the objective are clear on their role within the group
and how their work supports the Council’s vision on contributing to improving
communities’ wellbeing.

ALYN OWEN
(CHIEF OFFICER
(COMMUNITY REGENERATION)

COUNCILLOR GERAINT THOMAS
CABINET MEMBER FOR REGENERATION &
PUBLIC PROTECTION

BACKGROUND PAPERS
Title of Document(s)

Document(s) Date

Document Location

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s
Constitution?

Page 120

Page 121

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 5
Civic Centre, Castle Street,
Merthyr Tydfil CF47 8AN
Main Tel: 01685 725000

www.merthyr.gov.uk

SCRUTINY COMMITTEE REPORT
Date Written

3rd April 2018

Accountable for Delivery Alyn Owen
Chris Long
Rhian Prosser
Cheryl Jones
Chris Hole
Committee Date

17th April 2018

To: Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen

Working Life 2 – Developing the environment and
infrastructure for business to flourish
1.0

SUMMARY OF THE REPORT

1.1.

We have set Wellbeing Objectives for Merthyr Tydfil CBC, and how we intend to
achieve these objectives is set out in our plan Focus on the Future: Wellbeing in our
Community.

1.2.

This scrutiny report will demonstrate how the activities/services we deliver will support
the Council to improve the environment and infrastructure in order to support business
to flourish.

1.3.

To demonstrate how, this report will focus on specific wellbeing projects the Council is
undertaking to deliver this wellbeing objective, whilst also contributing to the national
wellbeing goals.

1.4.

The three wellbeing projects on which we are offering updates on are:
 Relocation of Merthyr Tydfil Bus Station – Phase 2;
 Active Travel – Phase 1; and
 Childcare Sufficiency Assessment

Page 123

2.0

RECOMMENDATION(S)

2.1.

The content of this report be discussed and noted.

3.0

INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND

3.1.

The Council is committed to delivering excellent Economic Development and Physical
Regeneration services. It will do this by delivering its key strategies and through joint
working with a range of partners. The key strategies that focus on delivering excellent
services in Education are:
 Economic Growth Strategy (unpublished)
 Local Development Plan1
 Rural Development Plan
 Regional Transport Plan

3.2.

Legislative Context
The Wellbeing of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 specifies that public bodies
must work to improve the economic, social, environmental and cultural wellbeing of
Wales by maximising their contribution to the Wellbeing Goals. We must do this in
accordance with the sustainable development principle (the 5 ways of working).

3.3.

On 22 March 2017, Elected Members approved the Council’s Statement of Wellbeing.
The document outlined the Council’s wellbeing objectives and listed what the Council
proposed to do to support an improvement in community wellbeing across the County
Borough. The Statement also explained why it considers meeting these objectives will
maximise our contribution to the achievement of the seven national wellbeing goals.

3.4.

Work was then undertaken involving Elected Members, senior officers and other
Council staff. Following a review of the findings of this work which was reviewed
alongside the views of communities across Merthyr Tydfil collected through community
engagement; the Council produced its local Wellbeing Plan for Merthyr Tydfil. Focus on
the Future: wellbeing in our community outlines how the Council would work towards
achieving its wellbeing objectives.

4.0

WHERE WE WERE

1

The Local Development Plan is currently under review and is out for public consultation

Page 124

4.1.

An overview of the state of wellbeing in Cwm Taf was prepared in an assessment of
wellbeing2, which provides background information on wellbeing in Merthyr Tydfil and
Rhondda Cynon Taf. In addition, a population assessment3 was prepared to provide an
overview of care and support needs of the people of Cwm Taf and the range of services
required to meet those needs. The findings from the wellbeing and population
assessment contributed to the development of the statement of wellbeing for Merthyr
Tydfil.

4.2.

Focus on the Future: wellbeing in our community was approved by Elected Members at
the Full Council meeting on 26 July 2017.

4.3.

This report focuses on the following wellbeing objective:
Developing the environment and infrastructure for business to flourish
Development that integrates regeneration with sustainable urban design improves the built environment
and strengthens the natural environment.

Our response to this objective reflects the work we do within our communities to
develop the environment and infrastructure which facilitates the growth of communities,
attracts inward investment and supports a resilient local economy.
4.4.

At the end of Year 1 of the Plan, the Council has focused on the following components
in order to achieve our wellbeing objective:





People have access to flexible, integrated and sustainable transport options;
Suitable previously developed land that delivers a diverse supply of housing;
Strengthening and diversifying the local economy; and
Parents and carers have flexible childcare options.

5.0

WHERE WE ARE NOW

5.1.

During year 1 of Focus on the Future, there were two wellbeing projects identified to
help deliver wellbeing improvements that would support the delivery of the objective
Developing the environment and infrastructure for business to flourish. This
report provides an evaluation of those three wellbeing projects:
Project name

Project lead

Relocation of
Merthyr Tydfil

Chris Long /
Rhian

Length
of
project
1yr4

STATUS

Evidence to support the
Status
(maximum of 3 points)

Next steps

AMBER





Information on the assessment of wellbeing is published on the Cwm Taf Portal.
Information on the population assessment is published on the Cwm Taf Portal.
4 Phase 2 has been projected to last 12 months
2
3

Page 125

All required Welsh
Government deadlines
met

Await feedback
from Welsh
Government

Bus Station
(Phase 2)
Active Travel
Routes (Phase 1)

Childcare
Sufficiency
Assessment

Prosser
Chris Long
& Cheryl
Jones

1yr 6
months

Chris Hole

1yr 6
months

YELLOW





AMBER







5.2.

Community
consultation
completed
All required Welsh
Government deadlines
met



Further
consultation
pending 16th April
2018

Public consultation
undertaken and
feedback analysed
Childcare Sufficiency
Assessment Exercise
completed
Initial discussion
around business
support to childcare
providers undertaken.



Further discussion
re: the next steps
re: sector support
to be scheduled.

Status

Delivery Confidence Definition

Blue

Completed

Green

Successful delivery appears likely with no major outstanding issues to
threaten delivery

Yellow

Successful delivery appears probable but issues exists requiring
management attention

Amber

Successful delivery is in doubt with major risks or issues in a number of key
areas

Red

Successful delivery appears to be unachievable

The collective judgment for the performance of these 3 projects was judged to be
AMBER: Successful delivery is in doubt with major risks or issues in a number of key
areas.

Key Performance Indicators
Number of departures from Merthyr Tydfil Central Bus Station
annually5
Total spaces available during Term Time – Family Information
Service
5

2017/18
Achieved
178,294
1,859

As the project progresses, further measures linked to the practical relocation of the Bus Station will be identified and the relevant data
captured to demonstrate the impact of the work

Page 126

Childcare spaces available Term Time – nursery / childminders /
Cylch Meithrin) - Family Information Service

5.3.

Following a request from Scrutiny Committee Chairs, a ‘Lessons Learned’ report was
presented looking back on the first year of delivery of Focus on the Future. The findings
identified three broad themes to deliver the necessary improvements:




5.4.

808

Streamline the scrutiny process
Data quality
Clearer reporting and information sharing

In response to these findings, Focus on the Future has been refocused to improve
integration in order to deliver better outcomes and improve accountability. The
refocused plan has a reduced number of objectives, down from nine to four, which sit
under the 4 wellbeing themes.
Theme

Wellbeing Objective

Best Start

Children and young people have the best start to life and are equipped
with the skills they need to be successful learners and confident
individuals.
People feel supported to develop their skills to meet the needs of
businesses, with a developing, safe infrastructure making Merthyr Tydfil
an attractive destination
Communities protect, enhance and promote our environment and
countryside

Working Life

Environmental
Wellbeing
Living Well

People are empowered to live independently within their communities,
where they are safe and enjoy good physical and mental health.

Working Life 2 will form part of the refocussed Working Life objective moving forward
from 2018/19.
5.5.

To positively prepare for this change, a Working Life workshop was held on 9th March
2018 to review the requirements of the change and collaboratively plan a response for
the refocussed Objective. Contributors to the Environmental Wellbeing 2 objective
attended this workshop to ensure they were part of the planning for the required
change. As part of this workshop:


The wording of the refocused objective was confirmed as “People feel supported
to develop the skills required to meet the needs of businesses, with a
developing, safe infrastructure making Merthyr Tydfil an attractive
destination”.

Page 127



Following group consideration of the key response components required to meet
the objective; five components were identified. These are:
-



Making skills work for Merthyr Tydfil: developing the workforce of the future;
Developing the environment and infrastructure for business to flourish;
Communities protect, enhance and promote our heritage and cultural
assets;
Developing safer communities, and
Supporting and accommodating those most disadvantaged in the housing
market.

Attendees discussed how they could measure the impact of their services on the
objective. A list of suggested performance indicators and KPIs was built and is
currently being finalised to enable contributors to explicitly evidence how they are
progressing the components, the overarching objective whilst also positively
contributing to the national wellbeing goals.

6.0

WHAT WE NEED TO DO NEXT

6.1.

As a collaborative working group, all officers contributing to the Working Life theme
within the Plan will need to meet to review the status regarding the performance
indicators and KPIs to ensure the data collected is verifiable and available to be
included in future update reports to Scrutiny Committees. From 2018-2019 onwards, the
reporting of wellbeing projects will be made to the Governance Scrutiny Committee.

6.2.

This collaborative working group will also consider where wellbeing projects would be
required to strengthen the response to the Working Life objective. This will take place in
April to ensure all contributing to the objective are clear on their role within the group
and how their work supports the Council’s vision on contributing to improving
communities’ wellbeing.

ALYN OWEN
(CHIEF OFFICER
(COMMUNITY REGENERATION)

COUNCILLOR GERAINT THOMAS
CABINET MEMBER FOR REGENERATION &
PUBLIC PROTECTION

BACKGROUND PAPERS
Title of Document(s)

Document(s) Date

Document Location

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s
Constitution?

Page 128

Agenda Item 6
Civic Centre, Castle Street,
Merthyr Tydfil CF47 8AN
Main Tel: 01685 725000

www.merthyr.gov.uk

SCRUTINY COMMITTEE REPORT
Date Written

3rd April 2018

Accountable for Delivery Alyn Owen
Chris Long, Zoe Thomas, Rhian
Prosser, Ryan Barry, Kerry
O’Donovan, John Sellwood
Committee Date

17th April 2018

To: Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen

Environmental Wellbeing 2 – Communities protect, develop
and promote our heritage and cultural assets
1.0

SUMMARY OF THE REPORT

1.1.

We have set Wellbeing Objectives for Merthyr Tydfil CBC, and how we intend to
achieve these objectives is set out in our plan Focus on the Future: Wellbeing in our
Community.

1.2.

This scrutiny report will demonstrate how the activities/services we deliver will support
the Council to protect, develop and promote our heritage and cultural assets.

1.3.

To demonstrate how, this report will focus on specific wellbeing projects the Council is
undertaking to deliver this wellbeing objective, whilst also contributing to the national
wellbeing goals.

1.4.

The four wellbeing projects on which we are offering updates on are:





Urdd Sports Development Apprentice;
Provision of Welsh language workplace training opportunities;
Volunteering programme in the Cyfarthfa Heritage Area (Phase 1); and
Pontmorlais Townscape Heritage Quarter: Continuing the Renaissance.

Page 129

2.0

RECOMMENDATION(S)

2.1.

The content of this report be discussed and noted.

3.0

INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND

3.1.

The Council is committed to delivering excellent Economic Development and Physical
Regeneration services. It will do this by delivering its key strategies and through joint
working with a range of partners. The key strategies that focus on delivering excellent
services in Education are:





3.2.

Economic Growth Strategy (unpublished)
Welsh Language Promotional Strategy (unpublished)
Historic Environment Strategy (unpublished)
Welsh Education Strategic Plan (unpublished)

Legislative Context
The Wellbeing of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 specifies that public bodies
must work to improve the economic, social, environmental and cultural wellbeing of
Wales by maximising their contribution to the Wellbeing Goals. We must do this in
accordance with the sustainable development principle (the 5 ways of working).

3.3.

On 22 March 2017, Elected Members approved the Council’s Statement of Wellbeing.
The document outlined the Council’s wellbeing objectives and listed what the Council
proposed to do to support an improvement in community wellbeing across the County
Borough. The Statement also explained why it considers meeting these objectives will
maximise our contribution to the achievement of the seven national wellbeing goals.

3.4.

Work was then undertaken involving Elected Members, senior officers and other
Council staff. Following a review of the findings of this work which was reviewed
alongside the views of communities across Merthyr Tydfil collected through community
engagement; the Council produced its local Wellbeing Plan for Merthyr Tydfil. Focus on
the Future: wellbeing in our community outlines how the Council would work towards
achieving its wellbeing objectives.

Page 130

4.0

WHERE WE WERE

4.1.

An overview of the state of wellbeing in Cwm Taf was prepared in an assessment of
wellbeing1, which provides background information on wellbeing in Merthyr Tydfil and
Rhondda Cynon Taf. In addition, a population assessment2 was prepared to provide an
overview of care and support needs of the people of Cwm Taf and the range of services
required to meet those needs. The findings from the wellbeing and population
assessment contributed to the development of the statement of wellbeing for Merthyr
Tydfil.

4.2.

Focus on the Future: wellbeing in our community was approved by Elected Members at
the Full Council meeting on 26 July 2017.

4.3.

This report focuses on the following wellbeing objective:
Communities protect, develop and promote our heritage and cultural assets
Celebrating success, valuing our heritage, culture and language will strengthen our identify for future
generations

Our response to this objective reflects the work we do within our communities to use
communities assets to deliver ‘wealth and health’ benefits. Evidence suggests that
valuing our language, culture and heritage can bring improvements to the wellbeing of
individuals and communities.
4.4.

At the end of Year 1 of the Plan, the Council has focused on the following components
in order to achieve our wellbeing objective:


Supporting existing community facilities and community-led developments;;



Supporting suitable tourism, leisure and recreation developments;



Promoting cultural and social activities within our communities; and



Promoting the Welsh language.

5.0

WHERE WE ARE NOW

5.1.

During year 1 of Focus on the Future, there were two wellbeing projects identified to
help deliver wellbeing improvements that would support the delivery of the objective
Communities protect, develop and promote our heritage and cultural assets. This
report provides an evaluation of those four wellbeing projects:

1
2

Information on the assessment of wellbeing is published on the Cwm Taf Portal.
Information on the population assessment is published on the Cwm Taf Portal.

Page 131

Project name

Project lead

Urdd Sports
Development
Apprentice

Kerry
O’Donovan

Length
of
project
1yr3

STATUS

Evidence to support the
Status
(maximum of 3 points)

Next steps

GREEN



There are 4 after
school and 3
community clubs
being delivered
weekly. There are an
average of 150
children engaged
weekly in these.
There are partnerships
in place with Menter
Iaith, Welsh and
English medium
schools, Active
Merthyr Tydfil, the
Youth Service
and Merthyr Collage
to provide
opportunities to
support and develop
the Welsh Language.

The Urdd to work
partnership with the
following organisation
to develop additional
Welsh Language and
bilingual opportunities:
- Merthyr Tennis
Club
- Morlais Castle Golf
Club
- Afon Taf High
School Athletics.
- Holiday Provision
at Afon Taf High
School.

Welsh language
training enrolments
maintained over the
year with low drop-out
rate
Of the officers
undertaking
accreditation, 100%
have successfully
achieved a
qualification



Welsh language
training for staff is
now deemed
‘business as usual’

Architects Appointed
to design Schemes
EOI’s received on key
buildings



Progress with
buildings
Phased approach
plan agreed



3

Provision of
Welsh language
workplace
training
opportunities

Kerry
O’Donovan

Pontmorlais
Townscape
Heritage Quarter:
Continuing the
Renaissance

Chris Long /
Rhian
Prosser

1yr

AMBER





5yrs

GREEN




Phase 2 has been projected to last 12 months

Page 132



5.2.

Project name

Project lead

Volunteering
Programme at
Cyfarthfa
Heritage Area –
Phase 1

Chris Long /
Zoe Thomas

Length
of
project
1yr

STATUS

Evidence to support the
Status
(maximum of 3 points)

Next steps

YELLOW





Review and Lessons
learnt from previous
programme

Status

Delivery Confidence Definition

Blue

Completed

Green

Successful delivery appears likely with no major outstanding issues to
threaten delivery

Yellow

Successful delivery appears probable but issues exists requiring
management attention

Amber

Successful delivery is in doubt with major risks or issues in a number of key
areas

Red

Successful delivery appears to be unachievable

The collective judgment for the performance of these four projects was judged to be
YELLOW: Successful delivery appears probable but issues exist requiring management
attention.
2017/18
Achieved

Key Performance Indicators
Number of participants attending sessions delivered by the Urdd
Apprentice
Number of Local Authority staff registered for Welsh language classes
Percentage of staff achieving a Welsh language qualification
Restore 9 buildings within the Pontmorlais heritage Quarter during the 3
year project (2018/2020)4

5.3.

Year-end data
pending
Year-end data
pending
Year-end data
pending
N/A4

Following a request from Scrutiny Committee Chairs, a ‘Lessons Learned’ report was
presented looking back on the first year of delivery of Focus on the Future. The findings
identified three broad themes to deliver the necessary improvements:


4

Submit HLF
application
inclusive of activity
plan for volunteers

Streamline the scrutiny process

The waiting list of interested parties for this project currently exceeds the funding available.

Page 133

Data quality
Clearer reporting and information sharing



5.4.

In response to these findings, Focus on the Future has been refocused to improve
integration in order to deliver better outcomes and improve accountability. The
refocused plan has a reduced number of objectives, down from nine to four, which sit
under the 4 wellbeing themes.
Theme

Wellbeing Objective

Best Start

Working Life
Environmental
Wellbeing
Living Well

Children and young people have the best start to life and are equipped
with the skills they need to be successful learners and confident
individuals.
People feel supported to develop their skills to meet the needs of
businesses, with a developing, safe infrastructure making Merthyr Tydfil
an attractive destination
Communities protect, enhance and promote our environment and
countryside
People are empowered to live independently within their communities,
where they are safe and enjoy good physical and mental health.

Environmental Wellbeing 2 will form part of the refocussed Working Life objective
moving forward from 2018/19.
To positively prepare for this change, a Working Life workshop was held on 9th March
2018 to review the requirements of the change and collaboratively plan a response for
the refocussed Objective. Contributors to the Environmental Wellbeing 2 objective
attended this workshop to ensure they were part of the planning for the required
change. As part of this workshop:


The wording of the refocused objective was confirmed as “People feel supported
to develop the skills required to meet the needs of businesses, with a
developing, safe infrastructure making Merthyr Tydfil an attractive
destination”.



Following group consideration of the key response components required to meet
the objective; five components were identified. These are:
-

Making skills work for Merthyr Tydfil: developing the workforce of the future;
Developing the environment and infrastructure for business to flourish;
Communities protect, enhance and promote our heritage and cultural
assets;
Developing safer communities, and

Page 134

-



Supporting and accommodating those most disadvantaged in the housing
market.

Attendees discussed how they could measure the impact of their services on the
objective. A list of suggested performance indicators and KPIs was built and is
currently being finalised to enable contributors to explicitly evidence how they are
progressing the components, the overarching objective whilst also positively
contributing to the national wellbeing goals.

6.0

WHAT WE NEED TO DO NEXT

6.1.

As a collaborative working group, all officers contributing to the Working Life theme
within the Plan will need to meet to review the status regarding the performance
indicators and KPIs to ensure the data collected is verifiable and available to be
included in future update reports to Scrutiny Committees. From 2018-2019 onwards, the
reporting of wellbeing projects will be made to the Governance Scrutiny Committee.

6.2.

This collaborative working group will also consider where wellbeing projects would be
required to strengthen the response to the Working Life objective. This will take place in
April to ensure all contributing to the objective are clear on their role within the group
and how their work supports the Council’s vision on contributing to improving
communities’ wellbeing.

ALYN OWEN
(CHIEF OFFICER
(COMMUNITY REGENERATION)

COUNCILLOR GERAINT THOMAS
CABINET MEMBER FOR REGENERATION &
PUBLIC PROTECTION

BACKGROUND PAPERS
Title of Document(s)

Document(s) Date

Document Location

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s
Constitution?

Page 135

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 7
Civic Centre, Castle Street,
Merthyr Tydfil CF47 8AN
Main Tel: 01685 725000

www.merthyr.gov.uk

SCRUTINY COMMITTEE REPORT
Date Written
Report Author
Service Area
Committee Date

09th April 2018
Julian Pike
Housing & Community Safety
19th April 2018

To: Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen

Homelessness in the County Borough - Update
Report
1.0

SUMMARY OF THE REPORT

1.1

This report provides a brief update (as requested), following the previous report on
Homelessness, presented to this Committee on 24th October 2017.

2.0

RECOMMENDATION(S)

2.1

Content is noted by Committee Members and any queries raised with relevant
officers.

3.0

INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND

3.1

The Committee has requested a report providing a further update on homelessness
locally, further to the report presented on 24th October 2017.

3.2

As previously advised, The Housing (Wales) Act 2014 introduced a raft of changes
to housing policy and practice in Wales. This Act is the first piece of primary housing
legislation
passed by the Welsh Government. The homelessness element of the
legislation was enacted in April 2015 and essentially re-formed homelessness law in
Wales, including placing a stronger duty on local authorities to prevent
homelessness and allowing them to use suitable accommodation in the private
sector to discharge duties.

3.3

The new legislation effectively significantly widened the eligibility criteria for access
to services, placed a much greater emphasis on prevention of homelessness and

Page 137

completely changed the administrative process of dealing with homeless
applications. The net result of which is that:





The Department now deals with a far higher volume of cases at any one time
Housing Solution Officers are required to work with many clients for a much longer
period (from 56 days before client is potentially homeless) through the very
bureaucratic administration process where we aim to prevent homeless, alleviate
homeless or secure accommodation for those the Council holds a ‘duty to
accommodate’ to.
Cases are becoming much more complex year on year – often due to substance use
issues, mental health and rent arrears or other debts.

4.0

WHERE WE WERE

4.1

The first statistical release for 2015/16 (under the new legislation) had so many data
quality issues that it was de-designated as National Statistics. This was primarily due
to local authorities IT systems being unprepared for the new data capture methods
required and the statutory guidance for recording outcomes was not published by
Welsh Government until sometime after the legislation was enacted.

4.2

Therefore reviewing 2015/16 data is of no use.

4.3

It is also worth noting that pre 2015 statistics are incomparable with post 2015
statistics, as the new legislation fundamentally changed who can access services
and how the outcomes for clients are recorded.

4.4

The second full year of data – 2016-17 is greatly improved in terms of data quality,
however some significant issues remain, which Welsh Government are aware of and
trying to address.

Figure 1: Summary of Homelessness Statistics for Merthyr Tydfil 2016-17
Total nr of homelessness assessments in the yr

476

Of which were SINGLE persons

331 or 70%

Cases found NOT HOMELESS

92

Prevention success rate
Successful Relief rate

61%
33%

S66 cases
S73 cases
S75 cases

103 outcomes
178 outcomes (128 of which SINGLE persons)
5 outcomes (c. 1% of cases)

Cases resolved by Private Rented Accommodation

40

Nr of cases which resulted in no positive outcome

115 cases (24%)

Page 138

(Doesn’t mean 39% unsuccessful)
(Doesn’t mean 67% unsuccessful)

(c.50% with £ incentives)

5.0

WHERE WE ARE NOW - CURRENT PRESSURES

5.1

Full year, 2017-18 validated data will not be available until May/June 2018, therefore
we are unable to draw accurate conclusions on the overall trends at this time.
However the service pressures are clear and remain as reported in the October 2017
report (see 5.2)

5.2

Pressures upon the service and hence staff continue to increase due to a number of
factors beyond our control. The main factors include:

5.3



Continuation of Welfare Reform – which is reducing the money available to
many of the most vulnerable households in the County Borough



Merthyr Tydfil has a high
disproportionately affected.



Local Housing Allowance (LHA) – the rate at which housing benefit or
Universal Credit is paid – is the second lowest in Wales here in Merthyr Tydfil.
This means that most private rented accommodation is becoming
unaffordable to persons on Welfare Benefits.



Those hardest hit by the LHA rate are single persons under 35 yrs old – who
only receive £48 p/w for housing costs in the private rented sector. There are
no bedsits available in the County Borough at this rate.



From Figure 1 above you will note that 70% of homelessness presentations in
Merthyr Tydfil are single persons.



More clients than ever present to the department with complex issues
including significant medical problems, mental health issues, substance and
alcohol issues and significant rent arrears or debts. More clients than ever
before are presenting with all of the above issues, making resolving their
housing issue far more complex and challenging.



Rough sleeping (acute homelessness) has increased locally and even more
so nationally. During the 2016 rough sleeper count, we recorded 4 individuals
sleeping rough. Cardiff routinely has 100 now – 3 times the figure from just a
couple of years ago.



There is a distinct lack of specialist accommodation locally which caters for
persons with complex needs.

Welfare/Benefit

dependency

–

so

is

Based on data from quarters Q1-Q3, the department are likely to undertake circa
600 homelessness assessments in 2017-18. This is a 26% increase on the 476
assessments undertaken in 2016-17.

Page 139

Figure 2.0 - Anticipated loss by 2020-21 arising from post-2015 welfare reforms in
the Valleys (Source: HM Treasury, OBR and authors’ estimates based on official data)
£million per
annum

£ per working
age population

Rhondda, Cynon, Taf

44

290

Merthyr Tydfil

12

320

Caerphilly

34

300

Blaenau Gwent

13

300

Torfaen

16

280

Valleys

118

300

Wales

514

270

9,430

230

Great Britain
5.4

Figure 2.0 above shows the significant amount of money that is estimated to be
stripped from the local economy per annum as a result of welfare reform. It is worth
noting that figure 2.0 does not take into account the raft of welfare reform changes
which occurred between 2010 and 2015, which also significantly reduced the
benefits paid to the most vulnerable in our society.

5.5

It is the report author’s view that the vast sums of money removed from the welfare
benefit system is the primary reason for increases in homelessness (and the
increases in mental health issues nationally).

6.0

WHERE WE ARE NOW – OUR RESPONSE TO THE PRESSURES

6.1

In response to the increasing pressures on the Housing Solutions Team caused by
the increasing prevalence of homelessness locally (and nationally), significant
work has been undertaken to try to mitigate some of the effects of such pressures.
The next page outlines some of the actions taken to date.
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Co-located support agencies within the Housing Solutions Team – namely
Gofal, Adref (Streetsmart), Wallich (Bond Board) and Llamau (Mediation)
Co-located Supporting People Team with Housing Solutions Team – to better
inform commissioning of services
Supporting People Team Fund 2 full time hostels (20 beds) and some floating
support services (£410k). See figure below.
Supporting People Team fund supported living schemes x2 and some specialist
support services (£175k)
Recently appointed a Temporary Accommodation Officer to ‘smooth’ the flow of
clients through the various housing pathways & to maximise use of existing
accommodation available to us
Council have approved a cold weather plan
The Housing Solutions Team secures premises each year for the Winter Night
Shelter – which is run by volunteers

Page 140

•
•
•
•

Continue to develop accommodation options – such as Private Sector Leasing
and use of the Private Rented Sector, which is becoming a greater challenge
due to low levels of local housing allowance (LHA)
Commissioned Emphasis Project – Llamau
Developing a Housing First Model for Merthyr Tydfil
Purchased a new IT system- CIVICA to help with administration of Homeless
Cases – and allocation of social housing, now operational after 9 months
development work

Figure 3.0

Services commissioned by Supporting People Team (relevant to
Homelessness)

Scheme

Provider

Budget

Garth Villas – Homeless Hostel (18+ yrs)

Adref

£197,956

Adref

£33,624

Adref

£178,015

TOTAL

£409,595

Streetsmart – Fixed and Floating
homeless/in insecure accommodation

support

for

street

Young Person’s Homeless Hostel (16-24 yrs) – Age temporary
increased mid Sept 17 to 16-35 yrs as a trial

Scheme

Provider

Budget

Garth Newydd Court (SP Element only). (16-21 yrs)

Llamau

£14,523

Flooks – Move on Accommodation (16-22 yrs)

Llamau

£32,818

MV Homes Floating Support

MVH

£127,791

TOTAL

£175,132

Children’s services also fund this provision.

Figure 4.0

Total Payments

Bed & Breakfast Expenditure by the Housing Solutions Team
17/18
estimated
48,000

16/17
45,019.20

15/16
31,632.44

14/15
61,694.33

13/14
36,798.38

12/13
11/12
40,050.76 32,418.20

6.1

B&B accommodation is typically used for short periods whilst officers assess
someone’s homelessness application to determine whether they are actually
homeless and what (if any) statutory duty we may owe to them.

6.8

The Housing Solutions Team also invests over £12,000 (from grant and core funding)
in homelessness prevention activities such as paying off some arrears, paying bonds
etc…

Page 141

7.0

WHERE WE ARE NOW – OUR PROJECT RESPONSE

7.1

It is becoming ever clearer that the Council’s Housing Solutions Team cannot
address the increasing prevalence of homelessness in isolation. To this end we have
developed a number of potential projects which will aim to address certain aspects of
homelessness by mitigating some of the impact of the causal factors (such as
welfare reform).

7.2

Shared Accommodation Project Update
This project aimed to address the ridiculously low local housing allowance rate for
single persons Under 35 years old – of £48 p/w which already exists for the private
rented sector currently, but which was also planned for the social housing sector
from April 2019.

7.3

However, on 25th October 2017, the UK Government announced a surprising u-turn
on the local housing allowance cap, and abolition its intention to introduce it for
social housing and supported housing.

7.4

As a result, it was unanimously decided by all partners working on the Merthyr Tydfil
Shared Housing project to cease any further work on it at this time. Although the
LHA cap for the private rented sector remains a real issue locally, especially for
single people under 35 years of age, developing a sustainable Shared Housing
Project is fraught with the following difficulties:







7.5

There isn’t a culture of sharing accommodation in Merthyr Tydfil.
Consequently promoting sharing a house with a stranger to clients is therefore
a difficult and time consuming task.
Evidence from places like Cardiff, where there is a culture of sharing in the
student and professional housing markets, suggests that sharing at LHA rates
is more problematic
There are additional management costs for housing associations when
dealing with shared housing
There are policy frictions between housing benefit regulations and Council
Tax regulations, which make the formation of the tenancy arrangements,
complicated.
There are potentially significant void costs which may be incurred where one
sharer decides to move out.
Evidence and some experience, suggests that finding another suitable sharer
to enter the property, can be problematic. The original tenant/licensee can
often be quite ‘choosy’ on who they agree moves into the property with them

The Housing & Community Safety Manager met with the Director of the Chartered
Institute of Housing (CIH) in early February 2018 to discuss a way of continuing the
campaign to reconsider the LHA cap for the private rented sector, or at the very least
reviewing the rates in parts of Wales.

Page 142

7.6

Housing First

7.7

Since the last report in October 2017 the following progress has been made:












A grant of £21,000 has been secured from Welsh Government to assist with
developing the project
Two of the Merthyr Tydfil based housing associations have agreed in principle
to participate in the project and will look to provide two, single person units of
accommodation each. Total of 4 units.
South Wales Police have agreed to support the project and will consider
placing ‘markers/flags’ on the HF properties, once occupied to identify them to
officers, they will consider the properties in their patrol strategies, they will
consider use of PCSOs as appropriate to provide community reassurance and
the project will become a standing agenda item on the Quality of Life
meetings – which discuss antisocial behaviour issues locally.
In January 2018 a meeting was held with the Director of Mental Health
Services locally, who was supportive of the scheme. The NHS advice was to
appoint a ‘care co-ordinator’ to support the Housing First clients to engage
with public services, including mental health.
We have discussed and agreed with Supporting People colleagues to fund a
support worker/care co-ordinator type role, which will provide intensive
housing related support to the four individuals accepted into the project. This
has been included in the 2018-19 supporting people budget plan.
At a Homelessness Event held in the Orbit in November 2017- significant
support for the housing first model was received from local church groups and
homelessness volunteers. As the project detail develops, such support will be
crucial to the success of the scheme, as the volunteers may act as peer
support or mentors to the individuals within the project
A meeting with local drug and alcohol treatment and support services has
been arranged.

7.8

It is anticipated that a new supporting people service (key-worker) will be
commissioned and in place for May 2018, which will hopefully provide enough time
to source at least some of the four properties initially proposed for the project.

7.9

Selection of project participants will be undertaken by a multi-agency panel, with a
view to trying to select those persons who are ready and willing to engage in
services. The list of attendees at the Winter Night Shelter is likely to form the basis of
the selection pool in the first instance.

7.10

Development of a Supported Accommodation Gateway and Temporary
Accommodation Officer

7.11

The Temporary Accommodation Officer (TA Officer) has now been appointed, not a
new member of staff, but a reconfiguration of an existing role. The key purpose of
this role is to arrange and oversee the entry and move-on from the 3 B&Bs, 2
Hostels, 3 Merthyr Valleys Homes Temporary Accommodation Flats schemes and
Private Sector Leasing units.

7.12

The purpose of which is to reduce use of B&B which has significant risk associated
with it, to ensure all persons owed a statutory duty (homelessness or any other

Page 143

(looked after), are prioritised for hostels ahead of all clients – allowing full
assessments to be undertaken including duties owed, next steps, client wishes,
affordability, support plans etc…
7.13

The TA officer will be co-ordinator for the Supported Accommodation Gateway –
arranging meetings, accepting referrals, maintaining a database of clients, ‘waiting
list’, capturing demand data and translating this into service intelligence – identifying
the type of services/accommodation not currently provided locally, for which there is
evidential need. This will in turn influence future commissioning decisions.

7.14

This approach required reconfiguration of the 2 ‘homeless hostels’. Until the 8th
January 2018 they both permitted direct access, which meant that people who are
not homeless (as defined in statue) could enter the premises and receive a licence to
remain. The knock on effect was that when the Council had a statutory duty to
provide someone with temporary accommodation, there was rarely any availability,
forcing us to use Bed & Breakfast establishments. Significant work and engagement
over a two year period has finally culminated in removal of direct access.

7.15

In the month since direct access was removed, we have seen significant
improvements in our ability to place individuals in the hostel based upon level of
support need, and not simply if there is room or not.

7.16

Further work is required over the coming months to further refine this process.

7.17

Merthyr Tydfil CBC’s first Homelessness Event (14th Nov 2017)

7.18

Event was held on 14th November 2017 (which scrutiny members were invited to), to
raise the profile of the issue locally, to outline the current pressures on the local
authority and other services, to highlight some of the good work being undertaken to
address the emerging issues.

7.19

Attendance was very good, with full capacity achieved. A number of key agencies
were present and a large contingent of local volunteers and faith groups.

7.25

Cold Weather Plan

7.26

Council approved the Cold Weather Plan in December 2017. The Council is legally
required to have a Cold Weather Plan, to outline our response to severe weather
events, where rough sleepers may be significantly harmed or die. The plan
essentially sets out our response – which entails working with colleagues in the third
sector (which are commissioned by the Council) to actively seek out rough sleepers
when temperatures drop below zero degrees Celsius to try to engage them with
services (statutory and voluntary).

7.27

Winter Night Shelter

7.28

The Shelter, located above the bus shelter in the town centre, opened its doors
again this year on 3rd January 2018. Occupation rates have been significantly higher
than previous years. All 10 beds have been filled on many of the nights thus far.

7.29

There have been some minor incidents reported to us in relation to its operation, but
nothing of real concern to date.

Page 144

7.30

Annual Rough Sleeper Count
Welsh Government require all local authorities to conduct an annual 2 week survey
with all local agencies who engage with rough sleepers, to establish the prevalence
of the issue locally.

7.31

In addition to this 2 week survey, we are also required to arrange a snap shot
physical survey of all known locations of rough sleepers on a particular night in
November. This is a national snapshot survey. In November 2016 – we found and
engaged with 4 rough sleepers in Merthyr Tydfil.

7.32

On the November 2017 one night count – 8 individuals were found and engaged
with. All were present at a local derelict building. All were known to the Housing
Solutions Team. Some of these persons are now within the Winter Night Shelter.

7.33

Private Sector Leasing Scheme

7.34

The number of properties at our disposal has now increased from 6 to 8. Said
properties are proving to be an invaluable resource in discharging our temporary
accommodation duty to homeless people in priority need.

8.0

WHAT WE NEED TO DO NEXT

8.1

The large number of projects at various stages of development and implementation
contained with section 7.0 of this report will provide the main focus of our work for
the next 12 to 18 months.

9.0

CONTRIBUTION TO WELLBEING OBJECTIVES

9.1

Best Start to Life – there is significant evidence to show the devastating effects that
homelessness can have on families with children. Being placed in temporary
accommodation, for even the briefest of periods can be very upsetting and even
neurologically damaging for children. The stress and anxiety caused within
households facing homelessness inevitably leads to the prevalence of more Adverse
Childhood Experiences (ACEs) for children caught up in the situation. Many of the
projects and services outlined in this report are aimed at preventing homelessness,
providing support to families in crisis and to quickly find new accommodation for
those who find themselves homeless.

9.2

Working Life – it is very difficult if not impossible to sustain employment if an
individual becomes homeless. Furthermore it is very difficult to focus upon finding
employment, when an individual’s basic human needs – shelter, are not satisfied.
Therefore homelessness services are crucial to enabling people to find and sustain
employment.

9.3

Living Well – chronic rough sleepers and those ‘marginally/tentatively housed’ are
often (but not always) substance users and most, if not all, have three or more
Adverse Childhood Experiences. This often leads them into crime to fund their habit,
typically manifesting itself in petty crime such as shop lifting, but also more serious
crime such as public order offences, violence and assaults. This behaviour inevitably

Page 145

has a negative impact on a communities’ perception of safety. Homelessness can
have a catastrophic effects on a person’s physical and mental wellbeing. Numerous
studies have shown that the prevalence of disease and mortality in rough sleepers
for instance is far higher than the general population. At the less acute stages of
homelessness – cases where persons are going without food to pay rent or other
costs (often debts) are sadly increasing with an inevitable detrimental effect on the
person’s physical and mental health. Almost all of the projects outlined in this report
focus upon enabling people to find suitable and affordable accommodation which
meets their needs and aspirations to live well and to live independently.

ELLIS COOPER
DEPUTY CHIEF EXECUTIVE

CLLR GERAINT THOMAS
REGENERATION & PUBLIC PROTECTION

BACKGROUND PAPERS
Title of Document(s)

Document(s) Date

Document Location

NONE
Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s
Constitution?

Page 146

No

Agenda Item 8
Civic Centre, Castle Street,
Merthyr Tydfil CF47 8AN
Main Tel: 01685 725000

www.merthyr.gov.uk

SCRUTINY COMMITTEE REPORT
Date Written
Report Author
Service Area
Committee Date

9th April 2018
Jared Green / Chris Long
Community Regeneration
17th April 2018

To: Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen

Economic Growth Strategy and Partnership
1.0

SUMMARY OF THE REPORT

1.1

Economic regeneration, through increasing employment, encouraging business
growth and tackling social disadvantage, is an important activity for Merthyr Tydfil
County Borough Council and its partners. It contributes to local strategic aims in
advancing Merthyr’s economic well-being and underpins cross-cutting approaches to
tackle deprivation as a result of industrial decline.

1.2

There are 4 key priority areas that have been highlighted to be addressed
simultaneously to enable economic regeneration and bring economic growth to
Merthyr Tydfil. These priority areas include:
The economic base – the existing business and business infrastructure that exists
locally and constitutes the sum total local GDP
The labour market – all residents of a working age who are employed, unemployed
or economically inactive
Skills – those by qualification and work based skills
Physical infrastructure – physical infrastructure such as roads, buildings etc. and
also ICT infrastructure

•
•
•
•
1.3

In order to achieve holistic economic growth these four elements must be developed
and co-ordinated in a single strategic plan, (Economic Growth Strategy). It is
imperative that all key delivery partners are engaged in setting the strategic priorities.
The plan also requires a single operational planning process based on greater
integrated planning. It is also critical that all internal departments within the local
authority and partner organisations have clarity in their individual role in operational
delivery arrangements.

Page 147

1.4

Cabinet approval was received to create an Economic Growth Partnership in
November 2015 which would involve both key stakeholders within the Local
Authority and a number of strategic external partners. A mapping exercise was
undertaken to secure a holistic picture of delivery partners’ programmes (including
contract and funding) enabling identification of the employment/training needs of key
employers/inward investors etc.

1.5

Consultancy firm Wavehill were appointed in October 2016 to support the
development of an Economic Growth Strategy. After some deliberation the Economic
Development Team and the Economic Growth Partnership have agreed on a change
to the document in its current state. The Economic Growth Strategy is a strategic
document that will act as a working manuscript for MTCBC and will encompass the 4
key strands within the ‘Plan on a page’.

The key priorities within our Economic Development Plan on a page are:
•
•
•
•

AIM 1: To support the creation of the right type of businesses supported by the right
type of business infrastructure
AIM 2: Create a flexible, resilient and responsive labour market
AIM 3: Improve skill levels to support business growth
AIM 4: Create the right infrastructure to enable and accelerate business growth
Although the current draft touches upon all of the aims above, we feel that the
strategy in its current format lends itself more towards - AIM 2: Create a flexible,
resilient and responsive labour market. So what we have decided is to make the
Wavehill Economic Growth Strategy a document dedicated to this aim and with this
we have re-named the Wavehill document to – An Economic Growth Strategy for
Merthyr Tydfil (A flexible, resilient and responsive labour market)

1.6

Wavehill have already presented us with a draft in relation to our AIM 2: Create a
flexible, resilient and responsive labour market. However, we need the strategy
to include the remaining 3 aims and this is something The Economic Growth
Partnership would require support on. The internal and partnership knowledge to
complete the remaining aims is in place however there is a need for support on
bringing it all together in a cohesive and concise manner. We believe ‘The Means’
would be the ideal partner to help us achieve this.

1.7

By 2018, we want to see positive levels of business births and survivability reflecting
a competitive business sector that is both resilient and competitive in a changing
global market. In addition, through job creation we want to see a trend of continuous
reduction in the JSA claimant population.

1.8

By 2018, we want the percentage of working aged adults with no qualifications to be
lower in Merthyr Tydfil than the Welsh average and the percentage of adults with
Level 1 and 2 qualifications to be higher than the Welsh average.

2.0

RECOMMENDATION(S)

2.1

The judgements and evaluations are noted and debated.

Page 148

3.0

INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND

3.1

Economic regeneration, through increasing employment, encouraging business
growth and tackling social disadvantage, is an important activity for Merthyr Tydfil
County Borough Council and its partners. It contributes to local strategic aims in
advancing Merthyr’s economic well-being and underpins cross-cutting approaches to
tackle deprivation as a result of industrial decline.

3.2

There are 4 key priority areas that have been highlighted to be addressed
simultaneously to enable economic regeneration and bring economic growth to
Merthyr Tydfil. These priority areas include:

•

The economic base – the existing business and business infrastructure that exists
locally and constitutes the sum total local GDP

•

The labour market – all residents of a working age who are employed, unemployed
or economically inactive – this priority area has been covered in substantial detail by
Wavehill.

•

Skills – those by qualification and work based skills

•

Physical infrastructure – physical infrastructure such as roads, buildings etc. and
also ICT infrastructure

3.3

In order to achieve holistic economic growth these four elements must be developed
and co-ordinated in a single strategic plan, (Economic Growth Strategy). It is
imperative that all key delivery partners are engaged in setting the strategic priorities
and are clear on the outcomes which are to be achieved. The plan also requires a
single operational planning process based on greater integrated planning. It is also
critical that all internal departments within the local authority and partner
organisations have clarity in their individual role in operational delivery
arrangements/accountabilities.

3.4

The vision of the Economic Growth Plan for Merthyr Tydfil is ‘to create a diverse and
vibrant economy with a skilled, flexible and well paid work force and well developed
business infrastructure’. Achieving the vision will position Merthyr Tydfil as a key
regional centre within the Cardiff City Region.

3.5

The Council cannot deliver the necessary intervention to facilitate this process alone.
It is essential that key partners are engaged to develop an Economic Growth
Strategy that will integrate the connection between the key priority areas. This is
critical to achieving sustained and sustainable economic growth in Merthyr Tydfil.

3.6

If the Economic Growth Strategy is to become a ‘game changer’ in the economic
fortunes of Merthyr Tydfil, the current pace of economic recovery must increase,
which can only be achieved by doing things differently.

3.7

An outline strategy on a page to deliver a new Economic Growth Strategy has been
produced. There are four strategic aims on which the plan is based:
•

To support the creation of the right type of businesses supported by the right
type of business infrastructure

•

Create a flexible, resilient and responsive labour market

Page 149

•

Improve skills levels to support business growth

•

Create the right infrastructure to enable and accelerate business growth

4.0

WHERE WE WERE

4.1

In 2015/16, a mid-term review of the Single Integrated Plan was undertaken. During
this process, the decision was taken to more closely align the Economic
Development team and the Employability team. This has led to improved delivery
and integration between ‘physical’ and ‘social’ regeneration teams within the
Economic Development & Strategic Tourism Department.

4.2

4.3

The Economy
Cabinet approval was received to create an Economic Growth Partnership in
November 2015 which would involve both key stakeholders within the Local
Authority and a number of strategic external partners. A mapping exercise was
undertaken to secure a holistic picture of delivery partners’ programmes (including
contract and funding) enabling identification of the employment/training needs of key
employers/inward investors etc.
Wavehill was appointed in October 2016 to support the development of an Economic
Growth Strategy. The key elements of the report included:
-

-

-

Amalgamate the findings identified within the Skills Review into the current draft
Economic Growth Strategy Document (action plan)
Identify the indicators on a two tier level – firstly, the high level indicators higher
strategic population levels that have been identified within the current draft
Economic Growth Strategy and secondly, the programme level / local level
indicators that the local authority have achieved / aspire to achieve. For the local
indicators, benchmarking against other local authority areas will be important.
Therefore indicators need to reflect what other areas are recording – particularly
in relation to ESF Programmes / Work Programmes including Work Programme
outputs and DWP Work Choice programmes and all Enterprise/Business support
programmes, national and locally
Identify what programmes are currently being implemented (particularly the ESF
funded programmes) and what the current gaps in delivery are. Based on these
findings outline a new programme / policy in future, potentially through new
opportunities such as the City Deal.
Using the 5 ways of working as a tool, we will develop a scheme of a local
operating model to underpin the delivery of the EGS identifying its key
components, delivery work strands and any gaps and requisite remedial action to
address; these including proposed new project/programme development. It is
anticipated there would be a need to link work strands directly to the strategic
cornerstones identified in the skills needs action plan and identify how these
specifically support the delivery of the EGS. It is expected that this will include
coverage of issues related to Economic Development, Inward Investment, Skills,
Education and Training, Education 14+ plus links to the local Poverty strategy.

4.4

The report will be finalised in September 2017.

4.5

The Enterprise Centre, managed by Tydfil Training, remains the first point of
engagement for individuals needing business advice and support. It provides the

Page 150

traditional resources to ensure the sustainability of enterprises. This mechanism is
available to both new and existing businesses. The ‘Meanwhile’ scheme which
provides opportunities for test trading will continue, linking new and existing
businesses to derelict or under-utilised buildings in the Town Centre. The scheme
supported the creation of 116 jobs and these job opportunities will be directly aligned
to the Employability section of the Service Area.
4.6

4.7

4.8

The Labour Market
Small and medium-sized enterprises were supported to sustain their businesses
moving forward and an example of success in this area is the EFFECT project. The
EFFECT programme (Enterprise Facilitation for Effective Community
Transformation) offered free, confidential business support to local people, start-up
ventures, existing businesses and social enterprises. At the end of 2016; the
programme had engaged with 98 individuals resulting in the creation of 24 new jobs;
17 new businesses whilst also safeguarding 17 jobs and helping 40 businesses
(including 13 social enterprises).
Skills
At the end of March 2016, 3 ESF funded employability programmes were approved
and started to be rolled out: Bridges into Work 2; Communities4Work and Working
Skills for Adults 2. A delivery model was devised and venues secured for
community-based provision to begin. A separate report “Making skills work for
Merthyr Tydfil: Developing the workforce of the future”, has been prepared, which
includes an update on the ESF projects and this will be presented at Scrutiny on 12th
September 17 as part of the Wellbeing Objectives: Working Life 1 Report.
Infrastructure
In 2015/16 and 16/17, the Regeneration Team continued to support the development
of infrastructure across the County Borough. This included the completion of the
ERDF Funded Town Centre Regeneration Programme including the gyratory system
to support an improvement in traffic flow and direct access through the Town Centre
in particular. 2017 also saw the completion of the Vibrant and Viable Places
Programme which developed and delivered a series of infrastructure projects in the
Town Centre and surrounding areas.

5.0

WHERE WE ARE NOW

5.1

A number of projects have been identified for reporting on against the aims and
objectives of the Economic Growth Strategy:

5.2

Redevelopment of the Hoovers site
Discussions with the current owners of the site and Welsh Government (WG) are
ongoing with the view to develop a site master plan

5.3

Bus Station Development
The central Bus Station is due to relocate to a new site at the southern end of the
Town Centre. This is being undertaken to meet increasing demand and support
Merthyr Tydfil’s role as a regional transport interchange. The re-location of the Bus
Station will create a redevelopment opportunity in the heart of the Town to attract a
new retail or leisure development to enhance the viability and vitality of the Town
Centre. The views of the public were gathered through a series of consultation

Page 151

events linked to the re-siting of the Bus Station; their feedback was used when
reaching a final decision. The team will continue to monitor the five case business
model which has been submitted to Welsh Government and deliver on the £30,000
secured through the Local Transport Fund by March 2018. Discussions with the
owners of St. Tydfil’s Shopping Centre regarding the acquisition of land for the bus
station development will also continue.
5.4

Townscape Heritage (TH – HLF)
Heritage Lottery has approved a grant of £1.2 million towards continuing the
conservation and restoration of buildings in the Pontmorlais Heritage Quarter. The
programme currently has £1.9 million of funding in total with contributions from
CADW and MTCBC for 9 buildings, public realm improvements, traditional building
skills training and community activities. This funding is secured to deliver the
programme from April 2017 until March 2022.

5.5

Town Centre and wider area (Phase 3) Master Plan
The Town Centre over a period of 10 years has seen a significant amount of EU
funding to regenerate the area. This next phase will now incorporate a wider area
inclusive of Town Centre and the current Hoover site.

5.6

Taff Bargoed Redevelopment
The Taff Bargoed area over a period of 10 years has seen a significant amount of
EU funding to regenerate the area. This next phase will now look to develop the next
phase Strategy / Action Plan taking into consideration the Taff Bargoed Park and
investment taking place at ROCK UK.

5.7

MTCBC has secured a range of ESF programmes to provide learning/training and
employment opportunities throughout the County Borough and these programmes
include:

5.8

•

The Aspire Shared Apprenticeship Programme will offer 10-15 Shared
Apprenticeship places in the manufacturing/engineering related occupations.

•

The Working Skills for Adults 2 programme aims to increase skills at all levels
from basic to level 2 across the workforce through community provision. The
programme will improve opportunities for currently low level skilled workers to
sustain employment and increase earnings potential

•

The Bridges into Work 2 Programme provides a boost to individuals and
opportunities for improving skills in areas that are in demand by employers.
The aim is to help people in Merthyr Tydfil into sustainable employment.

•

The Communities 4 Work Programme has been developed to help those
adults furthest away from the labour market into employment. It builds on
existing programmes to tackle poverty to help get people into work.

Trago Mills
The Economic Growth Partnership is currently providing an unprecedented level of
support that was assessed by the Economic Growth Partnership in relation to the
required support for this development. Discussions regarding recruitment solutions
ideas were shared with Senior Management, and this has now been delivered
effectively and continues to do support Trago with ongoing recruitment and training

Page 152

needs. A detailed implementation recruitment plan was developed with the Partners
and lead partner Job Centre Plus and this was implemented in September 17 in
readiness of the official opening April 18.
5.9

General Dynamics
The Economic Growth Partnership is actively engaged with General Dynamics and
has presented the Recruitment and Training plan in order to support their recruitment
needs. As a result of the Economic Growth Partnership engagement, Merthyr
College have an apprenticeship programme running which gives young students
studying the Enhanced Engineering Programme the opportunity for full time
employment within General Dynamics.

6.0

WHERE WE WANT TO BE

6.1

By 2018, we want to see positive levels of business births and survivability reflecting
a competitive business sector that is both resilient and competitive in a changing
global market. In addition, through job creation we want to see a trend of continuous
reduction in the JSA claimant population. Although the Local Authority has no direct
responsibility for these population indicators and there is no direct accountability; the
work being undertaken by the Service Area can be seen to contribute to support
positive progression in this area.

6.2

By 2018, we want the percentage of working aged adults with no qualifications to be
lower in Merthyr Tydfil than the Welsh average and the percentage of adults with
Level 1 and 2 qualifications to be higher than the Welsh average.

6.3

As detailed in 4.5, the Enterprise Centre, managed by Tydfil Training, will continue to
be the first point of engagement for individuals needing business advice and support,
predominantly in the Town Centre. It provides the traditional resources to ensure the
sustainability of enterprises. This mechanism is available to both new and existing
businesses. The meanwhile scheme which provides opportunities for test trading
will continue, linking new and existing businesses to derelict or under-utilised
buildings in the Town Centre. The scheme will continue to create jobs and these job
opportunities will be directly aligned to the Employability section of the Service Area.

6.4

Upon completion, the Economic Growth Strategy and action plan will enable the

Economic Growth Partnership with the identification and continued support of the
employment/training needs of key employers/inward investors etc.
6.5

In relation to inward investment, the Economic Growth Partnership will continue to
explore recruitment solutions for the creation of jobs attributed to Inward Investment
in line with the process used to support the c. 250 jobs for General Dynamics and c.
350 jobs for Trago Mills.

6.7

In March 17 Welsh Government invited MTCBC to develop a proposal linked to the
development of a manufacturing / engineering shared apprenticeship programme for
Merthyr Tydfil, replicating the model operating in Blaenau Gwent encouraging the
development of business growth, enhancing skills whilst tackling unemployment; one

Page 153

of the key issues driving poverty in the area. A proposal was submitted to Welsh
Government and funding to deliver the programme was secured which will result in
the creation of the Aspire Shared Apprenticeship Programme within the
manufacturing / engineering sector targeting 16-24 year olds. The programme is
currently employing 4 apprentices with a further 4 going through informal interviews
with Host Employers within Merthyr Tydfil.
6.8

The Regeneration Team will continue to support the development of infrastructure
across the County Borough through programmes such as the Townscape Heritage
scheme. The Bus Station project has become a key priority for delivery which will
improve access to the Town Centre. The Team will also target other Regeneration
Programmes from Welsh Government and Welsh European Funding Office.

6.9

The Economic Growth Strategy has 1 of the 4 key priority areas complete by
Wavehill with the other 3 priority areas being touched upon in some detail but not
enough for it to be considered complete in terms of the final Economic Growth
Strategy. We are now looking to commission ‘The Means’ to pull the remainder of
the priorities together into the final draft of the Economic Growth Strategy.

7

WHAT WE NEED TO DO NEXT

7.1

Deliver on the £30,000 secured from the Local Transport Fund by March 18 and
further develop the fundraising strategy for the Bus Station.

7.2

Continue discussions with the St. Tydfil’s Shopping Centre regarding the acquisition
of the land for the Bus Station development and complete the acquisition of land
process for the wider development site.

7.3

Agree procurement strategy for the TH architect and contractors framework.

7.4

Conclude current evaluation being undertaken by The Means on the TH Programme
with the businesses and landlords in the area to gauge thoughts on programme
effectiveness.

7.5

Develop a new Strategy / Action Plan for the Taff Bargoed Area taking into
consideration developments at Taff Bargoed Park and investment at Rock UK.

7.6

Explore usages for the Pavilion and identify sustainable solutions for usage of the
lakes in Taff Bargoed Park.

7.7

Finalise the Economic Growth Strategy and deliver on the findings within the action
plan.

7.8

Deliver the Aspire Shared Apprenticeship Programme to offer 10-15 Shared
Apprenticeship places in the manufacturing / engineering related occupations.

7.9

Continued delivery of the ESF Funded Programmes.

Page 154

7.10

Continue to offer the recruitment model to support recruitment of people into
employment for Trago Mills and General Dynamics through the Economic Growth
Partnership along with all potential inward investors and existing growth businesses.

8.0

CONTRIBUTION TO WELLBEING OBJECTIVES

8.1

In terms of the Wellbeing Objectives set down in Focus on the Future; a separate
report “Making skills work for Merthyr Tydfil: Developing the workforce of the future’
has been prepared, which includes an update on the ESF projects and this will be
presented at Scrutiny on 12th September 17.

8.2

The EGS also contribute to another Wellbeing Objective within Focus on the Future:
“Developing the Environment and Infrastructure for Businesses to flourish”. A report
will be prepared and presented at a forthcoming Scrutiny meeting to inform Elected
Members of the work being undertaken in this area.

ALYN OWEN
CHIEF OFFICER COMMUNITY
REGENERATION

COUNCILLOR GERAINT THOMAS
CABINET MEMBER: REGENERATION
AND PUBLIC PROTECTION

BACKGROUND PAPERS
Title of Document(s)

Document(s) Date

Document Location

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s
Constitution?

Page 155

No

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 9
Civic Centre, Castle Street,
Merthyr Tydfil CF47 8AN
Main Tel: 01685 725000

www.merthyr.gov.uk

SCRUTINY REPORT
Date Written
Report Author
Service Area
Exempt/Non Exempt
Committee Date

2nd April 2018
Howard Jones
Scrutiny
Non-Exempt
17th April 2018

To: Committee Members,

Developing a Work Programme for 2018/19
1.0

SUMMARY OF THE REPORT

1.1

At the start of each municipal year each Scrutiny Committees begins to devise a
work programme for the following 12 months.

1.2

This report provides some information for committee members to consider when
preparing the work programme.

2.0

RECOMMENDATION(S) that

2.1

The Committee notes the contents of this report.

2.2 The Committee considers establishing a Task and Finish Group to prepare a draft
work programme for submission to the next committee meeting for further
discussion / agreement.

3.0

BACKGROUND INFORMATION

3.1

Scrutiny was introduced in local government across the UK through the Local
Government Act 2000, as the traditional “Committee System” of local government
administration was replaced with a more streamlined “Cabinet and Scrutiny
System”. Scrutiny was seen by the Centre for Public Scrutiny as having four
‘cornerstones’, namely:
•
•
•
•

3.2

Led by ‘independent minded governors who own the scrutiny role;
Acts as a ‘critical friend’ of the executive, holding decision makers to account;
Represents the views and concerns of the citizen; and
Leads to the improvement of public services.

Broadly speaking, local government scrutiny committees operate in a manner
similar to the select committees supporting the UK Parliament. They are composed

Page 157

of non-executive councillors of all political groups (in proportion to the Council’s
overall political balance), and meet both in public and in private to:
• Help the Administration develop and review policies;
• Test the Council’s performance and offer advice for improvement;
• Provide pre-decision scrutiny of decisions that the administration is about to
make;
• Periodically call in for examination decisions that the administration has
recently made;
• Offer a platform for citizens and citizen groups to represent their concerns or
ideas for improvement.
3.3

Scrutiny is recognised as playing a vital and statutory role in the council's
governance, shaping the agenda, influencing policy and holding decision makers
to account, engaging the public and building the organisation’s resilience and
accountability in its working with regulators, partners, the media and citizens.

3.4

Although scrutiny covers all areas over which the Cabinet has authority, a number
of key areas are specified in legislation and should be taken into account when
developing the work programmes. For instance:

3.5

•

The Police and Justice Act 2006 requires each Council to designate a
committee as its statutory Crime and Disorder Committee, providing powers to
scrutinise the way the Council is working with the Police and other agencies to
tackle crime and disorder and support community safety;

•

The Local Government Measure (Wales) 2009 gives scrutiny a statutory role
in securing improvement of public services under the Wales Programme for
Improvement, providing assurance to bodies like Wales Audit Office, Estyn
and the Care and Social Services Inspectorate for Wales that the Council is
providing robust and effective self-regulation;

•

The Local Government Measure (Wales) 2011 requires Councils to ensure
that its scrutiny function takes into account the citizen’s view, making
provisions for public co-option onto scrutiny committees, a close relationship
between the Council and its local voluntary services council, and requiring that
authorities have protocols for public involvement.

•

The Wellbeing of Future Generations Act (Wales) 2015 specifies that each
Council should designate a committee as its statutory committee to scrutinise
the Council and its local strategic partners in health, policing, environment and
the third sector working to secure wellbeing for the population through its local
Public Services Board (Cwm Taf Public Services Board).

The quality of the environment in which scrutiny operates, the practice of scrutiny
and the outcomes that it delivers can be usefully measured through the framework
of the Characteristics of Effective Scrutiny in Wales (see APPENDIX I), developed
by all 22 local authorities in Wales in partnership with the Centre for Public
Scrutiny and the Wales Audit Office. This framework identifies 15 key
characteristics that if followed effectively will deliver:
•
•

Better outcomes for the area;
Better decisions for the organisation; and

Page 158

•

Better engagement with the public.

4.0

DEVELOPING THE WORK PROGRAMME.

4.1

Setting a work programme for each of the scrutiny committees is an important
stage in the Scrutiny process. An effective and well planned work programme will
identify the key topics that scrutiny will consider over the coming year (June 2018
to May 2019). The Local Government (Wales) Measure 2011 requires Scrutiny
Committees to publish forward plans of their scrutiny work.

4.2

Scrutiny is a Member-led function and as such it is up to the scrutiny committees
themselves to determine the work programmes. It is vital that scrutiny members
take responsibility for both drawing up and managing their own work programme.
The work programme is a working document that is subject to change and
Members can add, remove, and defer items as necessary. A Work Programme will
provide a clear picture to the public and partners of planned scrutiny activity

4.3

“Effective work programming is the bedrock of an effective scrutiny function. Done
well, it can help to lay the foundations for targeted, incisive and timely work on
issues of local importance, where scrutiny can add value. Done badly, scrutiny can
end up wasting time and resources on issues where the impact of any work done is
likely to be minimal.” 1

4.4

The Wales Audit Office 2 says that “Councils should ensure that the contents of
forward work programmes are based on sound criteria with a clear rationale for
topic selection and that sufficient consideration is given to the method of scrutiny,
rather than just the selection of topics. A key criterion for the selection of topics
and the method of scrutiny should be the extent to which scrutiny committees are
likely to have an impact in the area they have selected.”
“To help ensure that scrutiny has an impact, scrutiny committees may have to
balance a desire to examine a large number of topics with the likelihood of
securing greater impact through focusing on a small number of items in more
detail.”

4.5

Some key principles for setting work programmes are shown below. A topic does
not need to meet all of these criteria in order to be scrutinised, but they are
intended as a guide for prioritisation.
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

1
2

Is the issue a priority area for the Council?
Is it a key issue for local people?
Will it be practicable to implement the outcomes of the scrutiny?
Are improvements for local people likely?
Does it examine a poor performing service?
Will it result in improvements to the way the Council operates?
Is it related to new Government guidance or legislation?

Centre for public Scrutiny (CfPS)
th
“Good Scrutiny? Good Question!” 20 May 2014 http://www.cfps.org.uk/publications?item=113&offset=0

Page 159

4.6

The following criteria may also be helpful in identifying what issues are not suitable
for scrutiny:
•
•
•
•

4.7

The issue is already being examined by another body.
The matter is prejudicial to the Council's interests.
The matter relates to a specific case falling within the complaints procedure, or
should be dealt with via the complaints process.
The issue relates to an individual disciplinary matter or grievance.

Sources of information to identify key topics for the work programme come from a
wide range of sources including:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Suggestions made by Council Members and Co-opted members
Suggestions made by senior management
Suggestions made by members of the public
Corporate performance reports
Suggestions made by partners and stakeholders
Suggestions made by Regulators
The Council's Wellbeing Objectives
Topics from budget monitoring reports
Issues from audit and inspection reports
Performance issues
Inspectors’ and Regulators’ concerns (e.g. ESTYN, WAO and CSSIW)

Please see APPENDIX II (Scrutiny Work Programme – Prioritisation Process) and
APPENDIX III (Scrutiny Work Programme Proposal / Request Form)
4.8

The Committee will also have considered:•
•

Its areas of responsibilities / remit (see APPENDIX IV)
the roles that scrutiny undertakes e.g. holding the Cabinet and decision-makers
to account; policy review and development; performance monitoring; external
scrutiny. (see APPENDIX V)

APPENDIX VII is the work programme document that will need to be completed by
each of the scrutiny committees
4.9

The Welsh Government is keen that local authorities encourage members of the
public to participate and engage in scrutiny activity. Such mechanisms of
engagement include for example a member of the public requesting that an item
be placed on an agenda for consideration (providing this is of immediate relevance
to a topic included on its Work Programme); and the ability to submit evidence
(oral or written) to a planned or ongoing scrutiny review or investigation (taken
from the work programme).

Page 160

4.10 An article will be in the next Contact magazine asking the public for suggestions for
the work programmes. The Communications department will also put notifications
out on Twitter and Facebook asking for work programme suggestions.
4.11 There is a mechanism in place on the scrutiny pages of the Councils website to
allow anyone to submit suggestions for the work programmes (online form).
4.12 Should any members of the committee have suggestions to get the public more
involved in the scrutiny process, please can you contact the scrutiny section
accordingly.

HOWARD JONES
SCRUTINY OFFICER
BACKGROUND PAPERS

Page 161

National Welsh Scrutiny Officers Network

APPENDIX I

Outcomes and characteristics for effective local government overview & scrutiny
Outcome
What does good
scrutiny seek to
achieve?

Characteristics
What would it look like? How could we recognise it?

1. Democratic
accountability
drives
improvement in
public services.

Environment

“Better Outcomes”

i)

Overview & scrutiny has a clearly defined and valued role in the council's improvement and
governance arrangements.

ii)

Overview & scrutiny has the dedicated officer support it needs from officers who are able to
undertake independent research effectively, and provides councillors with high-quality analysis,
advice and training.

Practice
iii) Overview & scrutiny inquiries are non-political, methodologically sound and incorporate a wide
range of evidence and perspectives.
Impact
iv) Overview & scrutiny regularly engages in evidence based challenge of decision makers and service
providers.
v)

2. Democratic
decision making is
accountable,
inclusive and
robust.
“Better decisions”

Overview & scrutiny provides viable and well evidenced solutions to recognised problems.

Environment
i)

Overview & scrutiny councillors have the training and development opportunities they need to
undertake their role effectively.

ii) The process receives effective support from the council’s corporate management team who
ensures that information provided to overview & scrutiny is of high quality and is provided in a
timely and consistent manner.
Practice
iii) Overview & scrutiny is councillor-led, takes into account the views of the public, partners and
regulators, and balances the prioritisation of community concerns against issues of strategic risk
and importance.
iv) Overview & scrutiny meetings and activities are well-planned, chaired effectively and make best
use of the resources available to it.
Impact
v)

Decision makers give public account for themselves at overview & scrutiny committees for their
portfolio responsibilities.

Page 162

National Welsh Scrutiny Officers Network
Outcomes and characteristics for effective local government overview & scrutiny

3. The public is
engaged in
democratic debate
about the current
and future
delivery of public
services.

Environment

Practice

“Better engagement”

ii)

i)

Overview & scrutiny is recognised by the executive and corporate management team as an
important council mechanism for community engagement, and facilitates greater citizen
involvement in governance.

Overview & scrutiny is characterised by effective communication to raise awareness of, and
encourage participation in democratic accountability.

iii) Overview & scrutiny operates non-politically and deals effectively with sensitive political issues,
tension and conflict.
iv) Overview & scrutiny builds trust and good relationships with a wide variety of internal and external
stakeholders.
Impact
v)

Overview and scrutiny enables the 'voice' of local people and communities across the area to be
heard as part of decision and policy-making processes.

Page 163

APPENDIX II
Scrutiny Work Programme – Prioritisation Process
Does this issue affect a number of people
living, working and studying in the County
Borough?

NO

YES

Does the issue match the strategic aims of
the council?

NO

YES

Will the scrutiny activity add value? Is
performance likely to improve as a result of
scrutiny activity?

NO

YES

Will scrutiny work be duplicating other
work?

YES

YES

Is the Council due to review the relevant
policy
area
(allowing
scrutiny
recommendations to influence the new
direction to be taken)?

NO

YES

Is it an issue of concern to Partners,
Stakeholders, and/or the Community?

NO

YES

Are there adequate resources available to
do the scrutiny well?

NO

YES

Is the scrutiny activity timely?

NO

YES

ACCEPT
High
Priority

CONSIDER
Medium /
Low

Page 164

REJECT

3)

A Guide to Scrutiny Work Programmes

Scrutiny Work programmes
Scrutiny is a Member-led function and as such it is
up to the scrutiny committee itself to determine the
work programme. It is vital that scrutiny members
take responsibility for both drawing up and
managing their own work programme
Setting the work programme for scrutiny
committees is an important stage in the scrutiny
process. A work programme will show the topics to
be considered over the coming months and will
provide a clear picture to the public, officers and
other interested parties of scrutiny activity.
Scrutiny should be able to demonstrate that as a
consequence of its activity there have been
improvements in services and performance. It must
also be able to show that its activities are what
people want and can help to add the most value. It
is therefore essential that the process for selection
of scrutiny topics is thorough and robust.
Effective work programming is the bedrock of an
effective scrutiny function. Done well, it can help to
lay the foundations for targeted, incisive and timely
work on issues of local importance, where scrutiny
can add value. Done badly, scrutiny can end up
wasting time and resources on issues where the
impact of any work done is likely to be minimal.
The Wales Audit Office says that “Councils should
ensure that the contents of forward work
programmes are based on sound criteria with a
clear rationale for topic selection and that sufficient
consideration is given to the method of scrutiny,
rather than just the selection of topics. A key
criterion for the selection of topics and the method
of scrutiny should be the extent to which scrutiny
committees are likely to have an impact in the area
they have selected.”
There is no instant formula to decide which topics
to scrutinise. The key to effective scrutiny is for
Members to select topics where they can make
the greatest contribution.

Balancing the Workload
In setting a work programme committee
members may wish to refer to the Centre for
Public Scrutiny’s (CfPS) ‘Four Principles of Good
Overview and Scrutiny’ i.e.

a)
b)
c)
d)

To provide a ‘critical friend’ challenge,
To reflect the voice and concerns of the public
and its communities,
To take the lead and own the scrutiny process
and
Make an impact on service delivery.

Based on these four principles, a number of key
functions make up the core business of scrutiny.
Ideally, in setting its work programme, scrutiny
should aim for a balance between these different
roles, which include:Holding the Executive (Cabinet as a whole and
individual Cabinet Members) to account for the
quality and appropriateness of its/their decisions; for
the performance of the council against local and
national standards; and for the improvement of
individual services and departments.
Policy review - this could be for a number of
reasons including changes in legislation and
government guidance or a local policy that is no
longer fit for purpose or needs updating.
Policy development - in addition to reviewing
existing policies and services, scrutiny has a role in
developing and making recommendations for new
policy. This is often at the request of the executive or
full council but may also be a response to any third
party request or under scrutiny’s own initiative.
External scrutiny - the Local Government Act 2000
gives scrutiny committees the power to examine and
make recommendations on matters which are not the
responsibility of the local authority but which
nevertheless affect the local authority’s area or its
inhabitants

The 8 Elements of Work Programme
success
1. Be realistic. Start small and add elements if time
permits.
2. Make sure scrutiny Councillors take the lead in
identifying and managing the work programme.
3. Identify some ‘quick wins’ to gain confidence in
the early stages.
4. Shift/filter/prioritise your work programme.
5. Select a small number of issues which can be
examined in depth.
6. Make sure the issues are of interest to members,

Page 165

relevant to the work of the authority – don’t
avoid politically contentious issues.
7. Work programmes that cover 6-12 month
periods work best.
8. Ensure that you monitor the results.

Suggestions for scrutiny topics come
from a variety of sources:
•
•
•

Selection Criteria
The following criteria could be used by the Scrutiny
Committee and to support the evaluating and
prioritising of each proposed topic for the Scrutiny
Committee work programmes. This process is not
set in stone.

•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Suggestions made by Council Members and Coopted members
Suggestions made by senior management
Suggestions made by members of the public
Corporate performance reports
Suggestions made by partners and stakeholders
Suggestions made by Regulators
The Council's Corporate Plan / Corporate
Priorities
The Cwm Taf PSB’s Plans and Strategies
Topics from budget monitoring reports
Issues from audit and inspection reports
Performance issues.
Inspectors’ and regulators’ concerns

The Committee will also have considered Its areas of
responsibilities / remit; the roles that scrutiny
undertakes e.g. holding the Cabinet and decisionmakers to account, policy review and development,
performance monitoring, and external scrutiny.

How to contact us.
Scrutiny Support Officer
Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council
Democratic Services Department
Civic Centre, Castle Street
MERTHYR TYDFIL
CF47 8AN
01685 725464

scrutiny@merthyr.gov.uk
http://www.merthyr.gov.uk/council/councillors-andcommittees/scrutinycommittees/

Page 166

APPENDIX III
Scrutiny Work Programme Proposal / Request Form
Item(s) for ………………………………….………..Scrutiny Committee Work Programme
Topic/Subject ……………………………………………………………………………………
…………………………………………………………………………………………………….
Q)

Why has the item been suggested for the scrutiny work programme?
Is the issue a priority area for the Council?
Is it a key issue for local people?
Will it be practicable to implement the outcomes of the scrutiny?
Are improvements for local people likely?
Does it examine a poor performing service?
Will it result in improvements to the way the Council operates?
Is it related to new Government guidance or legislation?
Other – please specify……………………………………………………………

Please provide further details…………………………………………………………………….
………………………………………………………………………………………………………..
………………………………………………………………………………………………………..
………………………………………………………………………………………………………..
Q)

What is the specific role of the committee?
This will depend on the item – for example the role could be:
To determine if performance levels are acceptable in relation to a particular
department
To determine if a specific policy is fit for purpose
To satisfy itself that the Authority is working well with its partners in tackling a major
issue
To gather the views of specific stakeholders as part of an on-going scrutiny
investigation / review
To explore possible solutions to an issue
Other – please specify………………………………………………………………………..

Please provide further details…………………………………………………………………….

Page 167

………………………………………………………………………………………………………..
………………………………………………………………………………………………………..
………………………………………………………………………………………………………..

Q)

What outcome is being sought from the consideration of this item?
To comment on the proposed budget and make suggestions to cabinet regarding the
proposed budget’s ability to deliver the priorities of the council
Identification of any causes for concern and note successes.
To receive an overview presentation.
To gain an understanding of and to comment on a policy / strategy
To explore ideas around the setting of budgets while considering the pressures facing
each service. This also helps provide an overview of the policy frame work.
For the scrutiny committee to gain an overview and refresh their knowledge of the
corporate plan / other plan / other strategy.
Improvement in service delivery
other – please specify……………………………………………………………

Please provide further details…………………………………………………………………….
………………………………………………………………………………………………………..
………………………………………………………………………………………………………..
………………………………………………………………………………………………………..
Q)

Who should be invited to the meeting to provide the information?
Depending on the information you need you might want to hear from a range of
witnesses – e.g. Cabinet members, Senior Officers, Service users, and External
partners – e.g. Police, Health Board etc

Please provide further details…………………………………………………………………….
………………………………………………………………………………………………………..
………………………………………………………………………………………………………..
………………………………………………………………………………………………………..

Page 168

Q)

Does the committee need to ask for written representations?
The Committee may wish to pose some questions to the Department / Cabinet
member / External Partner etc prior to the meeting. This may help in instances
when the committee is looking for something specific to be addressed. This will
assist whoever is attending ensure that they have the information / answer ready
for the meeting.

Please provide further details…………………………………………………………………….
………………………………………………………………………………………………………..
………………………………………………………………………………………………………..
………………………………………………………………………………………………………..
Q)

Which meeting format / venue would be most appropriate for the item and for
the witnesses that will be invited to attend?
Meetings do not have to be held in a formal committee room environment. You
may wish to hold occasional meetings out in the community e.g. community
centres, sports facilities etc. It depends on the subject. Some people find the
formal setting intimidating. Site visits for example may be more appropriate to see
first hand what the committee is investigating / obtaining information on e.g. waste
sites, regeneration projects etc.

Please provide further details…………………………………………………………………….
………………………………………………………………………………………………………..
………………………………………………………………………………………………………..
………………………………………………………………………………………………………..

Page 169

Examples of types of scrutiny (what is appropriate for each topic)
1.

Policy Review & Development – where the Committee contributes to the
development of policy by scrutinising and making recommendations on policy
proposals. Scrutiny Members may wish to be kept informed regarding new legislation,
policy refreshing exercises and the outcomes of external assessments in order to
provide recommendations to the Cabinet on policy.

2.

Pre-Decision Scrutiny - Where the Committee evaluates and comments upon policy
proposals before they go to the Cabinet, giving the Cabinet the opportunity to know
Scrutiny Members’ views prior to making their decision. Members may wish to keep
informed of areas coming up on the agenda of Cabinet, in case they wish to prescrutinise items.

3.

Performance Monitoring – where the Committee regularly analyses key performance
data from the service areas within its remit in order to: highlight good performance;
identify poor performance; examine trends over time; benchmark against other
authorities; and examine the impact that initiatives and changes in resources have on
performance and service delivery. By undertaking this role scrutiny may identify
subjects that require further investigation

4.

Task and Finish – where the Committee examines a clearly defined topic using a
planned approach over a set period of time, including: receiving evidence from
Cabinet, officers and external witnesses; collating good practice; site visits where
necessary; consulting stakeholders; and delivering a clear set of key findings and
recommendations.

5.

Briefing Papers – where the Committee is receiving information on a topic to facilitate
future scrutiny and analysis of that issue.

6.

Call-in – where the Committee is considering a recent Cabinet or officer decision that
a non-executive Councillor has requested be re-considered, and which meets the
Council’s criteria for Call-in as per the Constitution.

7.

In-depth topic reviews – Scrutiny Members may identify a topic they wish to review
in depth. This enables Members to take time to consider evidence about the service
area or organisation in question from various stakeholders, and present wide ranging
recommendations aimed at service improvement.

8.

Overview - one of scrutiny’s main functions is to monitor the Council’s budget, service
performance, and key decisions. The Scrutiny Committees also have an ‘overview’
remit and may have items on the agenda to brief Members about an area of work
relevant to their terms of reference. Oversight of these areas is routine business and
normally planned in advance. By undertaking this monitoring scrutiny may identify
subjects that require further investigation.

9.

Short scrutinies - Scrutiny members can question senior officers and cabinet
members about an issue in just one or two meetings. This approach enables scrutiny
to address key, topical issues quickly. It is a useful way of holding to account or of
highlighting quickly the work being done by the Council in relation to residents' areas
of concern, or to have an update from a previous scrutiny to monitor progress. These
short scrutinies are also a useful way for members to monitor and challenge a service
or policy over a period of time and carry out broad, light touch, overview of services.
The outcomes of these discussions are likely to be comments to the Cabinet Member,
rather than detailed reports with a number of evidence-based recommendations.

Page 170

MTCBC Scrutiny Committee Remits
GARETH CHAPMAN

ELLIS COOPER

(Chief Executive)

(Deputy Chief Executive)

SUE WALKER

LISA CURTIS-JONES

CHERYLLEE EVANS

Chief Officer

Chief Officer

Chief Officer

Chief Officer

0 LEARNING0

0 SOCIAL SERVICES0

0NEIGHBOURHOOD SERVICES0

0COMMUNITY REGENERATION0

Chief Education Officer (Statutory Role)
School Improvement (David Swallow)
Inclusion & Wellbeing (Sarah Bowen)
School Planning & Improvement (A Lewis)
Additional Learning Needs (Dorothy Haines)
Governor Services (Gary Winston)

Director of Social Services
Adults Social Services (Mark Anderton)
Children’s Social Services (Annabelle Lloyd)
Community Development (Ian Benbow)
Safeguarding (Alex Beckham)

Anthony Lewis

Annabel Lloyd

(Head of School Planning and Improvement)

(Head of Children Social Services & Safeguarding)

Planning of School Places and School
Admissions (Helen Griffiths)
21st Century Schools Programme (Anthony
Lewis)
School Organisation Planning (Anthony Lewis)
Education Asset Management (Anthony Lewis)
School Catering / Schools Buildings and
Facilities Management / School Health & Safety
/ School Cleaning / School Caretaking (Edwina
Pickering)
Local Management of Schools & School
Resource (Craig Flynn)
Education Management Information Systems
(Capita One) (Emma Strand)

Wellbeing & Early Response (Joe Rhys-Jones)
Services Supporting Permanence (Sarah Skuse)
Merthyr Tydfil Family Centre & Contact (Pauline Lipian)
Family Support (Kathryn O’Keefe)
Intake (Gareth Powell) / Advocacy (Annabel Lloyd)
Children with Disabilities (Jon Eyre)
Early Intervention (Jon Eyre)
Children Looked After (LAC) (Tammy Griffiths-Type)
Fostering & Adoption (Angela Allen)
LAC Education Support (LACES) (Jessica Jones)
Children’s MASH) (Joe Rhys-Jones / Gareth Powell)
Multi Intervention Assistance (MIA) (Gareth Kedward)
Cwm Taf Youth Offending Service (Jason O’Brien RCT)
Cwm Taf Integrated Family Support (Jay Goulding (RCT)

Corporate Property & Estates (Lisa Emerson / Mick

ALYN OWEN

Waste Management (Paul Davies)
Highways & Engineering (Darren Chaffe / Kevin

Physical Regeneration (Chris Long)
Economic Development (Chris Long)
Tourism (Chris Long)
Employment / Employability Services (Chris

Davies)

Long)

Fleet Management (Mick Campbell)
Grounds Maintenance (Rob Barnett)
Street Cleansing / Tidy Towns (Paul Jones)
Environmental Cleansing and Enforcement (Paul

European and External Funding (Chris

Campbell)

Jones)

Long)

Destination Management Plan Coordinator
Public Protection & Housing (Steve Peters)

Parks & Bereavement Services (Rob Barnett)
Planning & Countryside (Judith Jones)

Mark Thomas

Carys Kennedy

(Head of Corporate Services)

(Head of Legal & Governance)

Customer Contact Centre (G Edwards/C
O’Neill)

Service Support (G Edwards/Sian Thomas)
Executive Support (G Edwards/Heidi Jones)
CCTV / Lifeline (G Edwards /Sian Davies)
Parking Administration, Enforcement &
Strategy (G Edwards)
CTPSB (Suzanne Davies)
Benefits and Revenues (Benefits, C.Tax,
Debtors, Cash Collection) (Mike Parry)
Internal Audit (Gary Evans)
Leisure Trust / Active Lifestyles / Sports,
Leisure & Culture Development (John
Sellwood)

Judith Jones

Steve Peters

(Head of Planning & Countryside)

(Head of Public Protection & Housing)

Development Control (Planning applications,
Appeals & Enforcement)
Building Control (Building Regulations &
Dangerous Structures)
Planning Policy & Implementation (Local
Development Plan, Built Heritage Conservation,
Landscape, Ecology & Biodiversity, G.I.S.

Partnerships (Suzanne Davies)

Page 171

Mark Anderton
(Head of Adult Social Services)
Supported People and Accom.(Lowri Morgan)
Day Services (Rob Derrick)
Initial Support Services (Angela Edevane)
Community Occ. Therapy (Sonia Lloyd-Williams)
Older People and Disability (Nicola Hughes)
Community Mental Health (Alyson Jones)
Psychiatry of Old Age (Alyson Jones)
Advocacy (Mark Anderton)
Complaints ((Jonathan Strong / Gaynor Lewis)
Assessment & Charging (Jonathan Strong /Lesley-Anne
Gallent) / Contracting (Gareth Richards)
Llysfaen (Chris Bartz)
Ty Bargoed Newydd (Treharris) (Margaret Davidson)
Ty Gurnos Newydd (Gurnos) (Nancy Harding)
Adults MASH (Alex Beckham)
Cwm Taf Social Care Workforce Development (Jon Day

Register of Electors (Ann Taylor)
Scrutiny Services (Howard Jones)
Information Governance (Lisa Donnelly)

Human Resources and Organisational
Development (Fran Donnelly)

Fran Donnelly
(Head of Human Resources and
Organisational Development)
(Reports to Carys Kennedy)

HR Operations (P. Williams)
HR Advice for Schools (Donna Perry)
HR Admin (G Estabanez)
Occupational Health (Alison Davies)
Job Evaluation (Leanne Edwards)
Health & Safety (A Dinham)
Pensions (N Zeraschi)
Payroll (David Jones)
Trade Unions

Housing Services (Strategic/Housing
Solutions/ Homelessness) (J Pike).
Housing Renewal Area (J Pike).
Disabled Facility Grants (J Pike).
Licensing (Paul Lewis).
Trading Standards / Licensing (Paul Lewis).
Environmental Health (Sue Gow)

Home to School / Subsidised Transport
“Countryside” relates to ecology, biodiversity and
landscape which sit under the umbrella of
implementation within the ‘Planning policy and
Implementation section’, for which Chris O’Brien is
the Group Leader.

Monitoring Officer
Legal (Simon Jones)
Democratic Services(Ann Taylor)
Electoral Services (Ann Taylor)

(Paul Lewis).

Registry Service (Lorraine Evans).
Community Safety (J Pike).

Steve Jones

Ellis Cooper

(Head of Finance)
Section 151 Officer
Accountancy (Adele Lewis)
Insurance (Huw Davies)
Procurement (Paul Davies)
Creditors (Huw Sims)
Corporate Finance (Steve Jones)

Other Departments:Corporate Comm’s (Ceri Dinham)
I.T. / Print & Design (Richard Evans)
Emergency Planning (Rob Gough)
Business Change (A Mogford)
Risk Management / Equalities/Welsh
Language (K O’Donovan) (Reports to A
Mogford)

Performance (Reports to A Mogford)
(Reports direct to Ellis Cooper)

RCT)

Chris Hole
(Head of Community Wellbeing)
Early Years & Flying Start (Sarah Davies)
Youth & Youth Services (Samantha Morgan)
Families First (James Watkins)
Communities First (Vacant)
Play (Chris Hole) / Integrated Children’s Centre (Nerys
Jones) / Adult Community Learning (Jayne Powney)
Parenting (Anthony Mee)
NEET’s (Diane Jones)

Social Services
Scrutiny Committee

Neighbourhood Services, Planning
& Countryside
Scrutiny Committee

Regeneration and Public
Protection
Scrutiny Committee

Governance, Performance, Business Change
and Corporate Services
Scrutiny Committee

(Also Crime & Disorder Committee)

Cllr Lisa Mytton (Portfolio Member for
Learning)

Cllr David Hughes (Portfolio Member for Social
Services)

Cllr Howard Barrett (Portfolio Member for
Neighbourhood Services, Planning
& Countryside)

Cllr Geraint Thomas (Portfolio
Member for Regeneration and Public
Protection)

Cllr Andrew Barry
(Portfolio Member for “Governance and Corporate Services”)

APPENDIX IV

Learning and LAESCYP
Scrutiny Committee

APPENDIX IV

APPENDIX V

The responsibilities of Scrutiny committees can be split into four main areas as
detailed below.

1. Holding Portfolio Holders to account for the services within their areas of
responsibility
The Cabinet system for local government means that the Leader and Portfolio
Holders are directly accountable for all of the services provided by the Council. This
means that Portfolio Holders are asked to present reports to Scrutiny and are held
accountable for the Council's performance.
Portfolio Holders are also held to account scrutiny through performance monitoring.
Portfolio Holders are invited to present monitoring reports on targets in their portfolio.
This gives the Committee a chance to take an overview of progress towards
achieving the aims of the Council for the year and helps to show the clear
relationship with the Portfolio Holder's responsibility for the service area.

2. Contributing to the development and review of key Council policies and
programmes
Scrutiny plays a vital role in maintaining an overview of the Council's work and
looking in depth at programmes of work or issues which either have particular
significance for residents or have been highlighted as areas of concern.
In order to undertake this work, the Committee can set up Informal Task & Finish
Groups of committee members who work with officers in the relevant area to review
the issue and report back to their parent scrutiny committee. If there are any
recommendations these are then passed to Cabinet for consideration and, if agreed,
implementation.
Scrutiny can also ask for ad hoc reports on aspects of the Council's business
throughout the year.
Scrutiny can do the following in relation to policy development and review:
a)
b)
c)
d)

Help the Council develop its budget and policy framework by looking at policy
issues;
Carry out research and consultation when looking into policy issues and
possible options;
Put in place mechanisms to encourage community participation and the
development of policy options;
Question Members of Cabinet, the Chief Executive / Deputy Chief Executive,
Heads of Service and senior Officers about their views on issues and proposals
affecting the County Borough;

Page 172

e)

Liaise with other external organisations operating in the area to make sure that
working in partnership is in the interests of local people.

3. Challenging decisions made by Cabinet or Portfolio Holders
The Council's constitution allows scrutiny to 'call in' Cabinet decisions. When 'call in'
has been used, Cabinet is not able to implement a decision until the matter has been
considered by the Scrutiny.

4. Reviewing the overall benefit to the public from services provided by the
City Council and other organisations
Scrutiny is able to scrutinise any matter affecting the County Borough or its
residents. To help undertake this important role, it is able to scrutinise services
provided by external organisations as well as those provided by the Council.
Scrutiny can also review the Council's partnership working in relevant areas. They
are able to look at all aspects of a partnership's work including the Council's role,
performance management and monitoring work programmes.
One difference with this external role is that Scrutiny cannot require a representative
from those external organisations to come and give evidence. Rather, it can invite
external people to attend to give evidence.

Page 173

M

Regeneration and Public Protection Scrutiny Committee
Work Programme Descriptors 2018/19
Date / Timing

Overarching Item

Officer & Cabinet
Member

Scrutiny Focus

Scrutiny & Challenge: Scrutiny & Challenge: -

th

5 June 2018

at
AG

(The Work Programme is reviewed at each meeting and as such is subject to change)

en
t

Scrutiny & Challenge: -

ag
re
em

Scrutiny & Challenge: Scrutiny & Challenge: -

th

17 July 2018

Scrutiny & Challenge: Scrutiny & Challenge: -

th

bj
ec
t

to

4 September 2018

th

16 October 2018

es

su

th

27 November 2018

D
at

Page 174

Scrutiny & Challenge: -

15th January 2019

Scrutiny & Challenge: Scrutiny & Challenge: Scrutiny & Challenge: Scrutiny & Challenge: Scrutiny & Challenge: Scrutiny & Challenge: Scrutiny & Challenge: Scrutiny & Challenge: -

As per the WAO scrutiny forward work programmes should: provide a clear rationale for topic selection; be more outcome focussed; ensure that the method of scrutiny is best suited to the topic area and the
outcome desired; align scrutiny programmes with the council’s performance management, self-evaluation and improvement arrangements.

M

Regeneration and Public Protection Scrutiny Committee
Work Programme Descriptors 2018/19
Scrutiny & Challenge: Scrutiny & Challenge: Scrutiny & Challenge: Scrutiny & Challenge: -

en
t

5th March 2019

at
AG

(The Work Programme is reviewed at each meeting and as such is subject to change)

Scrutiny & Challenge: -

ag
re
em

Scrutiny & Challenge: Scrutiny & Challenge: -

16th April 2019

Scrutiny & Challenge: -

to

Date to be
confirmed

bj
ec
t

Date to be
confirmed

es

Date to be
confirmed

su

Date to be
confirmed

D
at

Page 175

Additional items to consider for Work

As per the WAO scrutiny forward work programmes should: provide a clear rationale for topic selection; be more outcome focussed; ensure that the method of scrutiny is best suited to the topic area and the
outcome desired; align scrutiny programmes with the council’s performance management, self-evaluation and improvement arrangements.

This page is intentionally left blank

